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Greentown China Holdings Limited is a leading quality property developer and integrated living service
provider in China. It maintains a leadership position in the industry by virtue of the quality of its properties,
its unique architectural aesthetics and customer centric services. The Company has been awarded the “Top10
among 100 Chinese Real Estate Enterprises by Comprehensive Strength” for 18 consecutive years and named
No.1 in customer satisfaction in the country for 11 consecutive years as well as recognized as “Product Strength
First” by various mainstream organizations in the industry. It has also received such honors as “Enterprise with

Social Responsibility” for many years.
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Greentown China Holdings Limited was founded in Hangzhou, China in January
1995, and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in July 2006. Wharf and CCCG
were introduced as substantial shareholders successively. As at the date of this
report, CCCG, Greentown China’s single largest shareholder, was interested in
approximately 28.34% of the total issued share capital of the Company.

Throughout 27 years of development, the Company has adhered to the
development strategy of “quality first” and developed the upstream and
downstream of the real estate business to form three major segments,
namely asset-heavy, asset-light and “Greentown+". The asset-heavy segment
focuses on the real estate development business, and the asset-light segment
strengthens the project management business, while the “Greentown+" segment
provides strong support for both the asset-heavy and asset-light segments by
strengthening the industry integration of the upstream and extending the scope
of services of the downstream. In 2021, various operating indicators of the
Company hit record highs: contracted sales amount of RMB350.9 billion ranked
7th in the industry, representing a year-on-year growth of 21%; the newly-added
saleable value amounted to about RMB313.7 billion and comprehensive financing
cost continued to reduce, laying a solid foundation for the Company’s sustainable
development.
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Being a professional developer of premium properties in China, Greentown China
has always insisted on innovation and continued to explore the relationship
between humans and their living space. Through creating aesthetically pleasing
architecture, Greentown China is committed to building a better life for more
people. Based in Zhejiang, the Company focuses its attention on the top five
core city clusters and important city hubs as well as cultivating footprints in
first- and second-tier cities and high quality third- and fourth-tier cities. On the
basis of traditional development business, Greentown China has vigorously
developed featured real estate businesses including town projects, TOD projects
and urban renewal projects, etc. Leveraging on its rich land bank, high-calibre
human resources and highly effective management structure, Greentown China
has established an outstanding brand image in all the cities it operates. The rich
experience Greentown has accumulated in developing numerous high-quality
projects together with its outstanding operational capabilities has served to
provide strong momentum for its future development.

Project management business commenced in September 2010. In July 2020,
Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited was officially spun off from
the Company and listed separately on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 09979), which has helped consolidate its leading position in the
project management business, while accelerating the business model innovation
and scale growth of the Company’s asset-light segment.

The Company's “Strategic 2025" plan is clear, aiming at building the “quality
benchmark among the Top10” and developing the strategic pivot points of
"best understanding of customers and best understanding of products”, while
focusing on nine major real estate-related businesses. The Company balanced
the importance of institutional innovation and new business expansion while
maintaining the core business and strives to realise the development of high
quality in all aspects in the coming years.

Looking ahead, the Company will continue to adhere to the innovation
and practice of mixed ownership and maintain its dedication to sincerity,
meticulousness of strategies and excellence of operation, so as to build the No. 1
brand of “integrated service provider for an ideal life” in China.
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr ZHANG Yadong (Chairman of the Board)
Mr GUO Jiafeng

Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021)
Mr GENG Zhonggiang

Mr LI'Jun

Ms HONG Lei (Appointed on 22 March 2021)

Non-Executive Director
Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG (Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW as his alternate)
Mr WU Yiwen

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr JIA Shenghua

Mr HUI Wan Fai

Mr QIU Dong

Mr ZHU Yuchen
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Audit Committee

Mr HUI Wan Fai (Chairman)
Mr JIA Shenghua

Mr QIU Dong

Mr ZHU Yuchen

Nomination Committee

Mr ZHU Yuchen (Chairman)

Mr ZHANG Yadong

Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021)
Mr JIA Shenghua

Mr HUI Wan Fai

Mr QIU Dong

Remuneration Committee

Mr JIA Shenghua (Chairman)

Mr ZHANG Yadong

Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021)
Mr HUI Wan Fai

Mr QIU Dong

Mr ZHU Yuchen

Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

(Established on 24 August 2021)
Mr ZHANG Yadong (Chairman)

Mr GUO Jiafeng

Mr JIA Shenghua

Mr QIU Dong
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Maples Corporate Services Limited
PO Box 309, Ugland House

South Church Street, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands
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Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

Secretary of the Board
Mr SHANG Shuchen

Joint Company Secretaries

Ms XU Ying
Ms NG Sau Mei

Authorized Representatives

Mr ZHANG Yadong
Ms XU Ying

Registered Office

Maples Corporate Services Limited
PO Box 309, Ugland House

South Church Street, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Share Registrar in Hong Kong

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Share Registrar in Cayman Islands

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands
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Auditor
Ernst & Young

Legal Advisors

As to Hong Kong law:
Allen & Overy

As to the PRC law:
Zhejiang T&C Law Firm

As to Cayman Islands law and British Virgin Islands law:

Maples and Calder

Principal Bankers

Bank of China Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Agricultural Bank of China Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corp., Ltd.

The Hong Kong And Shanghai Banking Corp., Ltd.
China CITIC Bank Corp., Ltd.

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

China Everbright Bank Corp., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Hangzhou Headquarters

10/F, Block A, Century Plaza
No.1 Hangda Road
Hangzhou, Zhejiang

PRC

(Postal code: 310007)
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BHE : ir@chinagreentown.com
TEE ¢ (852) 2523 3138
{—r/ 1 : (852) 2523 6608
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e AR RRAR

B3 : greentown@nhkstrategies.com

: (852) 2894 6321
fEH : (852) 2576 3551

AP : 03900

HE

www.chinagreentown.com
www.greentownchina.com

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Room 1406-1408, 14/F
New World Tower 1

16-18 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

Investor Relations

Email:  ir@chinagreentown.com
Tel: (852) 2523 3138
Fax: (852) 2523 6608

Public Relations

Hill + Knowlton Strategies Asia

Email:  greentown@hkstrategies.com
Tel: (852) 2894 6321

Fax: (852) 2576 3551

Stock Code
HKEX: 03900

Websites

Www.chinagreentown.com
www.greentownchina.com
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In 2021, faced with the severe challenges of an economic downturn, impact of the pandemic, strengthened
regulatory measures, market freeze, and drastic changes in the industry, Greentown China showed a positive
momentum of growth that went against the trend: it won more than 100 domestic and international design
and construction awards with product strength remaining No. 1 in the industry; it achieved contracted sales of
RMB350.9 billion throughout the Year, representing a year-on-year increase of 21%, and ranked first among the
Top10 real estate enterprises in terms of growth rate; it was awarded the “Chinese Real Estate Leading Brands by
Customer Satisfaction” for 10 consecutive years. In the 2021 Residential Satisfaction Survey, Greentown ranked first
in satisfaction across 14 cities and first in loyalty across 9 cities.
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These firsts reflect the highlights of Greentown China’s operating performance in
2021. Underlying the sterling performance are some favorable changes we have
also witnessed this Year in Greentown.

First, clearer strategies. During the Year, while gaining a foothold at the
current business situation, we focused on solving long-term, fundamental and
directional issues. We have updated our development strategy in real time
according to the actual situation. With a clearer vision of transformational
development, an unwavering determination to achieve steady development and
a clearer path for leapfrog development, we have gotten off to a good start in the
first year of the implementation of “Strategic 2025" plan.

Second, more robust systems. During the Year, we strengthened
standardization, and continuously optimized a series of systems such as the
investment decision-making mechanism. The operation of the grand operating
system is more efficient with new breakthroughs in streamlined management.
The win-win mechanism is iteratively upgraded. The combination of short-term
incentives and medium- and long-term incentives effectively stimulates the
enthusiasm of the management and motivates employees at all levels. We have
optimized organizational structure, streamlined administration and delegated
power, and reengineered processes for more explicit responsibilities, flatter
management, and more efficient decision-making.

Third, a more stable development. During the Year, we were able to
effectively respond to changes in the industry. The sales scale grew upending
the trend in the industry and notched up one rank from 8th in 2020 to 7th. The
newly-added value ranked 4th in the industry, of which over 70% saleable value
was concentrated in first- and second-tier cities with relatively higher safety rate
of investment return. The debt structure has continued to be optimized, and
financing costs remained low in the industry. With stable growth in business
performance, sustainable development capabilities have been continuously
improved.
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Fourth, a more refined layout. During the Year, focusing on the principal
real estate business, we were committed to creating the second growth curve.
Living service, elderly care service, commercial service and other services
were continuously upgraded. Industrial finance, urban renewal, scientific &
technological decoration and other businesses were rapidly promoted. We have
gained a good start for strategic transformation, accelerating the transformation
from “building houses” to “building lives”. In terms of geographical layout, we
have insisted on maintaining the key strategic region of Zhejiang, and expanded
the five major urban agglomerations, namely Yangtze River Delta, Greater Bay
Area, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, Middle Reaches of the Yangtze River, and Chengdu-
Chongging, and landed projects in important city hubs, giving prominence to key
cities with huge potential in the national layout.

Fifth, more consolidated advantages. During the Year, we constantly stepped
up efforts in customer-centric product innovation to meet customers’ needs,
enabling our product quality to rank 1st in the industry and helping us harvest a
number of international awards for product design and construction; we have
continuously led in customer satisfaction and loyalty in the industry, resulting
in a much more prominent brand value. Our project management business has
maintained a leading position in the industry, and we have innovated the service
model of capital owner project management, an achievement recognized by the
capital market.

Sixth, a more capable team. During the Year, we continuously strengthened
internal staff training and externally engaged new talents, attracting elites in
the industry to join Greentown. We have emphasized the building of team
spirit, effectively improving employees’ ability to learn, execute and to combat
as a team. We have introduced a rigorous evaluation mechanism, creating an
entrepreneurial atmosphere of “promoting employees of excellence, replacing
average staff and laying off underperformers”. Under this mechanism and work
climate, all of our employees have demonstrated a dynamic spirit, been able
to work hard and overcome challenges, whose dedication and commitment
remained high in the industry.
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These pleasant changes were supported by shareholders, recognized by
investors and preferred by property owners. We believe that, with the continuing
differentiation of the market, enterprises, products and resources, the industry
restructuring will intensify and the level of concentration will further increase,
thus we must have a sound operation and strive to achieve sustainable
development.

In 2022, we will continue to refine our work and uphold the values of “sincerity,
kindness, exquisiteness, perfection”. On the one hand, based upon the “Six
Qualities” in concert with the “Seven Tunes”, we will insist on the product-
oriented concept and enhance the level of service capability; on the other,
leveraging on two pivot points of “best understanding of customers and best
understanding of products” in the “Strategic 2025" plan, Greentown will upgrade
the quality of its product in every aspect to facilitate balanced development of
“high quality in all aspects”.

Enhancing organizational quality: continuously push forward the
organizational restructuring and delegate much more authority to the subsidiaries
for the purpose of making quick and flexible market decisions; continuously
strengthen internal management to create a service-, guidance- and control-
oriented headquarters while empowering the subsidiaries to incubate and
develop subsidiaries into entities with independent operational and marketing
capabilities in order to achieve the goal of “quality platform in headquarters and
sub-Greentown in regions”.

Enhancing team quality: continuously strengthen the internal staff training
and engage external new talents, including innovating the model of recruitment
and introduction, methods of cultivation and motivation mechanism, as well
as optimizing talent structure and stimulating staff potentials for the needs of
industry development; focus on the selection, employment, development and
management of cadres, facilitate the growth and independence of young cadres,
S0 as to nurture a number of competent, high-potential, insightful cadres, and
establish a talented team with operation, management and problem-solving
skills.
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Enhancing product quality: always put quality in the first place, insist on the
bottom line of quality, and strive to become the “quality benchmark among
the Top10”; stress the front end innovation of product to attain the goal of
“innovation in one year, implementation in two years and duplication in three
years”; strengthen the control of product creation to build a Green-style product
management system; insist on the product philosophy of “customer-centric,
market-oriented” to ensure the core competitiveness of product at all times.

Enhancing service quality: deem the promotion of customers’ satisfaction as
where the work begin and end, creating a customer survey system to understand
the needs of customers thoroughly; establish the grand customer service
system to integrate services such as marketing, product, delivery, repair and
maintenance, property; create a customers’ relationship management system
to comprehensively improve the capabilities of product design, engineering
construction and customer service.

Enhancing operation quality: for investment, concentrate on in-depth
cultivation and place quality before quantity to further enlarge the market
share in tier-one and two cities; for marketing, attach greater importance to
customer survey for precise contacts, ensuring the “first position in customers’
satisfaction”; for finance, increase revenue and profit through sound operation
to further promote continuous positive growth for all financial indicators; for
operation, create synergy and efficiency through lean management to further
elevate the operation efficiency; for diversified businesses, conduct operation
inspection, to select the superior and eliminate the inferior, accelerating the
formation of the second growth curve.

Enhancing management quality: build up the Company’s own advantages,
overcome the weakness and uplift the capability to create value through
management; improve the allocation of work and personnel, deepen the control
and raise the efficiency, and strengthen the cost control and risks management;
further seek the efficiency from the management, look for return from the
organization and achieve effectiveness from the innovation.

We trust in time, the future and the long-termism. Greentown will adhere to the
original impetus, progress steadily for long-term growth and strive to become an
“outstanding student with special expertise and all-round development”!
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Five Years Financial Summary

hEMBHE

Consolidated Results
GEE S

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREETFTT AREET T AREETF T ARETFTT AREFTT
Revenue WA 41,952,752 60,302,510 61,592,939 65,782,531 100,240,064
Cost of sales SHERA (33,877,152) (46,550,157) (45,952,531) (50,209,631) 82,071,584
Gross profit E7 8,075,600 138525358 15,640,408 15,572,900 18,168,480
Other income and gains H A YA R Wiz 4,874,973 3,187,791 2,809,001 3,192,096 3,810,126
Expenses 53 (7,109,461) (9,536,269) (9,423,225) (8,709,202) (10,906,057)
Share of results of joint ventures PMEEEEER
and associates YNG4 549,656 500,097 926,942 697,734 1,482,753
Profit before taxation FR A5 A A1 6,390,768 7,903,972 9,953,126 10,753,528 12,555,302
Taxation 18 (3,719,803) (5,528,742) (6,017,704) (4,990,647) (4,868,272)
Profit for the year AREFE 2,670,965 2,375,230 3,935,422 5,762,881 7,687,030
Profit attributable to: FEAEFIH
Owners of the Company /NG 2,189,598 1,003,285 2,480,232 3,796,477 4,469,175
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR AR ER 481,367 1,371,945 1,455,190 1,966,404 3,217,855
2,670,965 2,375,230 3,935,422 5,762,881 7,687,030
Consolidated Assets and Liabilities
EHEENER
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFIT AREFIT AREBFIT AR¥T T
Total assets BERE 235,828,246 279,762,744 337,092,118 414,281,848 521,043,625
Total liabilities BfERE 189,033,807 219,643,904 267,936,646 329,691,775 413,397,775
Total equity W AEER 46,794,439 60,118,840 69,155,472 84,590,073 107,645,850
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Greentown in
##% A China

Daqing X

Beijing 1t
Tianjin 3&)*? o) ‘ Dalian K&
Shijiazhuang 7 x5 \.U _ _YantaiZ&
<7 QingdaoE 8
Jinan &®
Zhengzhou R
Xi'anf % Kalfeng B2
aifeng I
Nanjing g5 Wuxi &5
. %Nantongﬁiﬁ
) ey % shanghai L&
Chengdu i #8 5 Suzhou %
Wuhan ®E
Chongging 8
Zhejiang }#7;T
Changsha &%
Fuzhou &M
Kunming 285
Guangzhou &M
Vavas =477
2 EEME fa A
/%/E\i_% E H 3\@. Foshan 1L
-+ \
\[/ \|/
5,881 & FHOK
58.81 million sgm O"’“
=35 Region 15 B E = EEmE
No. of 1 EE(%)
Projects Percentage
of GFA (%)
R=AESE Yangtze River Delta Area 146 52% Ove""s €cas % ;{-
R8I Bohai Rim Area 48 18%
ANEE Greater Bay Area 7 3%
FTAifEE,  The Middle Reaches of the 14 7%
Yangtze River Area seattle, USA ‘
A 15 Chengdu-Chongging Area 11 3% -~ XE - ERE >, Jakarta, Indonesia
mEHAME  Other Areas in China 27 16% ol i Eife - HEmiE
SR Overseas 3 1% mEX - SEMT 75
st Total 256 100%

et :  BUREDHE BT REERHIE DM o

Note:  Above map indicates only major geographical distribution of land bank.
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B H/HET HEEMEE(FFK) i A EERCERK )
Saleable aboveground
Region Province/City Total GFA (sqm) area (sqm)
AT (BRATAM) 15,654,408 9,998,347
Zhejiang (Excluding Hangzhou)
E-AESE M Hangzhou 4,906,815 2,931,651
Yangtze River Delta Area L%k Jiangsu 8,165,680 5,967,293
Z# Anhui 996,008 693,193
£ Shanghai 592,282 337,965
1L Shandong 3,563,185 2,426,584
B E & Liaoning 2,608,148 2,033,855
Bohai Rim Area %32 Tianjin 2,117,315 1,422,185
it 3 Beijing 2,063,989 1,062,581
a4t Hebei 253,300 168,946
KEE
Greater Bay Area &R Guangdong 1,856,068 1,375,231
EIhEEE 4t Hubei 2,169,143 1,567,946
The Middle Reaches of the # Hunan 1,083,349 887,555
Yangtze River Area ST Jiangxi 635,057 458,353
BRI @ mJI| Sichuan 1,457,611 1,081,281
Chengdu-Chongging Area & Chongging 430,217 299,811
BE#E Shaanxi 4,688,232 3,109,076
158 Xinjiang 1,167,521 909,092
25T Heilongjiang 1,071,818 837,700
ElA A AR Henan 912,240 465,181
Other Areas in China ! ' '
¥ Hainan 670,271 387,761
&3 Fujian 527,974 365,895
ZER’ Yunnan 386,630 283,492
f‘fl\rseas &b Overseas 830,734 726,244
#st Total 58,807,995 39,797,218

Wizt : fREmEERN T IEEEeHERIAAERMEHNE Note:  The figures of total GFA and saleable aboveground area are subject to adjustments due to
2 MEREBTFIATE B oK IR BRI B R -

planning changes. The relevant figures will only be finalized after project completion.
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L= 3% Vangtze River Delta Area

M Hangzhiou

TiEE BEER
BB £ LY 3 it Em  (FAK)  (BHEXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 FUNERRS mEFE 80% 138,558 566,060
Hangzhou Laurel Oriental High-Rise Apartment
2 mMHL Wire 8 45% 22,566 244,381
Hangzhou Center Urban Complex
3 MMBRIRNE =EREE  ZERE  FIE 85% 28,848 10,006
Hangzhou Arcadia Town High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
4 FUNEEREEEE =EAE - FIE 83.8% 30,580 115,845
Hangzhou Guiyu Tinglan High-Rise Apartment, Villa
5 MMEREE =SEEE  ZEEE 49.7% 64,470 192,940
Hangzhou Oriental Dawn High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
6  TNBEIRANEE [EES 50.8% 17,382 34,466
Hangzhou Longwu Tea Village Commercial
7 tNEREYD mEEE 99.9% 61,284 243,628
Hangzhou Lakeside Mansion High-Rise Apartment
8  MUNERMEE =EFE 48.6% 43,361 140,043
Hangzhou Chunlai Fenghua High-Rise Apartment
9 MUNAEEERA SEFE  ZEFE 50% 49,995 146,550
Hangzhou Guiyu Yingyue High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
10 MMNERA [EES 24% 33,410 94,167
Hangzhou Yunlangu commercial
11 FINEHE ZEE=E 69.3% 42,610 98,236
Hangzhou Mingchun Garden Low-Rise Apartment
12 FUNIAISER =EEE 38.6% 44,136 186,229
Hangzhou Jianghe Mingculi High-Rise Apartment
13 WUMNEE A B E RIEE 51% 66,552 128,151
Hangzhou Xiaoyue Chenglu Villa
14 HUNHEE & EES 99% 10,339 26,828
Hangzhou Yalu Mingzhu commercial
15 FUINERHERE BEFE 33% 53,756 163,388
Hangzhou Chunlai Yating High-Rise Apartment
16 FNEEEER A =EEE 70% 41,829 149,510
Hangzhou Chaoting Mingyue High-Rise Apartment
17 MMIAER A =EEE 70% 22,738 68,612

Gk

Note:

Hangzhou Muchun Mingyue

VAL  AERXEETRTE

High-Rise Apartment

In type of properties, office is included into commercial
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THEE BREER

BE £ YEER Em  (FARXK)  (FHEXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
18 MMI EEE BEEE 52.5% 31,462 105,783
Hangzhou Jiangshang Zhenyuan High-Rise Apartment
19 HU IR E SIS 50% 43,864 159,904
Hangzhou Jiangpan Jinyuan High-Rise Apartment
20 MM ERE ZEFE - 58 55.3% 49,436 115,223
Hangzhou Yungi Yanlu Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
21 NS EER, SiEE=S 99.4% 31,515 114,939
Hangzhou Hushang Chunfeng High-Rise Apartment
22 MM ILOREEEEE mEEE 54.8% 45,154 146,834
Hangzhou Shanlan Guiyu High-Rise Apartment
23 MMT EEEREFT A SiEE=S 50.9% 59,725 210,007
Hangzhou Jiangshang Guiyu Xinyue High-Rise Apartment
24 FUNBKARTEB BEEE 100% 81,688 298,466
Hangzhou Yonghe City High-Rise Apartment
25 MMNEBIRFE [EES 80% 9,096 55,094
Hangzhou Wangjiang Office commercial
26 FUINBRZHE =EFEE - FIE 49.6% 85,868 230,580
Hangzhou Spring Lake High-Rise Apartment, Villa
27 FNEREER ol =<4 18% 50,315 124,197
Hangzhou Spring Blossom Villa
28 W& e S E =EFE - FIE 100% 24,662 70,280
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Hupan High-Rise Apartment, Villa
Chenglu
29 N AMEEE =EEE 34% 85,694 308,060
Hangzhou Yueying Xingyuyuan High-Rise Apartment
30 WS SEEE 83.8% 35,131 121,944
Hangzhou Qinguixuan High-Rise Apartment
31 MMEIEEEFEET =EFE 100% 45,277 154,729
FG08-R21-C18(2)1h 58
Hangzhou Binjiang District Xianggifang  High-Rise Apartment
Unit Block FG08-R21-C18 (2)
32 MMEBRLEBNRETTH-R21-01M% SEEE 49.6% 22,847 81,741

Hangzhou Lin'an District Binhu

New Area Block H-R21-01
/N&t Subtotal

High-Rise Apartment

1,474,148 4,906,815

021

120z Hoday [enuuy

L& b



/R iRy

Property Portfolio

L Zhejiang

TEE BEEE
HE AW LYE ki) g (FRK) (FEK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sgqm)
1 ERFS 4R 88 49.6% 7,872 239,716
Ningbo Center Urban Complex
2 ERER[E [EES 51% 6,982 14,391
Ningbo Shuangdonghui Commercial
3 ERBERDA =EEE 45.4% 50,344 173,839
Ningbo Xiaofeng Yinyue High-Rise Apartment
4 ERIKEEER SEET  ZEEX 51% 31,137 80,348
Ningbo Yonglan City High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
5 ZRFIER =EXE  ZEEX 51% 27,501 95,891
Ningbo Fangfei City High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
6 EREFERIHE =EEE 60% 66,094 210,417
022 Ningbo Chunyue Jianglan High-Rise Apartment
7 EREASYD SEET  BE 50.7% 28,878 82,516
Ningbo Chunyue Jinsha High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
8 ERERE =EEE 51% 40,284 126,440
Ningbo Chunxi Chaoming High-Rise Apartment
9 EREREE =EXE 51% 72,955 218,532
Ningbo Oriental Dawn High-Rise Apartment
10 EREHER aEExE 50.8% 26,923 84,269
Ningbo Chunyue Yunjin High-Rise Apartment
1M ERSFTREEEIR ¥ BERAE TEKE 60% 198,480 428,433
% Ningbo High-tech District Intelligent Commercial, Serviced Apartment,
2 Manufacturing Harbour Block Industrial Factory
5 12 EREMHIER SEEE - BIE 51% 187,210 242,572
g Ningbo Yungi Peach Garden Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
z 13 ERtmEEESEP O [EES 51% 24,528 73,588
0% Ningbo Beilun Phoenix Finance Center Commercial
5 14 FREDEN BEEE 51% 107,459 304,830
g Ningbo Chunyu Yunshu High-Rise Apartment
15 EREER AR =EXE  ZET=E 51% 53,173 125,543
Ningbo Chunxi Yueming High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
16 EREREH =EXE  ZEEX 51% 101,111 280,963

(27 ] 5 S48 b 1 kY

Ningbo Chunlai Yunchao

High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
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THEE EEEE
HE &R L %kid) Em (FARK) (FEFRK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sgqm) (sgm)
17 ERERER mEAE  mE 51% 34,934 110,656
Ningbo Chunxi Yunjing High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
18 ERAENIRR SEFE B 69.4% 65,232 216,880
Ningbo Binhe Mingcui High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
19 ERAEMLA =EEE 51% 42,895 158,327
Ningbo Binhe Qinyue High-Rise Apartment
20 ERmILARRAE =EEE 55% 116,413 508,801
Ningbo Tongshan Future Community — High-Rise Apartment
21 EREREAK =EEE 51% 35,612 111,784
Ningbo Jinshang Yueming High-Rise Apartment
22 EREHEH =EEE 75% 49,385 175,398
Ningbo Fengyue Yinhu High-Rise Apartment
23 ERFEILR =EXE 70.6% 33,796 107,885
Ningbo Xingui Qinlan High-Rise Apartment
24 EREFEXOR =mEEE 51% 17,584 58,828
Ningbo Chunyu Wenlan High-Rise Apartment
25 EREEMES =EEE 67.3% 126,165 393,577
Ningbo Fengli Heming High-Rise Apartment
26 ERATEHIGIAER - B85 BEEE 85.3%/94.9% 74,629 244,370
Ningbo Guiyu Chaoyang High-Rise Apartment
(Chaohua City, Xuyang City)
27 RkERERE =EEE 47.5% 84,986 232,256
Yuyao Chunlan Jingyuan High-Rise Apartment
28 FREkERZE =EXTE  ZEEx - 5IE 59.5% 86,035 219,149
Yuyao Fengming Yunlu High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise
Apartment, Villa
29 RIWEELRE ZEEE 85% 40,252 85,189
Xiangshan Osmanthus Grace Low-Rise Apartment
30 RILUBDERIEE BIE -~ A& 100% 76,486 95,122
Xiangshan Baishawan Rose Garden Hotel, Apartment
31 BERTHER =EFE 100% 15,694 41,232
Cixi Tinglan Mingcui High-Rise Apartment
32 RMEWES (e ) WG 100% 78,218 373,098

Wenzhou Lucheng Plaza

Commercial, Serviced Apartment
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TEE BEEE
HE AW LY E ki) #Em  (FEREXK)  (FAXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sgqm)
33 BMBRER =EXE 37% 101,233 513,526
Wenzhou Fenggi Yuming High-Rise Apartment
34 SRINERETRE =EEE 30.1% 63,790 257,981
Wenzhou Osmanthus Grace High-Rise Apartment
35 SRIMMFRIIE =EEE 80.2% 27,669 90,888
Wenzhou Chunyue Jianglan High-Rise Apartment
36 mEHE BEET 99% 27,430 95,269
Rui'an Orchid Garden High-Rise Apartment
37 EBEWES SEFE  B% 90% 40,412 249,947
Zhuji Greentown Plaza High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
38 URMEEN/ R RIEE H)E - R 32.5% 309,651 376,318
Shengzhou Opera Town Villa, Hotel, Commercial
39 ALURES et 96.9% 325,212 739,020
Zhoushan Changzhi Island Integrated Community
40 FHLZEA =ERFE 100% 32,429 103,828
Zhoushan Lingbo Qiuyue High-Rise Apartment
4 FHLERER =EEE 80% 81,048 289,976
Zhoushan Oriental Dawn High-Rise Apartment
42 AaMEIRA FaitE 51% 277,476 818,576
Taizhou Ningjiang Mingyue Integrated Community
43 BRBEEIE =EEE 85.1% 26,377 71,734
Linhai Osmanthus Grace High-Rise Apartment
44 SREVHEE =REEE 30.9% 44,734 164,254
Wenling Joy Garden High-Rise Apartment
45 ZHEEANE ZEET  RIE 20% 52,550 95,804
Jiaxing Fenghe Jiuli Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
46 MR EIE R =ERFE 60% 43,727 121,002
Tongxiang Fenggi Chunlan High-Rise Apartment
47 BEERNE RIIEE 20% 172,380 319,382
Haiyan Chunfeng Ruyi Villa
48 SEFERAA =EExE 57.5% 54,047 157,609

Jinhua Chunxi Mingyue

High-Rise Apartment
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THEE EEEE
HE &R L %kid) Em (FARK) (FEFRK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sgqm) (sgm)
49 SEZLRE [GES 70% 35,398 63,716
Jinhua Wangshan Yinlu Commercial
50 SERHEE =mEEE 55.9% 25,290 72,422
Jinhua Cuihu Xiaoyuan High-Rise Apartment
51 @FENLE =BEEE 55.9% 27,993 79,757
Jinhua Qinyuan High-Rise Apartment
52 EREBREE BETE 25.8% 139,972 527,983
Yiwu Wanjia Fenghua High-Rise Apartment
53 ESBEEEA =EEE 43.8% 22,437 108,198
Yiwu Xiaofeng Yinyue High-Rise Apartment
54 HEBEEREE =EEE 49% 132,313 303,747
Yongkang Guiyu Lanting High-Rise Apartment
55 KERATREEEM =EEE 47.6% 49,945 195,370
Yongkang Guiyu Tinglan High-Rise Apartment
56 KERHEEEX =EXE 47 6% 48,333 182,410
Yongkang Guiyu Yunxi High-Rise Apartment
57 XEVIFBE =EFE 41.7% 40,957 167,294
Yongkang Willow Breeze High-Rise Apartment
58 RE/KITEERERE =ETE 51.8% 89,817 255,600
Lishui Guiyu Lanting High-Rise Apartment
59 BMNBERKEE =EFE 56.3% 200,492 618,340
Quzhou Lixian Future Community High-Rise Apartment
60 #MEREE =EEE - FIE 29.8% 63,370 126,459
Quzhou Fenggi Yunlu High-Rise Apartment, Villa
61 BINFRTIL/NE R 33.1% 330,558 267,551
Quzhou Chunfeng Jiangshan Town Villa
62 ENESRRAE =EXE  ZEXx mF 35.8% 145,149 418,729
Quzhou Luming Future Community High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise
Apartment, Commercial
63 EMBE BEXE  ZEEFE 42.7% 63,510 144,938
Quzhou Orchid Garden High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
64 BRI ER =EFE 85.1% 38,103 101,164
Deging Fenggi Chunlan High-Rise Apartment
65 EFRNHIR ZEET - AlIE 85% 48,828 108,612

Deqing Fengqi Taoyuan

Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
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TEE BEEE
HE AW LY E ki) Em (FRK)  (FEFEK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sgqm)
66 EETRHE =EEE - FIZE 34.8% 100,029 236,253
Deqing Gongda Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment, Villa
67 EERE =SEEE  ZEEE 44.1%/43% 80,665 251,400
Deging Chenyuan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
68 1EEBEABE =EXE - AIE 51.3% 51,734 136,120
Deqing Xiaoyue Chenglu High-Rise Apartment, Villa
69 1EEEE =EEE 68.1% 55,180 160,799
Deging Xiaoyuan High-Rise Apartment
70 TEHEKFENE ZEEE  FIZE B 40% 366,681 560,711
Anji Angel Town Low-Rise Apartment, Villa, Commercial
71 REHAEIR ZEEE RIE - -B@xX BE 85% 166,147 186,831
Anji Peach Garden Low-Rise Apartment, Villa, Commercial,
Hotel
/It Subtotal 6,012,313 15,654,408
L & Shanghai
TEE BEEE
HE AW Y E il #Em  (FFEXK)  (FAXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 LEEmE BEFEE - B¥ 51% 25,566 108,870
Shanghai Bund House High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
2 LR BEEE 34.8% 34,400 202,683
Shanghai Pear! City High-Rise Apartment
3 LFEFEERE =ETE 34.6% 32,086 185,045
Shanghai Qinglan International High-Rise Apartment
4  EB3LZER bllE=d 31.4% 37,334 95,684
Shanghai Hong'an Lane Villa
/gt Subtotal 129,386 592,282
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SL# Jiangste

THEE EEEE
HEEH LY 3t Ewm  (FRXK)  (EFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 FRMNYIEEER =EEET  ZEEXE 75% 14,804 43,037
Suzhou Willow Breeze High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
2 ENEURRmIER =EEE 50.6% 62,204 137,804
Suzhou Guanlan Yipin Huayuan High-Rise Apartment
3 #MNBAEA SEEE 48.6% 37,857 130,424
Suzhou Mingyue Binhe High-Rise Apartment
4 EJNEARILIFE =EEE 85.1% 18,040 46,109
Suzhou Mingyue Jiangnan High-Rise Apartment
5 #MBAAERA =EEE 49.8% 42,139 136,679
Suzhou Langyue Binhe High-Rise Apartment
6  ERNRENRE =EEE 19.3% 78,534 226,406
Suzhou Boyin Lanting High-Rise Apartment
7 KE®H LM BEEE 12.8% 55,209 153,253
Taicang Yuhu Shangpin High-Rise Apartment
8 EMRIEBIANNEAIER ZEEE  PIE  BX 58.8% 134,519 235,736
Suzhou Wujiang District Technology  Low-Rise Apartment, Villa, Commercial
and Innovation Town Project
9 FMREWBEELE ZEET  BIE  B% 75.8% 3,446 6,752
Nanjing Yungi Rose Garden Low-Rise Apartment, Villa, Commercial
10 EAREFEM =EEE 16.4% 20,428 77,553
Nanjing Yuncui Mansion High-Rise Apartment
1M FERIREEEB GES 45% 121,227 337,064
Nanjing Yinsha Project commercial
12 EEREEE SEEE  ZEEX  HIE 38.7% 76,017 221,887
Wuxi Chenfeng Yunlu High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
13 HEME =EEE  ZEEX  AIE 39.7% 57,384 135,440
Yixing Hexi High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
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TiEE BEER
BB £ YEE R Em  (FAK)  (BHEXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
14 EHIEEER =EEE 48.9% 22,759 75,264
Wuxi Guiyu Yunjian High-Rise Apartment
15 HINEE 2EEE 29.5% 47,369 128,181
Yangzhou Yunzhu High-Rise Apartment
16 BMNBEEEE ZEE=T  FIZE 48.5% 21,378 39,439
Yangzhou Fengming Yunlu Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
17 BMEZE =EEE  ZEE=E 29.7% 64,691 156,972
Yangzhou Yunculi High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
18 HMEISEE RIEE 32.9% 22,263 39,892
Yangzhou Fengming Chenglu Villa
19 FEREELE =EEE 59.6% 44,090 110,739
Nantong Osmanthus Grace High-Rise Apartment
20 WERAAALE SEFE 68.3% 63,545 182,002
Rudong Mingyue Jiangnan High-Rise Apartment
21 RMERELRA SEEET  ZEEX  HIE - BE EE 50% 1,008,941 2,511,162
Qidong Haishang Mingyue High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa,
Commercial, Hotel
22 BBEANE =EXE - RIE 64.4% 65,068 135,542
Nantong Hujing Helu High-Rise Apartment, Villa
23 FBAE =EEE - A% 60% 41,806 119,127
Nantong Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
24 GLIEETER =EEE 67.4% 39,871 110,977
Hai'an Guiyu Tinglan High-Rise Apartment
25 HINHEE =EEE 78% 73,243 229,973
Xuzhou Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment
26 1RINEA A& =EET 66.3% 25,738 67,763
Xuzhou Mingyue Chunxiao High-Rise Apartment
27 ®INBRRE BEEE 31.5% 34,548 95,560

Xuzhou Cuiping Fenghua

High-Rise Apartment
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TEE EEER
BE £ L/E 3kt Em  (FARXK)  (FHEXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
28 ®MNER—m BEEE 32.6% 60,126 178,623
Xuzhou Kunlun Yipin High-Rise Apartment
29 ARINAFNZE L SEEE - ZEEE 32.7% 62,583 189,063
Xuzhou Hezhu Hushan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
30 TEBALEE/ A SEEE - BIE  B/E - BN 44.6% 167,828 226,199
Sugian Liyuanwan Town High-Rise Apartment, Villa, Commercial, School
31 EWEREIIE FIEF - Pyt 53.5% 351,052 951,438
Yancheng Osmanthus Grace Villa, Commercial
32 EEEAEBEEEDA SEEE 100% 57,485 186,394
Yancheng Xiaofeng Yinyue High-Rise Apartment
33 FINEEEEER =EEE 79.3% 79,977 217,754
Taizhou Guiyu Tinglan High-Rise Apartment
34 FNEBEIEKEEFE =EXE - 5IE 38.9% 198,560 325,472

Taizhou Chunxiao Jiangnan &
Spring Blossom

/&t Subtotal

High-Rise Apartment, Villa

3,274,729 8,165,680
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21 Anbiui

THEE BEEE
HE £ L) 3.t #EE  (FAXK) (FAXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 BEHE SEEE  ZEE=E 49.5% 42,180 123,174
Hefei Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
2 AERE =EXT  ZEEX 48.3% 102,065 323,642
Hefei Orchid Garden High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
3 AEH%FEER pall =4 49.2% 101,467 174,637
Hefei Spring Blossom Villa
4 AREENE 2EREE - ZEEE 34% 96,474 238,676
Hefei Xinglanwan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
5 BRILUBAE ZEEE BE 38.5% 103,793 135,879
Ma'anshan Taoran Lane Low-Rise Apartment, Commercial
/&t Subtotal 445,979 996,008

3Z 50 (% 33 Bohai Rim Area

THER BEER
HE AR Y bt #m (FAK)  (FEREK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
ERAEFER =EEE  ZEEE 33.5% 146,667 474,578
Beijing Xifu Haitang High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
EFOLE BEEE BERRE 69.9% 85,059 352,194
Beijing Qinyuan High-Rise Apartment, Serviced Apartment
bR A R E BEEE 49.8% 78,681 273,654
Beijing Hejin Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment
I RBHRSHE ZEREE 15.6% 52,686 158,997
Beijing Xuefu Garden One Low-Rise Apartment
LA A B =EEE - ZEXE 68.9% 27,526 73,137
Beijing Mingyue Tinglan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
IEREXNT BEEE 25% 21,023 105,453

Beijing Jinmao Palace

High-Rise Apartment



/K iRy

Property Portfolio

THEE BEEDE
HE AR YEER EE  (FAFXK)  (FFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
7 dtREE ZEE=E 100% 241,247 229,445
Beijing Yuyuan Low-Rise Apartment
8 JLREEHA BEEE  ZEEE 42.3% 68,009 283,443
Beijing Aohai Mingyue High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
9 RBEMSEMA ZEE=E 39.9% 44,507 113,088
Beijing Yihe Jinmao Palace Low-Rise Apartment
10 RRBEENRS =EXTE  ZEEX 96% 18,607 74,619
Tianjin Fenggi Yueming High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
1N REKEZRE ZEEE  AIE 82.1% 199,014 442,401
Tianjin Shuixi Yunlu Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
12 REEFE/KFEEFTHILE ZERET - RIE 89.1% 131,443 233,083
Tianjin Xiging District Shuixi Block EFT Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
13 REHE SEET  ZEET B% 41%/40.7% 52,396 244,771
Tianjin Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment,
Commercial
14 REWFEEE =EXEE - ZEEE 100% 65,545 156,149
Tianjin Willow Breeze High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
15 RBEBERN SEEE 80.6% 61,809 174,117
Tianjin Guiyu Tinglan High-Rise Apartment
16 RFEHEEHRA =EXE  ZEEE 49% 90,036 357,872
Tianjin Guiyu Yingyue High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
17 REEZEHS =EEE 100% 45,401 166,473
Tianjin Guiyu Chaoyang High-Rise Apartment
18 REPkFFER =EET - AIE 100% 253,402 267,830
Tianjin Spring Blossom High-Rise Apartment, Villa
19 ErIAA AR BEEE - ZEE=E - FIE 100% 44,676 93,602
Jinan Mingyue Fenghe High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
20 AEmAE =EEE 100% 20,846 71,692

Jinan Sincere Garden

High-Rise Apartment
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THEE BEER
HE AW L/ Ectidl #Em (FAK) (FERK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
21 BrAEHRE =EEE 45% 70,233 244,923
Jinan Chunyue Jinlu High-Rise Apartment
22 BrEEXEER SEAE ZEAE 44.8% 177,265 599,513
Jinan Oriental Dawn High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
23 EmtEEEG BEFE 48.9% 85,025 225,015
Jinan Guiyu Chaoyang High-Rise Apartment
24 ERIFTERILIER RIEE 50% 64,214 148,579
Jinan New East Station Project Villa
25 FHEMItEP AL ERRIE B =EFE 50% 53,405 259,917
Qingdao Shibei District Zhongneng High-Rise Apartment
Paper Factory Project
26 BEXHBE SEEE - ZEEE 51% 30,824 106,070
Qingdao Wenlan Jinyuan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
27 EEMBER =EFE 30% 15,715 74,289
Qingdao Hejin Yuyuan High-Rise Apartment
28 BEMBAE BEFE 98.4% 13,925 61,178
Qingdao Hejin Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment
29 BEEEBHE SEFE 39.3% 29,998 149,967
Qingdao Guiyu Chaoyang High-Rise Apartment
30 BEAREHRL [SESRE WA 40% 22,701 230,308
Qingdao Deep Blue Center Commercial, Serviced Apartment
31 EB8EBEZH SEEE  ZEEXE  FIE 80% 107,113 297,752
Qingdao Ideal City High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
R EEFRREER ZEFE 100% 38,650 73,798
Yantai Chunxi Haitang Low-Rise Apartment
33 EAHE BEEE 98.1% 104,523 281,581
Yantai Orchid Garden High-Rise Apartment
34 EERN_H SEEE 24.7% 38,187 95,024

Jining Tianyue Phase 2

High-Rise Apartment



/K iRy

Property Portfolio

THEE BEEDE
HE AR YEER EE  (FAFXK)  (FFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
35 BERNE =EXE - FIZE 24.9% 66,729 155,419
Jining Tianyue Community High-Rise Apartment, Villa
36 BEHHEZE bl =4 453% 214,050 394,558
Jining Hupan Yunlu Villa
37 EETHREBMEFNEIRE =EEE - AlIE 35% 250,837 436,290
Shenyang Yuhong District Beautiful ~ High-Rise Apartment, Villa
Island and Xinhu Bay Projects
38 JEGREAIEAT =EXTE  ZEEXE 30% 74,361 200,836
Shenyang Longfor Tanggian High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
39 JESEIEN rEtE 50% 110,465 225,593
Shenyang National Games Village Integrated Community
40 FEGILACFRAIMR S AIE B =EEE  ZEEX  HIE 35% 268,161 512,499
Shenyang Shenbei New District High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
Xianlin Golden Valley Project
M RNELE =EXE  ZEXXE 49% 28,528 100,408
Dalian Qinyuan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
42 KiERA AR BEEE 100% 8,197 68,235
Dalian Mingyue Tinglan High-Rise Apartment
43 REWREFEE/E ZREEE - RIE  BE 60% 287,407 169,211
Dalian Rose Garden Wine Town Low-Rise Apartment, Villa, Hotel
44 KiEHE BEEE - ZEEE 62% 83,000 233,830
Dalian Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
45 REFZHG BEXRE 51.5% 45,900 278,155
Dalian Guiyu Chaoyang Serviced Apartment
46 K&E& A A 2EEE A% 90.4%/99.5% 87,600 249,586
Dalian Haishang Mingyue High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
47 RiEHMFE ZEEE - RIE 88% 96,333 133,505
Dalian Hupan Helu Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
48 AFRHIEEEER =EEE 99% 60,666 253,300

Shijiazhuang Guiyu Tinglan
/&t Subtotal

High-Rise Apartment

4,282,592 10,605,937
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R % & Greater Bay Arca

THEE BEEE
HE £ L) 3.t #EE  (FAXK) (FAXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 RYKBRBEER =EEE 60% 34,425 293,303
Shenzhen Guangming Liyuan Project  High-Rise Apartment
2 EMEEEA =EEE 48.8% 40,165 121,250
Guangzhou Xiaofeng Yinyue High-Rise Apartment
3 BMNIBZRK 2EEE BEARE 33% 22,720 116,873
Guangzhou Jiangshang Yunqi High-Rise Apartment, Serviced Apartment
4 BMNEAER=%FEA =ETE B 50% 53,748 255,130
Guangzhou Nansha District High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
Sanduochong Project
5 #ELSYIED =EEE  BERARE 41% 112,717 325,431
Foshan Young City High-Rise Apartment, Serviced Apartment
6  FRLERIL aEEE 20.6% 189,897 562,403
Foshan Yunyue Jiangshan High-Rise Apartment
7 BRILEERERR A 2EEE  B% 51% 43,229 181,678

Foshan Guiyu Yingyue
/&t Subtotal

High-Rise Apartment, Commercial

496,901 1,856,068
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Property Portfolio

The Middle Reachies of the Vangtze River Area

LI B

TEE EEER
HEEH L/ it EE (FFXK)  (BFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 RER RS =EE=E - AlIE 80% 76,186 152,975
Wuhan Phoenix Mansion High-Rise Apartment, Villa
2 BUEREEE SEEE 14% 78,609 465,185
Wuhan Fengqi Tinglan High-Rise Apartment
3 REEZEHB =EEE 70% 123,479 588,612
Wuhan Guiyu Chaoyang High-Rise Apartment
4 HEHRE =EEE 85.9% 33,333 123,758
Wuhan Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment
5 HRESKNE =EXE - AlIZE 31.3% 116,004 338,418
Wuhan Jinlin Jiuli High-Rise Apartment, Villa
6 HEFERE BEEE 50% 24,885 124,580
Wuhan Chunfeng Lane High-Rise Apartment
7 REANRERE =EEE  RIE  BEERASE 54.5% 83,740 233,179
Wuhan Hupan Yunlu High-Rise Apartment, Villa, Serviced Apartment
8 HEEEE =EEE 70% 21,074 142,436
Wuhan Liuxiangyuan High-Rise Apartment
9 RAPEME il =4 49.5% 327,276 131,789
Changsha Bamboo Garden Villa
10 RAAAILIE =EET - BIE 49.9% 72,155 219,130
Changsha Mingyue Jiangnan High-Rise Apartment, Villa
11 RAEEEE =EEE - B 49% 86,249 474,294
Changsha Guiyu Yungfeng High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
12 RASSRE#AMIR =EEE 89.1% 66,253 258,136
Changsha No. 48 Nanhu Block High-Rise Apartment
13 BREXE pall <4 34% 493,010 580,990
Gao'an Bafuluo Villa
14 EERERIL/NA pall =4 69% 143,248 54,067
Yingtan Longhushan Town Villa
/&t Subtotal 1,745,501 3,887,549
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B B 38, Chengdu-Chongging Area

TiEE BEER
HE & YE $Eid) R (FFXK)  (BFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 KEHE =EEE 45% 40,413 140,574
Chengdu Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment
2 BED)IIZENE P - B 60% 145,161 165,814
Chengdu Sichuan Cuisine Town Villa, Commercial
3 HKEBEABW =EEE - AlIZE 20% 277,918 740,017
Chengdu Mingyue Qingcheng High-Rise Apartment, Villa
4 PREDEEREEER =EREE  ZEEE 10% 39,916 86,233
Chengdu Guiyu Tinglan High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
5 FEBRATHTRESMAT I R =EEE 98.2% 16,095 45,962
Chengdu Tianfu New District Helin High-Rise Apartment
Village Block
6 HBRITFERAALEDIE =EXT  ZEE=X 98.5% 27,454 84,090
Chengdu Tianfu New District Dashi High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment
Community Block
7 BEEEEHB =EXE - 5IZE 50.5% 36,475 106,765
Chengdu Guiyu Chaoyang High-Rise Apartment, Villa
8 BILHEERE =EEE - RIZE 94.1% 45,140 88,156
Meishan Hupan Yunlu High-Rise Apartment, Villa
9 BEEZENE REEE - RIE 49% 56,931 197,428
Chongging Guiyu Jiuli High-Rise Apartment, Villa
10 EEHFEEE ZREE=E 100% 66,661 134,521
Chongging Chunxi Yunlu Low-Rise Apartment
1N EEFEARE ZEE=T  RIE 50% 47,374 98,267
Chongging Chunyue Jinlu Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
/&t Subtotal 799,538 1,887,827
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Property Portfolio

o &) B i3t (B Other Areag in Clina

TEE EEER
HEEH L/ 3Eit] EE (FFXK)  (BFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 BEEE/NE mEtE 51% 788,894 670,271
Hainan Blue Town Integrated Community
2 ARREN =EEE - BIZE  BE 51%/60% 337,749 1,262,408
Xi‘an National Games Village High-Rise Apartment, Villa, Hotel
3 BLME =EEE - AlIE 79.4% 67,919 211,639
Xi'an Helu High-Rise Apartment, Villa
4 AREHILVAER BE - BEEARE 49% 15,101 103,090
Xi'an High Speed Railway North Commercial, Serviced Apartment
Station Project
5 AREUERE pall =4 42.5% 48,300 92,757
Xi‘an Nanshan Yunlu Villa
6 BERFERLE =ETE - B 86% 482,982 2,216,765
Xi'an Chunfeng Xinyu High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
7 BLRFEMEA =EEE 100% 72,829 276,000
Xi"an Chunhe Yinyue High-Rise Apartment
8 MLIFERE =EEE 43.7% 61,500 233,260
Xi"an Willow Breeze High-Rise Apartment
9 MBLREREER =EEE - AlIE 40% 52,885 154,743
Xi'an Guiyu Yunjing High-Rise Apartment, Villa
10 BALEEHMRIER AE - mEE=x 34% 59,669 137,571
Xi‘an Changning New District Project  Villa, High-Rise Apartment
1M BMNSOREAA =EEE 51% 36,671 96,871

Fuzhou Wenlan Mingyue

High-Rise Apartment
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THEE BEEE
HE £ L/ 3 ki) R (FFXK) (FFHXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
12 RBINEEERR A =EEE 50% 50,735 166,967
Fuzhou Guiyu Yingyue High-Rise Apartment
13 wMERE A ZEE=E 100% 18,479 40,004
Fuzhou Haitang Yingyue Low-Rise Apartment
14 RN OB A =EEE 26% 49,489 224,132
Fuzhou Rongxin Yingyue High-Rise Apartment
15 HEAERE BE - OBEARE 58% 32,370 215,480
Xinjiang Lily Apartment Commercial, Serviced Apartment
16 FiREA AR BEEE 51.5% 132,464 309,678
Xinjiang Mingyue Lanting High-Rise Apartment
17 FEBEE =EEE 60% 187,613 642,363
Xinjiang Ideal City High-Rise Apartment
18 ZMERREN =ETE 36.4% 80,811 223,271
Zhengzhou Mingyue Binhe High-Rise Apartment
19 MM ERE ZEREE 69.5% 56,248 149,494
Zhengzhou Hupan Yunlu Low-Rise Apartment
20 EDINFERSABRE ZREET - HIE - BE 100% 271,135 272,542
Zhengzhou Yanming Lake Low-Rise Apartment, Villa, Hotel
Rose Garden
21 FHEFEXIRIAR allE-id 51% 68,740 85,235
Kaifeng Longting District Cultural Villa
Investment Project
22 EEAAEHFH =EREE  ZEEE 20% 77,662 181,698

Xinyang Lily City

High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment



WA
Property Portfolio

THEE EEEE
HE BB L/ E il Em (FAK) (FEFEK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
23 ERAEEEKCXS 2019-1631 1 BEFE BERALE 100% 48,097 257,035
Kunming Shuangta Block 2019-16 High-Rise Apartment, Serviced Apartment
24 EEAHE =ERFE 100% 30,504 129,595
Kunming Sincere Garden High-Rise Apartment
25 REHE REEE  ZEEXE  FIE 100% 134,975 244,519
Daging Majestic Mansion High-Rise Apartment, Low-Rise Apartment, Villa
26 TEREGHIED BEEE 46% 301,487 699,412
Harbin Young City High-Rise Apartment
27 "MERERINRIER BEEE - FIE 100% 35,665 127,887
Harbin Qunli East Project High-Rise Apartment, Villa
/&t Subtotal 3,600,973 9,424,687
\ X/~
“F7 Overgeas
THEE EEEE
HEHR LE & kil Ew  (FEFXK)  (FFXK)
Site Area GFA
Project Name Type of Properties Equity (sqm) (sqm)
1 EEFEMmEIER SEEE B 10.1% 136,314 778,952
Indonesia Jakarta Project High-Rise Apartment, Commercial
2 mMEXEEMNIER BEE=E 40% 6,934 13,611
Canada Coquitlam Project High-Rise Apartment
3 EEREERE BEEE 70% 2,006 38,171
US Seattle Graystone High-Rise Apartment
/)&t Subtotal 145,254 830,734
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LRSS
Zhoushan Changzhi Island

A= oA

20214 - BHIEMSRE TR EFFRRE T+
FREABNEER - FHETSHZERRTE T
ENG [ZBARIAHBEREN EREPE
EEXEER - ZMELTMES i - Sk
HERENRE_FEEEERRS - BHETT
XEFAFNHABREAY  HELNELEEE
REESER -

Operation Review

In 2021, the real estate market went from overheating in the first half of the
Year to a deep adjustment in the second half. The control policies on the real
estate market continued to improve and upgrade, as the pilot scope of the
“Three Red Lines” policy was expanded, loan concentration management was
fully administered, the “two-concentrated” land supply was launched in many
cities, and new policies on school district housing and second-hand housing
guideline price were introduced in a number of regions. The real estate industry
has entered a new adjustment cycle that places higher demands on real estate
enterprises’ operations and management capabilities.
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BNRENER  WENE A TEENRES
BRHBEEBENBRFFE  ETEENATE
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B 1 (BrE)PEIS0054
2,3 HigMEkR

Focusing on the strategic goal of “quality benchmark among the Top10”, adhering
to the development idea of “quality first, with due consideration to others” and
following the five approaches of “productivity, efficiency, accuracy, saving, and
prudence”, Greentown China responded in time with quick actions in 2021 with
management capabilities improved in an all-round manner, and operations
quality continued to be enhanced. The Company was listed in “Top500 Chinese
Enterprises', won the title of “Top10 among 100 Chinese Real Estate Enterprises
by Comprehensive Strength?” in a row, and was awarded such honors as
“No. 1 in Super Product Strength” and “Leading Brand in Customer Satisfaction”.
The Company achieved all its business goals and had a wonderful start to its
“Strategic 2025" plan.

In summary, the Company in 2021 saw good growth momentum in several
aspects of its business, including operating efficiency, sales scale, land
investment and product services. First, revenue and profit achieved double-digit
growth and financing costs remained low among peers in the industry; second,
sales scale remained in Top10 and the cash collection rate maintained at a high
level in the industry; third, land investment was precisely made and both quantity
and quality were improved, with newly-acquired saleable value ranking fourth
in the industry?, fourth, product and service quality continued to remain at an
industry-leading level, ranking first in a number of reputable product strength lists
and retaining the top spot in the industry by customer satisfaction.

Continuous Improvement in Operating Results

During the Year, the Group generated revenue of RMB100,240 million,
representing an increase of RMB34,457 million or 52.4% from RMB65,783 million
in 2020. Net profit for the Year amounted to RMB7,687 million, representing
an increase of 33.4% from RMB5,763 million in 2020. During the Year, profit
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB4,469 million,
representing an increase of 17.7% from RMB3,796 million in 2020.

After deducting foreign exchange gains and losses, gains from acquisitions, the
net post-tax effects of provision and reversal of impairment losses on certain
assets and fair value changes on certain assets, the core profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the Year amounted to RMB5,765 million, representing
an increase of RMB1,772 million or 44.4% from RMB3,993 million in 2020.

Note 1. Fortune China 500 List
2, 3. ChinaIndex Academy
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The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.46 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMBO0.35 per share).

Sales Scale Hits Record Highs

In 2021, the Group achieved a new high in contracted sales and ranked seventh
in the PRC". For the Year, Greentown Group (including Greentown China Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries, together with its joint ventures and associates)
recorded a total contracted sales area of approximately 15.57 million sgm and
a total contracted sales amount of RMB350.9 billion, representing a year-on-
year growth of 21% and the yearly target completion rate of 113%. Among
which, the self-investment projects of Greentown Group contributed a total
contracted sales area of 9.38 million sgm and a contracted sales amount of
approximately RMB266.6 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 24%,
of which approximately RMB145.2 billion was attributable to the Greentown
Group, representing a year-on-year growth of 22%; average selling price of
self-investment projects reached an industry-leading level of approximately
RMB28,416 per sgm (2020: RMB26,012 per sgm). In addition, in 2021, Greentown
Group recorded a total contracted sales area of approximately 6.19 million sgm
and a total contracted sales amount of approximately RMB84.3 billion from
the projects under its project management business with the “Greentown”
brand (non-self-investment projects, referred to as “projects under project
management”).

All-round improvement of fine management. The Group implemented
its marketing policy of fine management with remarkable results. In 2021, the
overall sales structure of self-investment projects was sound and solid, with
sales contributed from first- and second-tier cities accounting for 80% of the
total. In terms of regional distribution, the Yangtze River Delta region accounted
for 66% while the Bohai Rim region, the Chengdu-Chongging region, the Greater
Bay Area, the middle reaches of the Yangtze River and other areas contributed to
18%, 4%, 3%, 3% and 6%, respectively. The Company’s capability of cultivation in
key cities increased significantly with the Company ranking among the Top10 by
contracted sales in such cities as Beijing, Hangzhou, Ningbo and each exceeding
RMB10 billion. There were eight projects with sales amount for each exceeding
RMBS5 billion.

Note 1:  CRIC, China Index Academy, EH Consulting
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Digital empowerment to boost efficiency. Through innovative and flexible
marketing strategies, the Company has built a digital marketing system and
launched digital tools such as “Greentown Cloud (#%3#2)", an online sales
platform, and “Smart Greentown (£%45%5)", an intelligent site-displaying system,
which were used throughout the entire project process to promote online and
offline multi-channel transactions, optimize customer experience, strengthen
internal control and boost marketing efficiency. In 2021, the overall sell-through
rate of self-investment projects was 69%, among which the sell-through rate for
such projects in first- and second-tier cities reached 71%, and the sell-through
rate of newly launched projects was 70%; the cash collection rate was 106%,
sales per capita increased by 12% year-on-year to RMB105 million.

Accurate and Efficient Investment Layout

In 2021, the first year of implementing of the “concentrated land supply” policy,
the Group monitored and responded positively to the situation by accurately
pacing its land acquisition and adhering to the idea of value investment. From
January to June, the Group achieved a positive start. In particular, the Group
actively acquired land in such key cities as Hangzhou at the beginning of the
Year to better cope with pressures from its competitors; from July to August, the
Group made calm judgment, and moderately raised the investment threshold,
focusing on the conversion of cooperative projects; after September, the Group
adopted a cautious approach by focusing on a few key cities and taking up only
quality projects to replenish landbank.

Reasonable layout and accelerated conversion of landbank. During the
Year, the Group acquired 101 new projects in 42 cities with a total gross floor
area ("GFA") of approximately 17.51 million sgm. The newly-added saleable value
was estimated to reach RMB313.7 billion, of which approximately RMB183.4
billion would be attributable to the Group. The costs borne by the Group
amounted to approximately RMB93.8 billion; the average land cost of the new
land parcels was approximately RMB9,080 per sgm. 21% of the newly-added
saleable value was converted to saleable resources in the Year, which effectively
supported steady sales growth for the Year and the future.
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Focusing on key geographical distribution. The Group has adhered to the
strategy of “focusing on regions and deepening footprints in cities” with the
newly-acquired projects all located in key cities with high security, controllable
risks and high profit potential. The newly-added saleable value in first- and
second-tier cities accounted for 78%, mainly situated in key cities like Beijing,
Shanghai, Shenzhen, Hangzhou, Ningbo and Xi‘an. In respect of geographical
distribution, the Yangtze River Delta as an area of strategic importance accounted
for 52% of the total newly-added saleable value, which has helped consolidate
Greentown China’s market share and industry position in the Yangtze River Delta
Area.

2021 F FiG T b fEER Table of Newly-Added Land Bank in 2021
RIETT
it iR EE BB s EAESLE BEEEE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(AREEE) (FFAXK)
(RMB million) (sgm)

1 T BK 7T EB 100% 2,271 298,466
Hangzhou Yonghe City

2 T EIEEER A 70% 2,111 149,510
Hangzhou Chaoting Mingyue

3 RA\ b =S 99.4% 2,006 114,939
Hangzhou Hushang Chunfeng

4 BN OAESF 83.8% 1,770 121,944
Hangzhou Qinguixuan

5 UM LSRR 54.8% 1,168 146,834
Hangzhou Shanlan Guiyu

6 MM AR Z 58 34% 991 308,060
Hangzhou Yueying Xingyuyuan

7 MMT LB A 50.9% 891 210,007
Hangzhou Jiangshang Guiyu Xinyue

8 UM 55 50% 780 159,904

Hangzhou Jiangpan Jinyuan
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Fik il HE BB = EESH BEEMEBE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBE®) (FFAK)
(RMB million) (sgm)

9 MMAFAA 70% 745 68,612
Hangzhou Muchun Mingyue

0 FUNTI EEE 52.5% 626 105,783
Hangzhou Jiangshang Zhenyuan

1M1 FUNERRE 55.3% 475 115,223
Hangzhou Yungi Yanlu

12 HUNER R R HET R B8 7T H-R21-0130 38 49.6% 326 81,741
Hangzhou Lin‘an District Binhu New Area Block H-R21-01

13 MMEIEREAEEITFG08-R21-C18(2)HbR 100% 3,778 154,729
Hangzhou Binjiang District Xianggifang Unit Block FGO8-
R21-C18(2)

14 BUNTFEHRNEE 100% 253 70,280
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Hupan Chenglu

15 B HERRER 51% 1,066 110,656
Ningbo Chunxi Yunjing

16 ERAENBR 69.4% 2,976 216,880
Ningbo Binhe Mingcui

17 ERATLA 51% 1,305 158,327
Ningbo Binhe Qinyue

18 BRI L R AL 55% 1,645 508,801
Ningbo Tongshan Future Community

19 EKIBEAB 51% 330 111,784
Ningbo Jinshang Yueming

20 ERBRELH 75% 1,559 175,398
Ningbo Fengyue Yinhu

21 B ESREIN 70.6% 762 107,885
Ningbo Xingui Qinlan

22 B RSO 51% 213 58,828

Ningbo Chunyu Wenlan
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W
FiE il EHE BB P AESH HEEMEE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBEE) (FE7K)
(RMB million) (sgm)

23 ERETHER 100% 469 41,232
Cixi Tinglan Mingcui

24 BINE AR 80.2% 901 90,888
Wenzhou Chunyue Jianglan

25  URMBBINE 32.5% 31 87,602
Shengzhou Opera Town

26 IR A 100% 702 103,828
Zhoushan Lingbo Qiuyue

27 FRLEXREER 80% 942 289,976
Zhoushan Oriental Dawn

28 HRAEITmERE 60% 525 121,002
Tongxiang Fenggi Chunlan

29 SEZURBE 70% 40 63,716
Jinhua Wangshan Yinlu

30 SERHRER 55.9% 406 72,422
Jinhua Cuihu Xiaoyuan

31 SELE 55.9% 466 79,757
Jinhua Qinyuan

32 kEVIFERR 41.7% 817 167,294
Yongkang Willow Breeze

33 EEEEWE 49% 2,193 303,747
Yiwu Guiyu Lanting

34 EINEE 42.7% 722 144,938
Quzhou Orchid Garden

35 BNEEBRRME 35.8% 820 418,729
Quzhou Luming Future Community

6 EEEAEE 51.3% 559 136,120

Deging Xiaoyue Chenglu
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Fik il HE BB fE= EESH BEEMEBE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBE®) (F7K)
(RMB million) (sgm)
37 EEERE 68.1% 762 160,799
Deqing Xiaoyuan
38 THEKENE 40% 120 79,143
Anji Angel Town
39 LHEMKER 85% 160 78,244
Anji Peach Garden
40 EELEZE 31.4% 1,655 95,684
Shanghai Hong'an Lane
M FAREEMT 16.4% 340 77,553
Nanjing Yuncui Mansion 049
42  FERIREIEAR 45% 170 337,064
Nanjing Yinsha Project
43 KA Em 12.8% 181 153,253
Taicang Yuhu Shangpin
44 ERNBEDEEE 19.3% 387 226,406
Suzhou Boyin Lanting
45  ENRIERIENEIER 58.8% 724 235,736
Suzhou Wuijiang District Technology and
Innovation Town Project
46  EGEEEM 48.9% 521 75,264
Wuxi Guiyu Yunjian
47 HEAE 39.7% 712 135,440
Yixing Hexi
48 BINEHE 29.5% 284 128,181 .
Yangzhou Yunzhu g
49  BUBEREE 48.5% 168 39,439 @
Yangzhou Fengming Yunlu §
50 BMER 29.7% 319 156,972 S

Yangzhou Yunculi
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W
FiE il EHE BB P AESH HEEMEE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBEE) (FE7K)
(RMB million) (sgm)
51 B BLIS 5 32.9% 112 39,892
Yangzhou Fengming Chenglu
52 fRMEBAEE 66.3% 376 67,763
Xuzhou Mingyue Chunxiao
53 RINZR R 31.5% 245 95,560
Xuzhou Cuiping Fenghua
54 RMNESE—m 32.6% 497 178,623
Xuzhou Kunlun Yiping
55 FRIMNFNEML 32.7% 667 189,063
050 Xuzhou Hezhu Hushan
56  FMEBIEFER 38.9% 454 325,472
Taizhou Chunxiao Jiangnan & Spring Blossom
57  EEWEEREA 100% 2,177 186,394
Yancheng Xiaofeng Yinyue
58 &REEREZ 34% 650 238,676
Hefei Xinglanwan
59  SBRILMARE 38.5% 33 135,879
Ma'anshan Taoran Lane
60 JEFOLE 69.9% 4,766 352,194
% Beijing Qinyuan
§ 61  EREBRZHE 15.6% 894 158,997
= Beijing Xuefu Garden One
= 62 FEEEHE 100% 940 166,473
S Tianjin Guiyu Chaoyang
3 63  REBAELES 96% 1,727 74,619
5 Tianjin Fenggi Yueming
a 64 KEUEER 100% 1,520 156,149

Tianjin Willow Breeze
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Fik il HE BB = EESH BEEMEBE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBE®) (F7K)
(RMB million) (sgm)

65  REKAZE 82.1% 4,070 442,401
Tianjin Shuixi Yunlu

66 REFBEKFEFTHIR 89.1% 2,380 233,083
Tianjin Xiging District Shuixi Block EFT

67  REFZBEH 80.6% 999 174,117
Tianjin Guiyu Tinglan

68  EmAEHRE 45% 416 244,923
Jinan Chunyue Jinlu

69  BEEMBHE 98.4% 632 61,178
Qingdao Hejin Sincere Garden

70 EEEEHE 39.3% 387 149,967
Qingdao Guiyu Chaoyang

71 FEXHRE 51% 155 106,070
Qingdao Wenlan Jinyuan

72 BEMBEER 30% 225 74,289
Qingdao Hejin Yuyuan

73 EEmitRAPREARIER 50% 968 259,917
Qingdao Shibei District Zhongneng Paper Factory Project

74 BEEXRI_H 24.7% 76 95,024
Jining Tianyue Phase 2

75 BEXBNER 24.9% 145 155,419
Jining Tianyue Community

76 KNEBLEMAA 90.4%/99.5%' 2,008 249,586
Dalian Haishang Mingyue

77 EGEEAER 30% 337 200,836
Shenyang Longfor Tanggian

78  AIIEEAZEIER 60% 3,441 293,303
Shenzhen Guangming Liyuan Project

BT 0 A2bIRAERS B90.4% - A3 RAAMIRIERS £99.5% ©
Note 1:  The equity for Block A2 is 90.4% while that for Block A3 and A4 is 99.5%.
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W
FiE il EHE BB P AESH HEEMEE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBEE) (FE7K)
(RMB million) (sgm)

79 BNmAER=%EIER 50% 1,415 255,130
Guangzhou Nansha District Sanduochong Project

80 HEHEREZE 50% 675 124,580
Wuhan Chunfeng Lane

81 R E E 54.5% 1,672 233,179
Wuhan Hupan Yunlu

82  HERBE 70% 770 142,436
Wuhan Liuxiangyuan

83  ROEREBE 49% 1,465 474,294
Changsha Guiyu Yunfeng

84  RDASHREMAHIIR 89.1% 2,581 258,136
Changsha No0.48 Nanhu Block

85  EERERIL/E 69% 48 54,067
Yingtan Longhu Mountain Town

86  KEP)IZE/NR 60% 124 105,752
Chengdu Sichuan Cuisine Town

87 PR EPEREER R 10% 25 86,233
Chengdu Guiyu Tinglan

88  AKEMEEHS 50.5% 567 106,765
Chengdu Guiyu Chaoyang

89 FREBRIT T [ B A b 3R 98.2% 337 45,962
Chengdu Tianfu New District Helin Village Block

90 FREBRATHTE R Atk @3 98.5% 568 84,090
Chengdu Tianfu New District Dashi Community Block

91 ERFAME 50% 498 98,267
Chongging Chunyue Jinlu

92 HERNE 79.4% 1,650 211,639
Xi'an Helu

93 HATmLUEE 42.5% 363 92,757
Xi'an Nanshan Yunlu

94 FARYIFERE 43.7% 441 233,260

Xi‘an Willow Breeze
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Fik il HE BB = EESH BEEMEBE
Paid by
No. Land/Project Name Equity Greentown Total GFA
(ANEEBE®) (F7K)
(RMB million) (sgm)

95 Az EEdLihIEE 49% 92 103,090
Xi‘an High Speed Railway North Station Project

9%  EREEN®RIAR 34% 106 137,571
Xi‘an Changning New District Project

97 HAREEEE 40% 227 154,743
Xi‘an Guiyu Yunjing

98 P EME A 100% 2,400 276,000
Xi‘an Chunhe Yinyue

99  BERBEEIER 46% 1,014 699,412
Harbin Young City

100 MREMFNRIER 100% 841 127,887
Harbin Qunli East Project

101 FEIEAR I 60% 434 642,363
Xinjiang Ideal City

&7t Total 93,753 17,508,500

R20215F 128318 » & EBE R B LinHEHEEE
256 E( BIBFERRAFRE) - BEEEEL58818
FREK HPEZBEEMBENARI278FH
K AR EERELA39808FHK XA ER
BHA2,198F H K  FHEEMEST T KL
AR¥ET 82T o RN EE — WM T M T Hb R
B EBEEGLET4% -

MiEET - fEih FEAE -

As at 31 December 2021, Greentown Group had a total of 256 land reserve
projects (including those under and pending construction) with a total GFA of
approximately 58.81 million sgm, of which approximately 32.67 million sgm was
attributable to the Group. The total saleable area’ was approximately 39.8 million
sgm, of which approximately 21.99 million sgm was attributable to the Group.
The average land cost per GFA was approximately RMB7,182 per sgm. Land
reserve of the Greentown Group in first- and second-tier cities accounted for 74%
of the total saleable value.

Note 1.  Aboveground area only.
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Staying Ahead of Peers in Product Quality

Based on the principle of “quality first”, the Group has continued to enhance
the core competitiveness of its product. During the Year, it won over 10
comprehensive national awards for its quality, including the “No.1 Chinese Real
Estate Developer by Super Product Strength in 2021 (2021FE fF BE B E
mn 188 —%2)" issued by EH Consulting and “No.1 Chinese Real Estate Company
with Outstanding Product Quality in 2021 2021 EEMEE R HEFLESE —
)" issued by China Index Academy, with product quality highly endorsed by the
industry and customers.

Project construction to guarantee quality. Based on years of practice, the
Group strictly abides by the red line of products, and has formed a “Greentown
Style” construction management system, emphasizing the safety, refinement,
intelligence and efficiency of project construction, and effectively guaranteeing
product quality. During the Year, the Group carried out joint inspections of 67 key
projects in spring and autumn, held 17 on-site observation meetings, and built a
smart digital construction platform.

Successful launch of product innovation. To improve the innovation system,
an R&D and design center has been set up at the group level to create a solid
“R&D platform”. During the Year, the Group succeeded in launching 23 innovative
projects, and earned 36 preposed innovation achievements with the theme of
“cozy living". Green and smart show rooms were launched, putting into practice
high-standard, low-energy consumption green housing, and smart solutions for
future community.

Continuous optimization of cost management and control. Against the
background of rising prices on industrial products, the Group has saved cost
through a number of product cost optimization measures. It has also achieved
remarkable results in cost management and control by significantly promoting
strategic cooperation and centralized supply chain management. During the Year,
the application rate of materials from centralized procurement reached 97.8%,
the strategic cooperation rate reached 83.9%, and the dynamic construction cost
was 1.26% lower than the target cost.
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1 PIREATRE

No.1 in Customer Satisfaction

The Group continuously optimizes customer research system and improves
customer satisfaction management, and has attained service upgrade and
achieved the strategic pivot points of “best understanding of customers”. The
Group has won the honorary title of “Chinese Real Estate Leading Brands by
Customer Satisfaction' (HEIFEHZERZ M EE A Lmi®)” for 10 consecutive
years, and has been leading the industry in the “Chinese Urban Residents’
Satisfaction' (RIS T /E R EFEMESE)" survey for 11 consecutive years, ranking
first in customer satisfaction across 14 cities and in customer loyalty across 9
cities.

Healthy Financial Condition and Smooth Financing Channels

Under such policies as the “Three Red Lines” for real estate developers and
“Two Red Lines” for banks and the supervision of pre-sale funds, the financing
capabilities of real estate developers are becoming more differentiated.
Leveraging on the advantages of stable operation and prudent financial control,
the Group has deepened strategic cooperation with various financial institutions
and kept every financing channel open. Meanwhile, it has kept abreast of
changes in the open market and the regulatory policies, and seized every
financing opportunities, thus continuously driving down the financing cost to
the industry-leading level. During the Year, the weighted average interest cost
of total borrowings further decreased to 4.6%, representing a drop of 30 bps
as compared to 4.9% for 2020. Debts due within one year accounted for 25.1%
of the Group's total debts as at 31 December 2021, representing a decrease
of 2.2 percentage points as compared to that at the end of 2020, reflecting an
optimization of its debt structure.

Note 1:  China Index Academy
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In regard to offshore financing in June 2021, the Company successfully raised
three-year offshore syndicated and bilateral loans with a total principal amount
of USD940 million at an interest rate of LIBOR/HIBOR+2.51% for each of such
loans. The Company successfully issued a three-year unlisted senior notes with
a principal amount of USD150 million in December, continuously strengthening
its advantages in offshore financing. In regard to onshore financing in 2021, the
Company completed the public issuance of domestic bonds on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Inter-Bank Market with
principal amounts totaling RMB25.718 billion with an average interest cost of
3.55%. The financing cost remained low and financing channels were smooth.
Among which, the Group issued corporate bonds in the amount of RMB5.15
billion with the interest rates ranging from 3.34% to 4.07% per annum. It also
successfully issued the first project revenue notes in the amount of RMB500
million with an interest rate of 4.30% per annum, the supply chain ABS/ABN in
the amount of RMB14.84 billion with the interest rates ranging from 2.95% to
3.80% per annum, the medium-term notes of RMB3.4 billion with the interest
rates ranging from 3.68% to 3.90% per annum, and the balance payment ABS for
house purchases amounted to RMB1.828 billion with an interest rate of 3.80% per
annum.

Diversified Development of Featured Businesses

In addition to traditional real estate investment and development businesses, the
Group promotes emerging businesses in an orderly manner and actively expands
featured businesses to set the stage for diversified development.
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Consolidating advantages of project management business. Greentown
Management, a subsidiary of the Company, has prominent advantages in asset-
light operation, and continued to take the lead in the project management
industry. It has won the 2021 Golden Kirin “Listed Companies with Most Growth
Potential” award (2021¢ B & B &/& ) _E7AF]"), and has been honored
“Chinese Leading Enterprises by Real Estate Project Management Operation
(FREERZEELS|IBLE) for five consecutive years. The three major
business models, namely government project management, commercial
project management and capital owner project management, have become
more matured, and capital services, industrial city services and upstream and
downstream industry chain services have been continuously optimized. The
business expansion capacity has been outstanding, with the project management
fee receivable from new projects in 2021 of RMB7.11 billion, representing an
increase of 22.3% over the previous year; profitability has been continuously
enhanced, with the net profit attributable to the owners of Greentown
Management this Year amounting to RMB565 million, representing an increase of
31.9% as compared to that from continuing operations over the previous year.

Solid promotion of town business. The scale of the town business has
steadily increased. As at 31 December 2021, the town business covered a total
of 22 cities, with 28 featured towns under operation or under construction and a
total of approximately 12.63 million sgm of planned GFA secured. Thanks to the
“two-wheel drive” of saleable properties and industrial operation, town business
has continued to consolidate its advantages, winning a number of honors such as
“2021 China Real Estate Industry Rural Revitalization Benchmark Brand Enterprise
(2021% EE HETT SR EZET R )" and "Top1 Brand Influence of
Chinese Characteristic Town Operators (1 Bl (2 /) HE & pf 85 £ 1 Top1)".
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Fostering growth of emerging businesses. In 2021, the Group acquired
a total of 17 featured asset-heavy projects with a total value of approximately
RMB82.6 billion, accounting for 26% of the total newly-added value.
Breakthroughs have been made in urban renewal business by obtaining two
iconic projects, which are Shenzhen Guangming Liyuan and Shanghai Hong'an
Lane. Urban complex and future community businesses have blossomed in many
places, landing 6 projects such as Ningbo Tongshan Future Community and
Quzhou Luming Future Community. Besides, industrial towns and TOD projects
continue to be implemented.

Empowerment to main business through scientific and technological
transformation. The"Greentown+" segment businesses such as construction
technology, living services, commercial management and industrial finance have
achieved preliminary success, empowering the real estate main business through
scientific and technological transformation. The prefabricated business has
expanded rapidly with reduced costs and increased efficiency by way of batch
construction. Focusing on building a service system which provides a lifetime
service for housing and people, the living services segment has accumulated
health care contract amount of about RMB45 million and participated in
urban micro renewal for a total area of about 1.5 million sgm. The commercial
management business has created quality business, realizes value preservation
and asset appreciation, and provides services for state-level events such as 2022
Asian Games. The industrial finance business provides innovative services that
connects industry and finance and integrates resources.

Continuous Consolidation of Development Foundation

The Group insists on “reform, change and improvement”, strives to consolidate
its management foundation and seeks efficiency through improved management.
In 2021, Greentown China with a brand value of RMB90.6 billion, a year-on-
year increase of RMB17.3 billion or 23.6%, won the “Top10 of China Real Estate
Companies by Brand Value” for 18 consecutive years.
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Constant optimization of structure and mechanisms. The Group adheres
to the path of optimizing the management system and building an agile
organization. In 2021, ESG Committee was set up at the board level to promote
sustainable development of the Company; the Greentown Research Institute
was established to strengthen top-level research capabilities; the hierarchy of
some regional and city companies was adjusted to further strengthen regional
cultivation and promote a flatter and more refined control hierarchy.

Operations management improving efficiency. The Group continues
to optimize the operation management mode, updates the “Strategic 2025"
plan, formulates “one city, one policy” planning reports, and upgrades the
management mechanism of “supply, sales and collection” in order to boost
project operational efficiency and meet requirements of business development.
The overall project operation cycle has been accelerated, and the Group’s
operation cycle from land acquisition to construction commencement, to
presale and to delivery reached 4.3, 7.3 and 30.1 months respectively in 2021,
with an average year-on-year improvement of approximately 6%. GFA of newly
commenced projects of the Group witnessed a year-on-year growth of 29% to
16.98 million sgm; GFA of completed projects saw a year-on-year growth of 23%
to 9.36 million sgm; and area under construction per capita saw a year-on-year
increase of 5% to 11,500 sgm.

Orderly and effective risk management and control. The risk prevention
and control system has been consolidated by building a closed-loop business
management system covering all business segments with full participation
of staff and comprehensive coverage to promote management advances,
integrating the risk management concept into all links of business management
to ensure operational efficiency. Meanwhile, a risk management database has
been established so that the system works better in matching the actual practice
of the management of the Company. More risk control trainings have been
provided to enhance compliance awareness, thereby ensuring the sustainable,
stable and healthy development of the Company.
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Prospects

Looking forward to 2022, the general principle of “housing without speculation”
and the goal of “stabilizing land prices, housing prices, and expectations” will
remain unchanged, which will bring challenges and opportunities to the real estate
industry. On the one hand, the PRC government will continue to carry out in-
depth real estate control policies, and the industry is facing a deep adjustment,
thus higher requirements were put forward for the operation management and
financial security of real estate enterprises; on the other hand, the real estate
regulatory direction based on city-specific strategies and prudent financial
management system will facilitate the steady growth of the market, reducing
industry risks, and promoting a virtuous cyclical and healthy development of the
industry.

Operation Strategies for 2022

2022 is a critical year for the Group’s “Strategic 2025" plan as it links the past
and future, and the Group has set the strategic requirements for “quality first,
progress in stability, balanced coordination and all-round development”, and
will focus on stability, efficiency, balance and sustainability and enhance the “six
qualities (7~am)" of Greentown in all aspects, so as to promote the continuous
improvement of financial indicators, realize steady operation and follow the
sustainable development path with “high quality in all aspects”.

Five main operating principles:

First, centering on strategic planning to promote high-quality
development. To focus on the five major urban agglomerations, deepen
cultivation in first- and second-tier cities, flexibly respond to the adjustment of
the bidding and auction policies, further broaden investment channels such as
acquisition, and continue to strengthen investment decision-making and post-
investment evaluation.
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Second, focusing on goal achievement and vigorously improving quality
and efficiency. With lean operation as the link, to optimize the assessment and
incentive mechanism, strengthen the control of the operation process, speed
up the capital turnover, do a good job of saving costs and reducing expenses,
promote the quality and efficiency of operation, and improve the overall
operating efficiency.

Third, promoting reform and innovation and strengthening system
building. To continue to promote the reform, improvement and change of the
system and mechanism, optimize the management and control structure as
well as the management model, and strengthen the marketing system, grand
customer service system and risk control system.

Fourth, intensifying team building and enhancing management synergy.
To improve team productivity, build a talented team with a reasonable structure,
comprehensive abilities and full of vitality, which also aligns with the Group’s
business development.

Fifth, advancing diversified development and optimizing industrial
structure. To consolidate first-mover advantages in town business, TOD
and future community, steadily push on the implementation of health care,
commercial operations, industrial finance and other businesses, and reinforce
business synergy and empowerment.

To focus on elevating the nine business capabilities, namely continuous
reform, accurate investments, marketing services, streamlined
operation, financial liquidity, commercial management, financial
support, organizational support, and internal control, so as to provide
guarantee for the realization of the 2022 business goals.
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Operation Foundation:

For 2022, the Group expects its total saleable area to reach approximately 20.34
million sgm, with a total saleable amount of approximately RMB444.2 billion.
Among which, self-investment projects are expected to provide a saleable area
of approximately 13.54 million sgm with a saleable amount of approximately
RMB345.2 hillion.

In 2022, the Group expects the total GFA of newly commenced projects/phases
during the year to be approximately 14.5 million sgm; and the total GFA of
completed projects/phases to be approximately 13.47 million sgm, representing
a year-on-year increase of 43.9%.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group recorded an accumulated unbooked sales of
approximately RMB330.8 billion (attributable: RMB177.7 billion), representing an
increase of RMB77.6 billion as compared to that at the end of 2020.

The above operation results have laid a solid foundation for the realization of
operational targets for 2022.

Financial Analysis

Revenue

The revenue of the Group mainly derives from the sales of properties, as well
as from project management, design and decoration, and holding properties
for operation, etc. During the Year, the revenue of the Group amounted to
RMB100,240 million, in particular, revenue from sales of properties accounted for
89.5%, design and decoration revenue accounted for 3.9%, project management
revenue accounted for 2.0% and revenue from holding properties for operation
accounted for 4.6%, representing an increase of 52.4% from RMB65,783 million in
2020, which was mainly due to the increase in revenue from sales of properties.

During the Year, the Group's revenue from sales of properties amounted to
RMB89,755 million, representing an increase of 56.5% from RMB57,334 million
in 2020. The area of properties with recognised revenue amounted to 4,385,389
sgm, representing an increase of 50.5% from 2,914,404 sgm in 2020. The average
selling price of properties with recognised revenue was RMB20,467 per sqm,
representing a slight increase from RMB19,673 per sgm in 2020.
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Properties with the revenue recognised by subsidiaries in 2021 are as follows:

HE AR LE %-:Rit) HEEE SHEWA HELE HEGE
Sales Average
Project Name Type of Properties Area Sold Revenue % of Total Selling Price
(FFFHK) (AR (B¥7K
(sgm) BET) ARETT)
(Bff5E)(Note)  (RMB million) (RMB per sgm)
A LEEEEE SEMEE - 5% 174,664 5,010 5.6% 28,684
Hangzhou Guiyu Chaoyang High-rise Apartment, Villa
IRERSE =mEEE 64,347 4,677 5.2% 72,684
Beijing One Liangma High-rise Apartment
EFHE A SEXE  ZEEx - 5IE 148,676 2,793 3.1% 18,786
Deqing Guanyun Town High-rise Apartment,
Low-rise Apartment, Villa
RN B RIE =EFE 162,995 2,644 2.9% 16,221
Yuyao Guiyu Lanting High-rise Apartment
BB ER =EAE 64,482 2,425 2.7% 37,607
Wenzhou Fenggi Yuming  High-rise Apartment
5B et 121,681 2,407 2.7% 19,781
Qingdao Ideal City Integrated Community
R E =EFE 111,705 2,375 2.6% 21,261
Nantong Sincere Garden High-rise Apartment
RAEHE SEAE  ZEEE 79,856 2,330 2.6% 29,178
Tianjin Sincere Garden High-rise Apartment,
Low-rise Apartment
X ER Bl AR EARS SEEE  ZEEX  5IE 74,007 2,300 2.6% 31,078
Chengdu Phoenix Mansion  High-rise Apartment,
Low-rise Apartment, Villa
B EEEE BEFE  ZEEFE 145,597 2,290 2.6% 15,728
Jinan Yulan Garden High-rise Apartment,
Low-rise Apartment
Hth 3,237,379 60,504 67.4% 18,689
Others
A&t Total 4,385,389 89,755 100.0% 20,467
Mz :  SHEEEEEN R TEE o Note:  Areas sold include aboveground and underground areas.
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During the Year, projects in Zhejiang area achieved property sales revenue of
RMBA42,697 million, accounting for 47.6% of the total property sales and ranking
top. Projects in Jiangsu area achieved property sales revenue of RMB11,178
million, accounting for 12.5% of the total property sales and ranking second.
Projects in Beijing area achieved property sales revenue of RMB10,075 million,
accounting for 11.2% of the total property sales and ranking third.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from sales of high-rise apartments, low-
rise apartments, serviced apartments, etc. amounted to RMB77,706 million,
accounting for 86.6% of the total property sales; sales revenue from villas
amounted to RMB11,289 million, accounting for 12.6% of the total property sales,
and that from offices amounted to RMB760 million, accounting for 0.8% of the
total property sales.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from project management service
amounted to RMB2,049 million, representing an increase of 26.3% from
RMB1,622 million in 2020, mainly due to the combined effect of the increase in
projects with business partners in 2021 and the construction works of which
started in succession, as well as the increase in the area under management
and control of entrusted government projects, and the innovation of its business
model together with the expansion of its business scope.

During the Year, the Group recorded RMB3,914 million in the revenue from
design and decoration business, representing an increase of RMB878 million
or 28.9% from RMB3,036 million in 2020, mainly because the high-end fine
decoration products and services provided by the Group's design and decoration
business were highly recognized by customers and the business scale continued
to expand steadily.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from hotel operations amounted to RMB758
million, representing an increase of 5.3% from RMB720 million in 2020. During
the Year, the Group’s rental income from investment properties amounted to
RMB178 million, representing an increase of 9.9% from RMB162 million in 2020,
mainly because the newly-added investment properties commenced operation
during the Year.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the Year, the Group recorded a gross profit of RMB18,168 million,
representing an increase of 16.7% from RMB15,573 million in 2020. During the
Year, the Group achieved a gross profit margin of 18.1%, representing a decrease
of 5.6 percentage points from 23.7% in 2020. In particular, the gross profit margin
of property sales was 17.5%, representing a decrease of 6 percentage points
from 23.5% in 2020, which, on one hand, was due to the change in the landscape
of the real estate industry resulting in a decrease in the gross profit margin of
the industry, and on the other hand, was due to the insufficient reflection of the
Company’s brand value premium affected by price control in recent years.

Other Income

During the Year, the Group recorded other income of RMB3,121 million, which
mainly comprised interest income, comprehensive service income, dividends
from equity instruments designated at FVTOCI, government grants etc., generally
on par with RMB3,017 million in 2020.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses include human resource costs, daily operating expenses
and other expenses, such as product research and development expenses.
During the Year, the Group incurred administrative expenses of RMB5,160
million, representing an increase of RMB837 million or 19.4% from RMB4,323
million in 2020. Human resources costs is the largest single expense among
administrative expenses. During the Year, the Group incurred human resources
costs of RMB2,761 million (2020: RMB1,976 million), representing an increase
of RMB785 million or 39.7% year-on-year, mainly due to (i) the increase in the
relevant staff number resulting from the expansion of the Group sales scale; (ii)
the amortization costs of share options and share incentives of RMB157 million
during the Year, representing an increase of RMB120 million from 2020; after
deducting the amortization costs of share options and share incentives, the ratio
of administrative expenses to sales amount for real estate development and
related business was generally on par with 2020. During the Year, the Group
incurred daily operating expenses of RMB1,687 million, generally on par with
RMB1,682 million in 2020.
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Selling Expenses

Selling expenses mainly include human resource costs, marketing activities
expenses and daily operating expenses. During the Year, the Group incurred
selling expenses of RMB2,874 million, representing an increase of RMB554
million or 23.9% from RMB2,320 million in 2020. Marketing activities expenses is
the largest single expense among selling expenses. During the Year, the Group
incurred marketing activities expenses of RMB1,426 million, representing an
increase of 32.8% from RMB1,074 million in 2020, mainly due to the Group's
increased marketing efforts as a result of the increase in sales scale and change
in external environment in the second half of the Year, with an increase in
the ratio of marketing activities expenses to sales amount by 0.1 percentage
points from 2020. During the Year, the Group incurred human resource costs of
RMB996 million (2020: RMB811 million), representing an year-on-year increase
of RMB185 million or 22.8%, mainly because allocation was required for the
sales commission included in costs of contract acquisition costs under IFRS 15
— Revenue from Contracts with Customers, resulting in a significant increase of
recognised revenue for the Year, and the allocated sales commission increased
accordingly. During the Year, the Group incurred daily operating expenses of
RMB452 million, generally on par with RMB435 million in 2020.

Finance Costs

During the Year, the Group’s interest expenses included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to
RMB2,299 million (2020: RMB2,228 million). Interest expenses of the Group for
the Year totalled RMB8,076 million, representing an increase of RMB278 million
from RMB7,798 million in 2020, mainly because the Group had more projects
under development with a higher weighted average of loan balance outstanding
during the Year. Weighted average interest cost of total borrowings was 4.6%
during the Year, which represented a decrease of 30 bps as compared to 4.9% in
2020. During the Year, the Group continued to improve its debt structure, further
lowering its financing costs. The capitalized interest for the year was RMB5,777
million, and the capitalization rate was 71.5%, which was generally on par with
71.4% in 2020.
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Share of Results of Joint Ventures and Associates

During the Year, the Group’s share of results of joint ventures was a loss of
RMB254 million and the share of results of associates was a gain of RMB1,737
million, which amounted to an aggregate gain of RMB1,483 million and
represented an increase of RMB785 million from a gain of RMB698 million in
2020, mainly due to the increase in property sales revenue. During the year, the
recognised property sales revenue of joint ventures and associates amounted
to RMB72,898 million in aggregate, representing an increase of 84.6% and the
average selling price of properties with recognised revenue was RMB26,356
per sgm, representing an increase of 22.9% from RMB21,441 per sgm in 2020,
which was mainly because among the projects with recognised revenue during
the Year, Guangzhou Park Lane, Hangzhou Qinyuan, Ningbo Phoenix Mansion,
Hangzhou Hujing Yunlu and other projects accounting for a higher proportion of
sales located in first- and second-tier cities, thus elevating the average selling
price to a certain extent.

Taxation Expenses

During the Year, taxation included land appreciation tax of RMB2,531 million
(2020: RMB3,345 million) and enterprise income tax of RMB2,337 million (2020:
RMB1,646 million). Land appreciation tax accounted for 2.5% of revenue,
representing a significant decrease compared to 5.1% in 2020, mainly due to
the decrease in the gross profit margin from property sales. During the Year, the
effective enterprise income tax rate was 28.3% (excluding the share of results of
joint ventures and associates as well as the losses of certain offshore subsidiaries
and net foreign exchange gains, etc.), higher than the statutory tax rate of 25.0%.
This was mainly attributable to the provision for withholding tax on dividend, the
losses of certain onshore subsidiaries with unrecognized deferred tax assets and
expenses non-deductible for taxation purposes.
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Provision and Reversal of Impairment Losses for Certain Assets

In view of the risks and uncertainties brought by the purchase restrictions
and tightening credit policies in the PRC's real estate market, the Group has
appointed valuers to carry out valuation on certain properties. According to the
valuation and impairment test results, the impairment loss provision of non-
financial assets of the Year was RMB412 million (2020: RMB773 million), mainly
due to the underperformance of the selling prices of certain projects, such as
Wuhan Phoenix Mansion, Zhuji Greentown Plaza, Qingdao Ideal City, Tianjin
Spring Blossom, and during the Year, the Group applied IFRS 9 and provided for
an impairment loss of RMB43 million (2020: RMB562 million) after considering the
credit risk of the receivables based on the expected credit loss impairment model

in conjunction with the objects, ageing and other factors of the receivables.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities mainly represent the amounts received from the pre-sale of
properties. As at 31 December 2021, the balance of contract liabilities of the
Group was RMB148,888 miillion, representing an increase of RMB36,089 million or
32.0% from RMB112,799 million as at 31 December 2020, while the tax pending
for written off of the Group as at 31 December 2021 was RMB13,596 million,
representing an increase of RMB3,105 million or 29.6% from RMB10,491 million as
at 31 December 2020, which was mainly due to the increase in contracted sales
of the Group during the Year.

As at 31 December 2021, the balance of contract liabilities of joint ventures and
associates was RMB131,563 million, representing an increase of RMB47,940
million or 57.3% from RMB83,623 miillion as at 31 December 2020. Such increase
was mainly due to the increase in contracted sales during the Year.
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Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash (including
pledged bank deposits) of RMB71,496 million (31 December 2020: RMB65,203
million), among which, capital for sales monitoring amounted to RMB10,951
million (31 December 2020: RMB14,128 million), total borrowings amounted to
RMB127,459 million (31 December 2020: RMB119,202 million) and net liabilities
(total borrowings less bank balances and cash) amounted to RMB55,963 million
(31 December 2020: RMB53,999 million). The net gearing ratio (net liabilities
divided by total equity) was 52.0%, representing a decrease of 11.8 percentage
points from the ratio of 63.8% as at 31 December 2020. Balance of borrowings
due within one year amounted to RMB32,053 million, accounting for 25.1% (31
December 2020: 27.3%) of the total borrowings. The closing balance of bank
deposits and cash was 2.2 times (31 December 2020: 2.0 times) the balance
of borrowings due within one year. Cash flow was sufficient, coupled with
a reasonable debt structure, providing a strong support for the subsequent
development of the Company.

Risks of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The principal place of operation of the Group is in the People’s Republic of China,
and the majority of the income and expenditure was settled in RMB. As the Group
had deposits in foreign currencies, amounts due from and to related parties and
third parties denominated in foreign currencies, as well as bank borrowings in
foreign currencies and overseas senior notes, the Group was exposed to foreign
exchange risks. No foreign exchange hedging arrangements was entered into
by the Company during the Year. A provision of net foreign exchange gain of
RMB382 million was made for RMB appreciation.

Financial Guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of certain banks' mortgage granted to
the buyers of the Group's properties. As at 31 December 2021, such guarantees
for mortgage facilities amounted to RMB47,857 million (31 December 2020:
RMB37,066 million).
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group pledged right-of-use assets, investment
properties, properties for development, properties under development,
completed properties for sale, property, plant and equipment, pledged bank
deposits and interests in an associate, with an aggregate carrying value of
RMB94,802 million (31 December 2020: RMB94,858 million) to secure general
credit facilities granted by banks and other financial institutions to the Group and
its associates and joint ventures.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had contracted, but not provided for,
expenditure commitments of RMB45,024 million (31 December 2020: RMB44,214
million) in respect of properties for development, properties under development
or construction in progress.

Capital Expenditure Plan

The Group did not hold any significant investment with a value greater than 5% of
its total assets as at 31 December 2021. In consideration of the complicated and
highly uncertain economic environment, the Group takes a prudent approach
towards the use of funds to secure the capital chain. Currently, the Group has no
material capital expenditure plan.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Construction agreements with CCCC-SHEC Fifth Engineering

On 26 January 2022, Xi‘an International Land Port National Games Village
Development Co., Ltd.* (FA & BB FEE 2@ R FHE AR A 7)), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Xi‘an International Land Port”) entered into
a construction agreement with CCCC-SHEC Fifth Engineering Co., Ltd.* (FX
“RARBEATREERZAF) ("CCCC-SHEC Fifth Engineering”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the Company, namely
China Communication Construction Group (Limited) (FREZBEREBER A
7)) pursuant to which Xi‘an International Land Port agreed to engage CCCC-
SHEC Fifth Engineering as the main contractor to carry out the residential
properties construction works of Plot 10# of Xi‘an National Games Village at
the consideration of RMB402,959,750.14. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 26 January 2022 for further details of such construction
agreement.
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On 26 January 2022, Xixian New District Huilv Jingyi Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd.* (AR TR EL S ERHEMZEAER2AR]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company (“Xixian Real Estate Development”) entered into a construction
agreement with CCCC-SHEC Fifth Engineering pursuant to which Xixian Real
Estate Development agreed to engage CCCC-SHEC Fifth Engineering as the main
contractor to carry out the construction works of a residential development
project in Xixian New District Airport New Town, Xi'an (78 22 78l & 2278 #0)
at the consideration of RMB361,135,005.19. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 26 January 2022 for further details of such construction
agreement.

Issue of credit enhanced bonds

On 20 January 2022, the Company (as issuer) entered into a subscription
agreement with a number of joint global coordinators, joint lead managers and
joint bookrunners in relation to the issue and sale of its 2.3% credit enhanced
bonds due 2025 in the aggregate principal amount of US$400,000,000 (stock
code: 04463). The bonds are supported by a standby letter of credit issued by
China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. Hangzhou Branch. Approval has been granted
from the Stock Exchange for the listing of the bonds on the Stock Exchange. The
listing and permission to deal in the bonds became effective on 28 January 2022.
For details of the issuance of such bonds, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 20 January 2022, 21 January 2022, 27 January 2022 and 28
January 2022.

Redemption of senior perpetual capital securities by Champion
Sincerity

On 8 February 2022, Champion Sincerity Holdings Limited (&I A R A &)
(“Champion Sincerity”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, redeemed
in full two series of its senior perpetual capital securities, which were listed on
the Stock Exchange, namely (i) the senior perpetual capital securities callable
2022 in the aggregate principal amount of US$400,000,000 (stock code: 05736);
and (ii) the senior perpetual capital securities callable 2022 in the aggregate
principal amount of US$100,000,000 (stock code: 05737). The withdrawal of
listing of such securities became effective on 16 February 2022. For the details
of the redemption of such securities, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 3 January 2022 and 8 February 2022.
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Issue of additional senior notes

On 17 February 2022, the Company (as issuer) and certain of its subsidiaries
(as guarantors) entered into a purchase agreement with two initial purchasers
in connection with the issue and sale of additional 4.7% senior notes due 2025
in the aggregate principal amount of US$150,000,000, which was consolidated
and formed a single series with the 4.7% senior notes due 2025 in the aggregate
principal amount of US$300,000,000 issued on October 29, 2020 (stock code:
40447). Approval has been granted from the Stock Exchange for the listing of
the notes on the Stock Exchange. The listing and permission to deal in the notes
became effective on 25 February 2022. For details of the issuance of such notes,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17 February 2022, 24
February 2022 and 25 February 2022.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 10,120 employees (31
December 2020: 8,081). The employees of the Group were remunerated on the
basis of their performance, experience and prevailing industry practices. The
Group's remuneration policies and packages were reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board on a regular basis. As an incentive for
the employees, bonuses, cash awards and share options may also be granted to
the employees based on their individual performance evaluation.

Retirement Benefit Scheme

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for
all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the specified contributions.

There is no forfeited contribution that may be used to reduce the existing level
of contributions under the Group’s MPF Scheme and state-managed retirement
benefits schemes.
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ZHANG Yadong

Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
Born in 1968

Mr ZHANG Yadong joined the Company in May 2018. He attended Liaoning
University (B2 A E), Dalian Polytechnic University (AiE T % kX&), and Xiamen
University (BP9XE); he has a doctoral degree. Mr ZHANG previously served as
assistant to general manager, deputy general manager and general manager of
Dalian Great Automobile Enterprise Group (AiE K51 % £ E), assistant director
and deputy director of Dalian High-tech Zone Management Committee, deputy
Party chief and mayor of Pulandian Municipal Committee of Liaoning Province,
and deputy Party chief of the Party working committee and deputy director of
management committee of Dalian Economic and Technological Development
Zone, Party chief and head of Dalian Urban Construction Bureau, secretary
of the leading Party member’s group and director of Dalian Construction
Committee, deputy mayor of Dalian Municipal Government, member of the
Standing Committee and head of United Front Work Department of Dalian
Municipal Committee, director and general manager of China Urban and Rural
Construction Development Company Limited (FR B2 RERE AR A R) (a
wholly owned subsidiary of CCCG). During his tenure as deputy mayor of Dalian
Municipal Government, Mr ZHANG was responsible for urban construction and
management, including overseeing Dalian Municipal Land Resources and Housing
Bureau, Urban and Rural Construction Committee, Planning Bureau, Urban
Construction Administration and other related urban construction departments.
Mr ZHANG has extensive experience in urban and rural construction and real
estate management. Mr ZHANG was appointed as an executive director and chief
executive officer of the Company on 1 August 2018 and as chairman of the board
of the Company on 11 July 2019. Mr ZHANG resigned as chief executive officer
with effect from 17 December 2020. He currently serves as chairman of the
Board and executive director of the Company. Mr ZHANG also serves as a non-
executive director of Greentown Management (09979.HK).
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GUO Jiafeng

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Born in 1965

Mr GUO Jiafeng graduated from Zhejiang School of Construction in 1981, majoring
in Industrial and Civil Architecture. Mr GUO has over 34 years' ample experience
in project development and construction. Mr GUO joined Greentown in April
2000 and served as an executive director from July 2006 to March 2015. He
also acted as executive general manager of Greentown Real Estate Group Co.,
Ltd. and was primarily responsible for the property development of projects in
Hunan Changsha, Zhejiang Hangzhou, Zhejiang Zhoushan, Jiangsu Nanjing, Anhui
Hefei, Xinjiang, etc. Mr GUO was mainly engaged in his personal businesses from
April 2015 to July 2019. Mr GUO was reappointed as an executive director of the
Company on 11 July 2019, and as chief executive officer on 17 December 2020.
Currently, Mr GUO also serves as chairman of the board of directors and non-
executive director of Greentown Management (09979.HK).

WU Wende

Executive Director
Born in 1964

Mr WU Wende graduated from the University of Science and Technology Beijing
with a doctoral degree in engineering. Mr WU has rich experience in property
operation and management. He started his career in 1984, and has served
as deputy chief engineer of Zhongnongxin Real Estate Company* (f 2{ZE
#E A7), chief engineer of Zhongtian Property Company* (R XEHE R
Al), deputy Party secretary, director and general manager of China National
Real Estate Development Group Corporation* (FFEMZERZEEBE A7) and
Chongging International Enterprise Investment Co., Ltd* (EEBEREEIEER
mBR A7), deputy general manager of the properties business department
of CCCC, member of the Provisional Party Committee, director and deputy
general manager of CCCG Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.* (AR EHEEE AR
‘A7), executive director and general manager of China Residential Properties
Development Co., Ltd. *(F{EibZEREE AR A 7)), chairman of China Real Estate
Corporation Limited* (F FHER{D AR 2 7)), deputy general manager of the
investment business department of CCCC and deputy general manager of the
Investment Management Department of CCCG and CCCC. Mr WU was appointed
as an executive director and an executive president of the Company on 22 March
2021.
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GENG Zhonggiang

Executive Director
Born in 1972

Mr GENG Zhonggiang graduated from Changsha University of Science &
Technology with a bachelor’s degree in Finance and obtained a master’s
degree in Business Management from Dalian Maritime University. Mr GENG is a
senior accountant. He joined CCCG in July 1995 and has extensive experience
in operation and management. He was chief accountant and a member of the
Party Committee of China National Real Estate Development Group Corporation
Limited from 2012 to 2015. Mr GENG served as chairman of Beijing Xinfa Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (1t {3 E #I&E B R A=) from 2012 to
2018. He also acted as general manager, deputy chairman and deputy secretary
of the Party Committee of China National Real Estate Development Group
Corporation Limited from 2015 to 2018. From September 2018 to July 2019, Mr
GENG served as president and deputy secretary of the Party Committee of CCCG
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with the
stock code of 000736.5Z (R R HE 7 B R A 1)) and director and a member of
the Party Committee of CCCG Real Estate Group (7 &2 = EZ S ). Mr GENG was
appointed as an executive director and an executive president of the Company
on 11 July 2019.

LI Jun

Executive Director
Born in 1978

Mr LI Jun graduated from Fudan University in China in July 1999 with a bachelor’s
degree in Philosophy. He obtained a master’s degree in Laws from The University
of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in September 2002. Mr LI has rich experience
in operation and management. He joined the Group in November 2008 and
served as general manager of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Dalian
Greentown Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (KiE4EH B EFIEH R A 7)),
general manager of north-eastern region and Beijing region of Greentown Real
Estate as well as deputy general manager of Greentown Real Estate. Currently,
he serves as a vice president and chief operating officer of Greentown China,
primarily responsible for the operation management of the Company. Mr LI was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 6 April 2018.
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HONG Lei

Executive Director
Born in 1972

Ms HONG Lei holds a bachelor’s degree in Law from Beihang University and a
master’s degree in Law from China University of Political Science and Law. Ms
HONG is richly experienced in legal affairs and management, starting work in
1995, and has worked in Beijing Times Law Firm* (1t 2B EAT) and the
Beijing Office of Herbert Smith. Ms HONG has also served as deputy director
of the law division of the administrative office of China National Real Estate
Development Group Corporation Limited, chief legal counsel cum director of the
general office of China House Investment Construction Company* (F B{ZE#%
&R AT, chief legal counsel of CRED Holding Co., Ltd.* (T E & £ N AR A
7)), general manager and deputy legal counsel of the legal department of China
National Real Estate Development Group Corporation Limited, deputy general
manager of China Residential Properties Development Co., Ltd., deputy director
of the board of directors’ office of CCCG, and deputy director of the board of
directors’ office of CCCG and CCCC. Ms HONG was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 22 March 2021.

Stephen Tin Hoi NG

Non-Executive Director
Born in 1952

Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG attended Ripon College in Ripon, Wisconsin, USA and
University of Bonn, Germany, graduating in 1975 with a major in Mathematics. Mr
NG holds directorships in the following Hong Kong listed companies: chairman
and managing director of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited (00004.HK) (“Wharf”,
a substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Wharf Real Estate Investment
Company Limited (01997.HK), and chairman of Harbour Centre Development
Limited (00051. HK). Mr NG joined the Wharf Group in 1981 and was appointed as
a director and chief financial officer in 1987 and managing director in 1989. He
was appointed as a deputy chairman in 1994 and chairman in 2015.
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Mr NG also holds directorships in the following former listed companies: deputy
chairman of Wheelock and Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange until
July 2020), and chairman of Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited (publicly
listed in Singapore until October 2018, now renamed as Wharf Estates Singapore
Pte. Ltd.).

Moreover, Mr NG served as a non-executive director of Hotel Properties Limited
(SGX:H15, publicly listed in Singapore) until his resignation in December 2018 and
non-executive chairman of Joyce Boutique Group Limited (until it was delisted in
Hong Kong in April 2020).

Mr NG is a council member, vice-chairman of General Committee and a member
of executive committee of the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong, as well as
a council member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. Mr NG
formerly served as a non-executive director of the Company from 15 June 2012 to
27 March 2015 and was reappointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 11 July 2019.

WU Yiwen

Non-Executive Director
Born in 1966

Mr WU Yiwen graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a bachelor’s
degree in Ship and Marine Engineering and from National University of Singapore
with a master’s degree in Business Administration. From 1993 to 2006, he served
as project manager and department manager of Singapore Keppel Offshore
and Maritime Group GFinE & BEESMNEEEE£E), and general manager of
its subsidiary. He also previously served as executive director cum general
manager of Hantong Ship Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. (F2@fsAHE TAR A7) from
2006 to 2012. From 2012 to 2017, Mr WU served as deputy general manager of
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Group Company (#%F /I3 &E 2 7). In 2017, Mr WU
founded Singapore Maiwei Marine Co., Ltd. GBS E AR A 7)), where
he currently holds the position of executive director. Mr WU was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on 26 May 2020.
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JIA Shenghua

Independent Non-Executive Director
Born in 1962

Mr JIA Shenghua is a Zhejiang University professor and serves as director of
Zhejiang University's Property Research Center. Mr JIA graduated from Northwest
Agricultural University with a doctorate degree in Agricultural Economics and
Management. Since 1989, Mr JIA has been teaching and conducting researches
in property economics, property development, and enterprise management in
China. He furthered his study in Germany from 1993 to 1994. He is currently a
member of Zhejiang Enterprises Management Research Society, Zhejiang Land
Academy and Hangzhou Land Academy. Mr JIA is also an executive council
member of Global Chinese Real Estate Congress, a member of Expert Committee
of the China Real Estate Research Association and director of Zhejiang Real Estate
Research Branch. At present, Mr JIA acts as an independent non-executive
director of Cosmos Group Co., Ltd. (002133.52), which is listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. He also acts as an independent non-executive director of
Nacity Property Service Co., Ltd. (603506.SH), which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, and an independent non-executive director of Dexin Services
Group Limited (02215.HK), which is listed on HKEX. Mr JIA was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 June 2006.

HUI Wan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Director
Born in 1976

Mr HUI Wan Fai has been the managing partner of PAG (formerly known as
Pacific Alliance Group) since 2012. Mr HUI has previously served Blackstone
Group as a managing director. Mr HUI was a managing director of Mellon HBV
Alternative Strategies LLC, a New York based hedge fund under Mellon Bank,
from 2005 to 2006, where he acted as the head of the non-performing assets
investment department for China. Mr HUI obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration from University of Hong Kong in 1998 and a master’'s
degree in International and Public Affairs from University of Hong Kong in 2002.
He also obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration from INSEAD in
2004. Mr HUI holds the qualifications of Certified Public Accountant from the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK, Chartered Financial Analyst
from CFA Institute, USA and Chartered Company Secretaries from the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr HUI was appointed as our independent
non-executive director on 1 April 2012.
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QIU Dong

Independent Non-Executive Director
Born in 1957

Mr QIU Dong received a doctoral degree in Economics from Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics in 1990. He is a PhD supervisor approved by Degree
Office of the State Council in 1993, a recipient entitled to Government Special
Allowance by the State Council and a distinguished guest professor of Changjiang
Scholars Program conferred by Ministry of Education in 2008. Mr QIU served
successively as principal of Dongbei University of Finance and Economics and
Party secretary of the Central University of Finance and Economics. He served
as a representative to the tenth session of the National People’s Congress, vice
president of Statistical Association of China, member of the eighth session of the
ICP Technical Advisory Group of the World Bank, member of Advisory Committee
of National Bureau of Statistics, vice president of the National Accounting Society
of China, vice chairman of China National Conditions Research Association, vice
president of China Association of Market Information and Research, a member
of Management Division of Science & Technology Commission of Ministry of
Education of the PRC and concurrently served at the editorial boards of Statistical
Research and Finance & Trade Economics, and as adjunct professor or PhD
supervisor at various domestic universities. Mr QIU currently serves as a chair
professor at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics, convenor of National
Disciplinary Appraisal Group for Philosophy, Social Science and Planning, and vice
officer of National Statistical Teaching Material Editing and Censoring Committee.
He had been an independent director of Agricultural Bank of China Limited, China
Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd., China Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd. and
China Everbright Group. Mr QIU was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 17 April 2020.
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ZHU Yuchen

Independent Non-Executive Director
Born in 1961

Mr ZHU Yuchen obtained a degree in Economics from Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics in 1983 and a Ph.D. in Economics from Wuhan University
in 1998. He used to study and work in Chicago Mercantile Exchange and
Chicago Board of Trade. Mr ZHU had served as deputy general of the Policy and
Regulation Department of Ministry of Commerce of the PRC* (2 A R FNE
S TR AR AIBIE ), CEO of Shanghai CIFCO Futures Brokerage Co., Ltd,
general manager of Dalian Commodity Exchange, general manager of China
Financial Futures Exchange and president of Shanghai Pudong Development
Bank. Mr ZHU Yuchen was a member of the tenth and eleventh sessions of
the National People’s Congress (NPC) and the twelfth session of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is a
founder of Asia Pacific Exchange and its chief executive officer. Mr ZHU was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 17 April
2020.

Senior Management

LI Sen, born in 1964, is currently an executive president, secretary of Party
committee and dean of Research Institute of Greentown China, and is primarily
responsible for Party affairs and strategic planning, Research Institute and Central
China Regional Company. Mr LI graduated from Huaibei Coal Industry Normal
College (B4t rAM&EEE2PT), Capital University of Economics and Business (& #B
4 K E) and Tongji University, and obtained a doctoral degree. Mr LI previously
worked for organization department of Central Committee of the CPC and
National Academy of Governance. He also served as deputy mayor, member of
the Standing Committee, head of Publicity Department and head of Organization
Department of Liaoyuan, Jilin Province, secretary of the Party Committee and
deputy chairman of United Real Estate of CCCC (F B2 A & %), deputy
secretary of the Party Committee, secretary of disciplinary inspection committee
and chairman of supervisory committee of CCCG Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.,
chairman of supervisory committee, general manager of human resources
department and head of organization department of the Party Committee of
CCCC. Mr LI joined the Group in March 2020.
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DU Ping, born in 1970, is currently a vice president of Greentown China. He is
primarily responsible for the branding, marketing, customer service of the Group
and developing new business sectors such as housing 4S, commercial operation,
elderly care service and smart community, centering on housing and living
services. Mr DU graduated from Hangzhou University with a bachelor’s degree in
Arts. Mr DU began his career in July 1990 and used to work for Hangzhou Daily
(hM B ¥34t) as a reporter, a senior reporter, a chief reporter, director of sports
department, director of the financial news center, and a member of editorial
committee. Mr DU joined the Group on 9 March 2015.

ZHANG lJiliang, born in 1963, is currently a vice president and chief planner of
Greentown China, and is mainly responsible for R&D and design management of
the Group. Mr ZHANG successively obtained a bachelor’s degree and a master’s
degree in Engineering from Tsinghua University, and a doctorate degree in
Engineering from Dalian University of Technology. Mr ZHANG is a senior engineer
and a national first-class registered architect. Mr ZHANG used to work for Dalian
Institute of Architectural Design and Research, Dalian Xinghai Bay Construction
Management Center and Dalian Urban and Rural Construction Committee.
He was director of Planning and Construction Bureau of Dalian Economic
Development Zone, director of Dalian Planning Commission and deputy
director of Municipal Planning Bureau. Mr ZHANG has extensive experience in
construction design, urban and rural planning and construction management. Mr
ZHANG joined the Group in April 2019.

GUO Xiaoming, bornin 1972, is currently a vice president of Greentown
China, and is mainly responsible for southern region of the Group and assisting
in Greentown town business. Mr GUO graduated from Zhejiang University
of Science and Technology (#)L#H%2kx), majoring in Industrial and Civil
Architecture. Mr GUO has over 20 years of experience in the real estate industry
and has extensive experience in project development, engineering construction,
and management. Mr GUO joined Greentown in August 1996, and successively
served as engineering department manager of Hangzhou Jiuxi Rose Garden,
engineering department manager, deputy general manager and general manager
of Greentown Hangzhou Peach Garden. From December 2007 to December 2015,
he was executive general manager of Greentown Real Estate, responsible for the
operation and management of projects in Hangzhou, Ningbo, Nanjing, Kunshan,
Guangzhou, Hainan, etc. From February 2017 to August 2019, he was the general
manager of Greentown Luming Construction Management Co., Ltd. (4% 4%8F52
HEBAERAR).
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XIAO Li, bornin 1974, is currently a vice president and chief engineer of
Greentown China, primarily responsible for engineering development and
management, cost and bidding & procurement of the Group. Mr XIAO graduated
from Nanjing Construction Engineering College (M2 L TR ER) with a
bachelor’'s degree, majoring in Industrial and Civil Architecture. Subsequently,
he studied at Zhejiang University, and obtained a master’'s degree, majoring in
Business Administration. Mr XIAO has over 20 years of work experience in the
real estate industry. He started working in July 1996, and successively worked for
Zhejiang Huazhe Industrial Development Company Limited GH T EME 252 E
R 2 7)) and Zhejiang Shenghua Real Estate Development Company Limited (#7171
FEEHERZEAR A F). Mr XIAO joined the Group in March 2004.

WANG zZhaohui, born in 1968, currently serves as a vice president of Greentown
China. Mr WANG graduated from Tongji University, South China University of
Technology and Tsinghua University, with a doctoral degree in Engineering. He
is a senior urban planner and a state-registered urban planner. Mr WANG has
19 years of extensive experience in property development and management
with knowledge of various types of property development processes. From 1991
to 2002, he served as head planner of China Academy of Urban Planning and
Design of the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development. Mr WANG joined
Greentown in 2002. He was a chief planning officer of Greentown Real Estate
Group, a deputy general manager of Beijing Greentown Investment Co., Ltd.*
At E & IR EBR A R) and a director of Greentown Innovation Construction
Management Co.,Ltd.* (4383 2R EE AR A R]), and was appointed as a
vice president of Greentown China on 17 January 2021.
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SHANG Shuchen, born in 1964, currently serves as Board secretary of
Greentown China (@ member of core management team), general manager of
Board office, president office and the Party & the Masses office. Mr SHANG is
primarily responsible for coordinating board and general meetings of Greentown
China, coordinating operations of president office and the Party & the Masses
office, internal audit, risk control, legal affairs, assessment, supervision, and
investor relations. He attended Liaoning Youth Administrative Cadre College (&%
SEEIEEIERR), Shenyang Agricultural University (255 £ 2 KX £) and Dongbe
University of Finance and Economics (R1LEF&EKE) with a master’s degree.
Mr SHANG served as league secretary, chairman of the labor union, secretary
of disciplinary inspection committee, deputy secretary of municipal committee,
standing deputy city mayor of Zhuanghe City, Liaoning Province, deputy
secretary of the Party working committee and deputy head of administration
commission of Dalian Recycling Industry Economic Area; deputy director of
Organization Department of Dalian Municipal Committee; a member of the Party
working committee and deputy head of administration commission of Dalian
Jinpu New Area, and Party secretary and head of administration commission of
Dalian Jinshitan National Tourist Resort. Mr SHANG has extensive experience in
organizational building, cadre and talent management as well as administrative
management, and ample qualifications in business management and board
affairs. Mr SHANG joined the Company in April 2019 and was appointed as
the general manager of the Party & the Masses Office of the Company on 11
April 2019. He was then appointed as the general manager of Board office and
president office on 16 December 2019 and as the Board secretary of Greentown
China on 20 March 2020.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company believes that high corporate governance standards help enhance
operational performance and the management’s accountability. The Board
has always strived to comply with the principles of corporate governance and
adopts effective corporate governance practices to meet legal and commercial
standards, with a focus on internal control and transparent, fair and timely
disclosure.

In the opinion of the Board, save as disclosed, the Company had complied with
the requirements of all the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

(A) The Board of Directors (for the year ended 31 December
2021)

The Board takes responsibility to the management of all major matters of
the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters,
strategies for development, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitoring the performance of the senior management. The
daily business operations and administrative functions of the Group are
delegated to the senior management.

Executive Directors

Mr ZHANG Yadong (Chairman of the Board)

Mr LIU Wensheng (Ceased to act on 21 March 2021)
Mr GUO lJiafeng

Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021)

Mr ZHOU Lianying (Ceased to act on 21 March 2021)
Mr GENG Zhonggiang

Mr LI Jun

Ms HONG Lei (Appointed on 22 March 2021)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG

(Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW as his alternate)
Mr WU Yiwen

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr JIA Shenghua

Mr HUI Wan Fai

Mr QIU Dong

Mr ZHU Yuchen
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Taizhou Tiantaishan Lotus Town

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) as the standard for securities transactions by the
Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors
and each of the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2021 or (where appropriate) during his/her tenure as a
director of the Company in 2021. Relevant employees who are likely to
be in possession of inside information of the Group are also subject to
compliance with written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The respective responsibilities of the
Directors and the Company's external auditor on the financial statements
of the Group are set out in the "Independent Auditor’'s Report” on page
131 of this annual report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at 31 December 2021, Mr ZHANG Yadong was the Chairman of
the Board and Mr GUO Jiafeng was the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. In order to reinforce their respective independence,
accountability and responsibility, the role of the Chairman is separated
from that of the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman leads the Board
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance
with the good corporate governance practices adopted by the Company.
He is also responsible for establishing future strategies and coordinating
the overall development of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on developing and implementing policies approved and delegated
by the Board. The Chief Executive Officer is also primarily responsible for
the Group's day-to-day management and operations.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and views, which carry
significant weight in the Board's decision. In particular, they provide
multi-perspective and impartial opinions on the Group’s development
strategies, operational performance and internal control systems. Every
independent non-executive Director possesses extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience. They
provide professional advice to the Board according to the Group’s
particular situation. For the year ended 31 December 2021, each of the
independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence to
the Company in accordance with requirements under the Listing Rules.

Board Meetings and Shareholders’ Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate either in person or through video/telephone conferences. 9
Board meetings and 2 shareholders’ meetings were convened during
2021. The attendance of each individual Director at these Board meetings
and the shareholders’ meetings is set out below:
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HERE HERE
EEg BRASER
SERETRE BITIRE
Number of
Number of Shareholders’
Board Meetings Meetings
Attended/ Attended/
Held in 2021 Held in 2021
BITES Executive Directors
SRIDEREAE Mr ZHANG Yadong 9/9 2/2
RS ESLE Mr LIU Wensheng 0/2 0/0
(F2021F3 A21 B EET) (Ceased to act on 21 March 2021)
SREE S AE Mr GUO Jiafeng 7/9 2/2
RNEFEE Mr WU Wende 6/6 2/2
(20215322 A EZRT) (Appointed on 22 March 2021)
AEE e Mr ZHOU Lianying 2/2 0/0
(FA202143 21 B BE(T) (Ceased to act on 21 March 2021)
BlBog 5 A& Mr GENG Zhonggiang 8/9 2/2
FE L Mr LI Jun 7/9 2/2
HE L Ms HONG Lei 5/6 2/2
(202153 A22 A EZRT) (Appointed on 22 March 2021)
FETES Non-Executive Directors
RARGLETEE) Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG (Note) 7/9 2/2
(ALBLEARERTES) (Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW as his alternate)
W)t Mr WU Yiwen 9/9 2/2
BAFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
BHEESE Mr JIA Shenghua 9/9 2/2
FFEIBE A Mr HUI Wan Fai 7/9 2/2
SR S A Mr QIU Dong 8/9 2/2
KERSEAE Mr ZHU Yuchen 9/9 2/2
MisE:  R20216E RREBEERLERBIAEEE S Note:  In 2021, Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG attended 7 Board meetings; and his alternate Mr

o BN EBREERARBAEERHFEIR

EEEEH -

Andrew On Kiu CHOW attended 1 Board meeting.
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All Directors are provided with the relevant materials relating to the issues
for discussion before the meetings. They have access to members of the
senior management and the company secretary at all times and may seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. All Directors
have the opportunity to request to include new issues for discussion in
the agenda for Board meetings. Notices of Board meetings are given to
the Directors within reasonable time before meeting and the procedures
of Board meetings are conducted in compliance with the Articles of
Association of the Company, as well as the relevant laws and regulations.

Appointment, Re-election and Resignation of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract or
appointment letter with the Company for a specific term and the details
of which, as well as the details of the appointment, re-election and
resignation of the Directors are described in the sections headed “Report
of the Directors — Directors” and “— Directors’ Service Contracts”.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each of the Directors has participated in continuous professional
development in 2021 in compliance with Code A.6.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The Company arranges regular seminars to provide
Directors with updates on the latest developments and changes in the
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company’s external lawyers facilitated Directors’ training by
providing presentations, briefings and materials for the Directors primarily
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director. All
Directors received this training.
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Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively, the “Board
committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board Committees are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Group’s financial reporting procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, give opinions on the internal audit scheme
formulated by the Internal Audit Department of the Group and review the
reports submitted by the Internal Audit Department. It is also responsible
for considering affairs related to the appointment, resignation and
replacement of independent auditors, as well as assessing such auditors’
performance, degree of independence and objectivity and reasonableness
of their audit fees, and providing relevant recommendations to the Board.
All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors. As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee comprised
independent non-executive Directors, being Mr HUI Wan Fai (Chairman),
Mr JIA Shenghua, Mr QIU Dong and Mr ZHU Yuchen.
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The major tasks accomplished during the Year include:

reviewing the annual and interim results announcements, reports
and financial statements of the Group;

- reviewing and providing recommendations on the accounting
policies adopted by the Group and the accounting practices;

- monitoring the work of the Internal Audit Department of the Group
and reviewing their internal audit reports;

- advising on material transactions of the Group and providing
recommendations on related risks to management; and

- reviewing the audit fees of the auditors and recommending the
fees to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, risk management as well as internal control systems (including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function) and processes. The Board has not deviated from
any recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held
3 meetings, in which, among other things, the Audit Committee has
considered the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and has evaluated
and recommended the appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of
the Company following the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
attendance of each individual member at the Audit Committee meetings is

*=: set out below:
HERE
BEBTRE
Number of
Meetings
Attended/Held
BIUKHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
TEREAE(EE) Mr HUI Wan Fai (Chairman) 2/3
BHELE Mr JIA Shenghua 3/3 091
R4 Mr QIU Dong 3/3
RERSEAE Mr ZHU Yuchen 3/3
BEEES Nomination Committee

RELZESIZEBEERRNAESTTHS
EERATHRESZEKRE - TARTEH
ERFERRIESSRE  RERA
K o PRA2021F12A318  IRBEZES B
BIYNITERRAEIRAE(EE) BE
oA FEBSLARIBESE - AR
TEFRDRAERINELE - REE
BEHRME LR BERESEAR
MRBE I ABITES REEEGME - LAFT
BIREAIANE - REZEBENHEBER
BMXHEEGELAK - EEMBESHE
REF P R AR B 48Uk r] &6 -

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for considering
and recommending to the Board suitably qualified persons to become
members of the Board and is also responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and as required. As
at 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee comprised independent
non-executive Directors Mr ZHU Yuchen (Chairman), Mr JIA Shenghua, Mr
HUI Wan Fai and Mr QIU Dong, and executive Directors Mr ZHANG Yadong
and Mr WU Wende. The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate
or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability
to commit time and effort to perform duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the
Board for decision. Their written terms of reference are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Nomination Committee adopted and implemented certain criteria
and procedures in the nomination of new Directors during 2021. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. In designing the
Board's composition, the Board adopts a diversity policy that takes into
consideration a variety of aspects, such as gender, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge in the industry
of the Group’s business and the past employment track record. All Board
appointments will continue to be based on merits and competence, and
the selected candidates will be considered against the aforesaid objective
criteria. In terms of gender diversity, the Board included one female
Director as at 31 December 2021, with the remaining Directors being male
individuals.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee
held 2 meetings, in which, among other things, the appointments of
Mr WU Wende and Ms HONG Lei as Directors were considered. The
attendance of each individual member at the Nomination Committee
meetings is set out below:

HERE
BRETRY
Number of
Meetings
Attended/Held

BYFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
KEREE(FE) Mr ZHU Yuchen (Chairman) 2/2
BAERE Mr JIA Shenghua 2/2
HFEBLE Mr HUI Wan Fai 1/2
Ef R 5E A Mr QIU Dong 1/2

HITES Executive Directors

REBER LA Mr ZHANG Yadong 2/2
SN EEA (FR2021F3 2B ELT) Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021) 1/1
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
and proposals on Directors’ remuneration and other benefits to the Board.

The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring
by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the level of their
remuneration and compensation is reasonable. As at 31 December 2021,
the Remuneration Committee comprised independent non-executive
Directors Mr JIA Shenghua (Chairman), Mr HUI Wan Fai, Mr QIU Dong and
Mr ZHU Yuchen, and executive Directors Mr ZHANG Yadong and Mr WU
Wende.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee
have assessed the performance of Directors and made recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and the
remuneration policies and structure of the Company, details of which

M—ANBRI—f - HHEEGREE are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis e
2021512 AN AL FEBITHE2RGH © - Human Resources” in this annual report. During the year ended 31
FMEEEENEHEERIRNEERT December 2021, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings. The
S attendance of each individual member at the Remuneration Committee
meeting is set out below:
RS,
SRETRY
Number of
Meetings
Attended/Held
BIYFBTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
BEHEERE(FE) Mr JIA Shenghua (Chairman) 2/2
FFEE A Mr HUI Wan Fai 1/2
ERER e 4 Mr QIU Dong 2/2 =
RER%SE Mr ZHU Yuchen 2/2 &
BITES Executive Directors 8
RIELAE Mr ZHANG Yadong 2/2 n
RESHE(R2021F3 22 B EE ) Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021) 2/2
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The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Company is determined in accordance with the remuneration policies
and structure of the Company. In accordance with Code Provision B.1.5
of the Corporate Governance Code, for the year ended 31 December
2021, the remuneration of senior management by band was as follows:
RMB1,000,001-RMB3,000,000: 1, RMB3,000,001-RMB6,000,000: 3, over
RMB6,000,001: 3. The remuneration of Directors for the year ended 31
December 2021 is detailed under note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company and it performed the corporate governance
duties as follows in 2021:

. developing and reviewing the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board
on changes and updates;

. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

. reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. formulating, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and the Directors;

. reviewing the Company's compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report; and

. such other corporate governance duties and functions set out in

the Corporate Governance Code (as amended from time to time)
for which the Board are responsible.
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s 2 8m M A EBEL 1T (B) Financial Reporting and Internal Controls
gy Financial Reporting
BN BBMANIHETAERRAS The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the
B EERR - RNERF SRR ENRE preparation of the financial statements of the Group. In the preparation
MR B R SR A HE R+ {38 FB D E B — B Y of financial statements, International Financial Reporting Standards have
SEHHUR © been adopted and appropriate accounting policies have been consistently
used and applied.
B EEN Independent Auditor
X EEMEETE 2021 ERESZ T AR Ernst & Young has been appointed as the Company’s independent auditor
A RIRBAZERED o since 2021.
B BT AR N R IR ET R IEET The remuneration received by the independent auditor for audit and non-
RIGFTISMET ¢ audit services provided to the Company is as follows:
20214 20204F
2021 2020
BRi%EE (AR¥T ) (AEBTT)
Service Items (RMB'000) (RMB’000)
FH RIS (R EIZEET) Audit services (including interim review) 5,460 8,915
FEEFT AR (P 5E) Non-audit services (note) 1,600 850
&5 Total 7,060 9,765

M . SERAMBEERBITEFREMEZRY -

Note:  Non-audit services mainly include the issue of securities and other attestation
services.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Audit Committee is responsible for supervising the risk management
and internal control functions of the Group and reviewing their
effectiveness. Procedures have been designed to safeguard company
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for external publication, and ensure
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Directors
have conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, and reviewed
and monitored the Company’s internal management and operation
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Internal Audit Department
established by the Company has conducted random internal audit of the
Company, its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. The work carried
out by the Internal Audit Department includes ensuring that the internal
control in place and functions properly as intended. The Audit Committee
considered that the risk management and internal control systems remain
adequate and effective throughout the year ended 31 December 2021
with no material issues that ought to be brought to the Board’s attention.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of
the Company to be its goal and endeavours to maintain a stable dividend
policy to achieve such goal. According to the dividend policy formulated
by the Company, the dividend payout ratio is generally between 20% and
40%. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board would take into account the Group’s results
of operations, earnings performance, cashflows, financial condition,
future prospects, as well as statutory, regulatory and debt covenant
restrictions on the payment of dividends, and other factors that the Board
may consider relevant. The Company’s historical dividends may not be
indicative of future dividend payments. The Board will review the dividend
policy of the Company as appropriate from time to time.
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Shareholder’s Rights

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, shareholders
shall have the right to request to convene an extraordinary general
meeting ("EGM") of the Company. Two or more shareholders holding in
aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at the general meetings of the
Company may send a written request to request for an EGM. The written
requisition(s), duly signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general meetings may
follow the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

In case of any enquiries that a shareholder may have, please contact
the investor relations department at +852 2523 3138 or by email to
ir@chinagreentown.com.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there had been no change
in the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
memorandum and articles of association of the Company is published on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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Committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and
transparency, the Company undertakes to maintain close and effective
communication with shareholders and the capital markets, as well as providing
stakeholders from various sectors with open and timely disclosure of information.

The Company has established an investor relations department responsible for
maintaining active communication with shareholders, investors and stakeholders
from various sectors to keep them fully informed of the Company’s operations
and development.

In 2021, immediately after the announcement of its interim and annual results,
the Company held results briefings, where its Board members and senior
management attended and elaborated on the Company’s operating conditions,
development prospects and strategic layout plans. To coordinate with pandemic
prevention and control measures, the briefings took place via live streaming, with
feedback and advice from investors and shareholders collected and addressed
through the online platform.

The Company stresses the importance of maintaining open and constructive

communication with shareholders. Its Board members attended shareholders'
meetings in person and answered questions on site.
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Below are key investor relations events in 2021:

=P SEE

Date Event

202143 A23A 2020F BB MG

23 March 2021 2020 Annual Results Briefing
202156 A18H 21 RREFAE

18 June 2021 2021 Annual General Meeting
2021498 A25R8 2021 FhEARERME

25 August 2021 2021 Interim Results Briefing

ARRIERBRTFARE  BEREEREERRE
R BEZREERBADNFEBERELE
B REERE - BEREERE  XEKE -
B/ BGeR Mg RAZES  BKRHE
BATSRERGLFAROEE - REODETS
BTEL - BUIR - IREE R IAD R & 8835 7 8 &
BERAGHEZEESTS  UKIEEABRRER 1
BB R RHIE REERRE o

The Company actively maintains communication with shareholders and investors
through different channels to enable more investors to understand the business
development and operations of the Company as well as enhancing corporate
transparency. Communication channels include results roadshows, tele/video
conferences, seminars, project site visits, etc. to maintain active and open
dialogues with the capital markets and respond to market concerns in a timely
manner. Feedback from shareholders, investors and analysts is regularly and
systematically relayed to the Board to develop a positive communication cycle
and help the Company formulate long-term development strategies.
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In 2021, the Company s senior management and investor relations team
attended a total of 20 large-scale investment conferences organised by

22 .
EE A

investment banks and securities firms in 2021:

A& EEETE TS

Month Event Oorganiser

1H Fo T —fEmBE AR ERNE Itk

January Greater China Conference 2021 UBS

4R 202V F X B HmiE LI} SPe

April Industrial Securities Conference 2021 Industrial Securities
2021 REHFRIE TERE S
Haitong Securities Conference 2021 Haitong Securities

5H FRBEHF2NF EMRABIRMNE SESCES

May Zhongtai Securities Listed Companies Conference 2021 Zhongtai Securities
ERFHF021BR EMARIEER ERFF

100 Huatai Securities Hong Kong Stock Corporate Day 2021 Huatai Securities

67 20215 FT BTG BB S am g EiR

June 2021 Emerging Markets Debt & Equity Conference BofA
RBEENEES  PREHERYERE HOEE
CGS-CIMB 6th Annual HK/China Property & Property Management Virtual Conference  CGS-CIMB
FREH2021FERBES (5 2
Industrial Securities Strategy Conference 2021 Industrial Securities
B8,/ PREFEHECSER mWtEE
HK/China Property Corporate Day Credit Suisse
2021F e N FHIE R 1E {EHE
Asia Pacific Property Conference 2021 Citi

7R 2021 B BB EERE IR

July China/Hong Kong Property Virtual Conference 2021 UBS

9A RARBEHF202IMNERE S REEH

September TF Securities Autumn Strategy Conference 2021 TF Securities

paYWIT SSUIPIOH BUIUD UMOIUSSID
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B SEENERE TR
Month Event Oorganiser
108 2021 EME ErRiE EiR
October 2021 Asian Credit Conference BofA
HeEF202NFERKS Bl&ES
Sinolink Securities Strategy Conference 2021 Sinolink Securities
1A 2021 B EERIE 1EE
November China Investor Conference 2021 Citi
20214 B zR1E (ST
China Conference 2021 Goldman Sachs
2021 B RiIE EiR
China Conference 2021 BofA
PR EH2022F E RS e
Industrial Securities Strategy Conference 2022 Industrial Securities
128 GIBEF202F ERIED HRES
December Haitong Securities Strategy Conference 2022 Haitong Securities
RIBEIRNT LEXRE RIIHH
Changjiang Securities Shanghai Strategy Conference Changjiang Securities

AR E)E RS A (www.chinagreentown.com)
ERTEPHRFERSE  AF - REBE -
ERkZABMEAND  BRERE BATHER
NREEHFM R 2 WA R BN E
BEBA LI BARIREE BRI (EE - +852
2523 3138) sk LI ZEir@chinagreentown.com&
&) o

The Company’s website (www.chinagreentown.com) offers timely access
to its interim and annual reports, announcements, shareholders’ circulars,
press releases and monthly newsletters to ensure that shareholders, capital
markets and the public receive the latest Company information in a clear and
comprehensive manner. Interested parties can also make enquiries by contacting
the investor relations department by phone at (+852 2523 3138) or by email to
ir@chinagreentown.com.
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Report of the Directors

The Board presents its annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Consolidated
Financial Statements”) to the shareholders.

Company Incorporation

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2004 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 31 August 2005. The Shares of the Company
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 13 July 2006.

Principal Business

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out in notes 53, 22 and 21 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively. There was no significant
change in the nature of the Group's principal business during the Year.

Business Review

The principal activities of the Group are property development and related
business in China. The operating results and development prospects will be
affected by Chinese real estate regulation and control policies, financial policies
and economic development, etc. The Group will make timely response to the
changes in the external environment in order to maintain the stability and growth
of its operating results.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the Year and an indication of the likely
future development of the Group’s business (including, in each case to the extent
necessary for an understanding of the development, performance or position of
the Group’s business, key performance indicators) are provided in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report and in the
notes to the financial statements.

To the extent necessary for an understanding of the development, performance
or position of the Group’s business, a discussion of the Group’s key relationships
with its stakeholders that have a significant impact on the Group and on which
the Group’s success depends are provided in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of the Company.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The
Group endeavors to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to achieve efficient
use of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. The Group reviews
its environmental policies on a regular basis. Further details of the Group's
environmental policies and performance are provided in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of the Company.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different levels
of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licenses and registrations required for and material to its business
and operations, and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Financial Positions and Results

The financial positions of the Group as at 31 December 2021 prepared in
accordance with IFRS are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position on pages 145 to 147 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 prepared in
accordance with IFRS are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income on pages 143 to 144 of this annual report. A
financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
15 of this annual report.
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Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group in 2021 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 148 to 149 of the annual
report.

Distributable Reserves of The Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31
December 2021 were share premium of RMB11,444,931,000.

Dividends

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.46 per share for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “2021 Final Dividend”) (2020: RMB0.35)
to the ordinary shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of
members as at 28 June 2022 (Tuesday). Subject to approval of shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"), the 2021
Final Dividend is expected to be paid before 31 July 2022.

Segment Information

The reporting segments of the Group are as follows:

1 Property development
2 Hotel operations

3 Property investment
4 Project management
5 Others

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in note
4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
Year are set out in note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in note 37 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

BRERTREEHE Details of Share Offering and Placing

EPNE G B B2 BE3 (A=}

IPO Placement 1 Placement 2 Placement 3 Placement 4

iy B ETER B AT ER B FTER B ATER BRAER
Listing place Main Board of HKEx ~ Main Board of HKEx ~ Main Board of HKEx ~ Main Board of HKEx ~ Main Board of HKEx
78/ BER FH8.22ETT FR16.3587T FAR5.2087T FAR5.2087T FAR9.50 7T
Offering/Placing price HK$8.22 per share  HK$16.35 per share  HK$5.20 per share  HK$5.20 per share  HK$9.50 per share
=l 20067 R 138 2007F5H4H 20126 A 158 201248 A2H 20205268
Listing date 13 July 2006 4 May 2007 15 June 2012 2 August 2012 26 May 2020
BITRE 347,402,500 141,500,0008% 327,849,5791% 162,113,714% 323,000,0008%
Number of issued shares 347,402,500 shares 141,500,000 shares 327,849,579 shares 162,113,714 shares 323,000,000 shares

NREFRER T

MARBI BB ARER L ESRMM Rt
HAMETE  AARIREE2021F12A831H LEF
EHE T RN ARERE -

BE  HEXEOARR LHES

ARAFEEAMBERRARAFEAREEE -
HESBEE EMES -

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as required by the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2021.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed Securities of the
Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its listed securities during the Year.
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Directors

As at 31 December 2021, directors of the Company were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr ZHANG Yadong (Chairman of the Board)
Mr GUO lJiafeng

Mr WU Wende (Appointed on 22 March 2021)
Mr GENG Zhonggiang

Mr LI Jun

Ms HONG Lei (Appointed on 22 March 2021)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG (Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW as his alternate)
Mr WU Yiwen

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr JIA Shenghua

Mr HUI Wan Fai

Mr QIU Dong

Mr ZHU Yuchen

In accordance with Article 130 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
one-third of the directors for the time being or, if the number is not three or a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one third shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Mr ZHANG Yadong, Mr GUOQ liafeng,
Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG and Mr WU Yiwen will retire at the forthcoming AGM.
Each of the above retiring directors, being eligible in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company, will offer himself for re-election.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years and shall be in effect until terminated by either
party by giving not less than three months’ prior notice in writing, renewable on
expiry on mutual consent.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
entered into an appointment letter with the Company regarding his appointment
for a term of three years. Subject to the terms and conditions of the appointment
letter, the appointment is renewable on expiry on mutual consent. Their
respective appointments as a non-executive director or an independent non-
executive director shall also be subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meetings of the Company and each of them shall be eligible for re-
election in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Save as disclosed, no director proposed for re-election at the AGM has entered
into any service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set
out on pages 73 to 83 of this annual report.

Remuneration of Directors

The remuneration of the Directors is disclosed on an individual named basis in
note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Highest Paid Individuals

During the Year, the relevant information of the five individuals with the highest
remuneration of the Group is disclosed in note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board has obtained written confirmations from all independent non-
executive Directors concerning their independence in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board is in the opinion that the existing independent
non-executive Directors are independent based on the guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests in Securities

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of Directors and
chief executive of the Company and their associates in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations,
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

AEE R 1Y

BARR A2 A

(ERTESEZ BFERENRD 28T

E=pgg BRENHBRD) RikfEz ZEGEEER RAEEARR A2 BRAEAB DL
Personal Interests

in Underlying Total
Shares (including Number of

Share Options Shares and % of

or Award Interest of Underlying Issued Share

Shares Granted Controlled Shares Capital of the

Name of Director to Directors) Family Interests Corporation Interested Company

RIBREE 13,502,387 (FizE1) = - 13,502,387 0.540%
Mr ZHANG Yadong (note 1)

FPEEEK 4 4,153,140(Fff7E2) - - 4,153,140 0.166%
Mr GUO Jiafeng (note 2)

BB A 2,620,900( Hi5E3) - = 2,620,900 0.105%
Mr GENG Zhonggiang (note 3)

FEHEE 6,538,353 (Ffiz+4) = - 6,538,353 0.261%
Mr LI Jun (note 4)

AL E 250,000( #t3£5) - - 250,000 0.010%
Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW (note 5)
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Notes:

It includes (i) 7,600,000 share options granted on 28 August 2018 pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme and only exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on
the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial
exercise price of HK$8.326 per share from 28 August 2019 to 27 August 2028; (ii) 5,000,000
share options granted on 29 December 2020 pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and only
exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial exercise price of HK$11.152 per
share from 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030. The aforesaid represents an aggregate of
12,600,000 share options; and (i) 902,387 Shares held as beneficial owner. Mr ZHANG is also
interested (long position) in 2,000,000 award shares of Greentown Management (a subsidiary
and thus an associated corporation of the Company) granted to him under its share award
scheme, representing 0.10% of the issued shares of Greentown Management.

It includes (i) 4,000,000 share options granted on 29 December 2020 pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme and only exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on
the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial
exercise price of HK$11.152 per share from 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030; and (ii)
153,140 Shares held as beneficial owner. Mr GUO is also interested (long position) in 2,000,000
award shares of Greentown Management (a subsidiary and thus an associated corporation of
the Company) granted to him under its share award scheme, representing 0.10% of the issued
shares of Greentown Management.

It includes (i) 2,500,000 share options granted on 29 December 2020 pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme and only exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on
the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial
exercise price of HK$11.152 per share from 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030; and (ii)
120,900 Shares held as beneficial owner.

It includes (i) 1,900,000 share options granted on 27 December 2017 pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme and only exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on
the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial
exercise price of HK$9.10 per share from 27 December 2018 to 26 December 2027; (ii) 1,300,000
share options granted on 28 August 2018 pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and only
exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial exercise price of HK$8.326
per share from 28 August 2019 to 27 August 2028; (iii) 3,000,000 share options granted on 29
December 2020 pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and only exercisable based on the latest
closing price per share stated on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange which is at
least 30% higher than the initial exercise price of HK$11.152 per share from 29 December 2021
to 28 December 2030. The aforesaid represents an aggregate of 6,200,000 share options; and (iv)
338,353 Shares held as beneficial owner.

Shares held as beneficial owner.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in any
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or required to notify the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at 31 December 2021, the following
shareholders, other than those disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests in Securities”, had notified the Company of relevant
interests in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company:

R4
HHER R 47 1Y
EREKE EARD R B BT
TEREHEBRB(HE) (eE2) HERZNSH BRAB DL
Interest or
Short Position % of
in the Shares Issued Share
or Underlying  Capacity in which Capital of the
Name of Substantial Shareholder (note 1) Shares (note 2) Interests are Held Company
PR KB (F7E3) 708578793 ()  RIEEEEMES 28.338%
CCCG (note 3) Interest of controlled corporations
CCCG Holding (HK) Limited (Fif5£3) 602,584,293 () ERBEBEA 24.099%
CCCG Holding (HK) Limited (note 3) Beneficial owner
HSBC Trustee (C.I.) Limited (Ffi zF4) 557,554,793 ()  XEEEE#ER 22.298%
HSBC Trustee (C.1.) Limited (note 4) Interest of controlled corporations
gEEARAR(EEE])(PHT4) 557,554,793 ()  XEEE#ER 22.298%
Wheelock and Company Limited (“Wheelock”) Interest of controlled corporations
(note 4)
NEEEEBRAR(NER D) (M) 557,554,793 ()  SEEEER 22.298%

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited (“Wharf") (note 4)

Interest of controlled corporations
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TERRHE BB (BiaE2) BEEZNE R BRAB DL
Interest or
Short Position % of
in the Shares Issued Share
or Underlying  Capacity in which Capital of the
Name of Substantial Shareholder (note 1) Shares (note 2) Interests are Held Company
EiE A (HT3E5) 226476500 ()  RILEER#ER 9.057%
Mr HUANG Wei (note 5) Interest of controlled corporations
F5¢ 2t (Ff3E5) 226,476,500 (1) EefBEOMES 9.057%
Ms LI Ping (note 5) Interest of spouse
LENRE BRGH AR AR (B EES) 226,476,500 ()  SEUEERED 9.057%
Zhejiang Xinhu Group Co., Ltd. (note 5) Interest of controlled corporations
Hre B AR A R 2 B (P EES) 226476500 ()  SESEERER 9.057%
Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd. (note 5) Interest of controlled corporations
BREBRE AR AR (HIFS) 226476500 ()  EZEEA 9.057%
Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited (note 5) Beneficial owner
REFEAE 8,150,000 ()(Mizt6)  MBRERR MBI ME AR (B AR AE) £719.008%
Mr SONG Weiping (note 6) Personal interests in underlying Shares 9.008% in total
(share options)
216,530,924 (V(FEE7)  RPEERER
(note 7) Interest of controlled corporations
560,000 (L) (Ki5E7 EnEEA
(note 7) Beneficial owner
B R L (fizEs) 225,240,924 (L) F B e 9.008%
Ms XIA Yibo (note 8) Interest of spouse
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AN EB A B2021F12A318 - FREESE
#BCCCG Real Estate Holding Limited + CCCG Holding
(HK) Limited CCCG (HK) Holding Limited (35 2 5
BE2EHEA) WA HK708,578,7930% A% 7 A A #E
25 ° CCCG Real Estate Holding Limited# 7 100,000,000
f%p&(n + CCCG Holding (HK) Limited#% 4 602,584,293
R&RE(n + CCCG (HK) Holding Limited#% 45,994, 5000% A%

T/\ °

HSBCTrustece R 8 2 Z BN ERAHE AR
557,554,793 Ik fn R HE B 25 o AR BE M R AR (D
HEEETE - B EEHSBC Trustee ~ LR N5
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BEEE RS EAIEXVE - KI T 4% E(BDelta
House Limitedfy M — 25 ) 318 B DeltaFriF A0
116,530,924 R EE - BESHESEHR
AR((BEAREESE DA —RARDFRERIIL
BERRERARMENESKIE ZESHIBERR
BEAEGIE12EMNBISIE0 8K ER R MBI A
MENEERE HRRIFEEABTEAEESS
W—MKE - RIBEFHFRPEERGIEXVE - REF5%
SRR AR BB EE S 2R A 100,000,0004% A%
DRER(RERDFREVFEREAZERNG)
BN REFREEAR RIS ARE K560,0008 A%
3 o

Notes:

The list of substantial shareholders of the Company and their respective interests in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company set out in the table are based on the information
available to the Company after making reasonable enquiry.

The letter “L" denotes a long position.

As informed by CCCG, as of 31 December 2021, CCCG is deemed to be interested in
708,578,793 Shares through CCCG Real Estate Holding Limited, CCCG Holding (HK) Limited and
CCCG (HK) Holding Limited, each of which is wholly-owned by CCCG. CCCG Real Estate Holding
Limited holds 100,000,000 Shares, CCCG Holding (HK) Limited holds 602,584,293 Shares and
CCCG (HK) Holding Limited holds 5,994,500 Shares.

HSBC Trustee and Wheelock are deemed to be interested in 557,554,793 Shares through Wharf.
For the avoidance of doubt and double counting, it should be noted that the shareholdings
stated against HSBC Trustee, Wheelock and Wharf represented the same block of Share.

As informed by Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited, as of 31 December 2021, its
shareholding in the Company was 226,476,500 Shares and Mr HUANG Wei, Zhejiang Xinhu
Group Co., Ltd. and Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited. Ms LI Ping is the spouse of Mr HUANG Wei.
Accordingly, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Ms LI Ping is deemed to be interested in Mr
HUANG Wei's interests in the Company. For the avoidance of doubt and double counting, it
should be noted that the shareholdings stated against Mr HUANG Wei, Ms LI Ping, Zhejiang
Xinhu Group Co., Ltd, Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd. and Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited
represented the same block of Shares.

Share options granted on 27 December 2017 pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and only
exercisable based on the latest closing price per share stated on the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange which is at least 30% higher than the initial exercise price of HK$9.10 per
share from 27 December 2018 to 26 December 2027.

Mr SONG Weiping, being the sole shareholder of Delta House Limited, is deemed to be
interested in 116,530,924 Shares held by Delta pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. Hong Kong
Orange Osmanthus Foundation Limited (“HKOO Foundation”) is a company limited by guarantee
and established by Mr SONG Weiping as a charitable institution of a public character exempted
from tax under Section 88 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance, Chapter 112 of the Laws of Hong
Kong. As Mr SONG Weiping is the sole member of HKOO Foundation, pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO, Mr SONG Weiping is deemed to be interested in 100,000,000 Shares held by HKOO
Foundation notwithstanding that Mr SONG Weiping is not beneficially interested in such Shares.
In addition, Mr SONG Weiping is also the beneficial owner of 560,000 Shares.
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Name of Director

(8) Ms XIA Yibo is the spouse of Mr SONG Weiping. Accordingly, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO,
Ms XIA Yibo is deemed to be interested in: (i) 116,530,924 Shares held by Delta, a company
of which Mr SONG Weiping is the sole shareholder; (ii) 100,000,000 Shares held by HKOO
Foundation, a charitable institution established by Mr SONG Weiping of which Mr SONG
Weiping is the sole member (notwithstanding that neither Mr SONG Weiping nor Ms XIA Yibo is
beneficially interested in those Shares); (iii) 8,150,000 share options of the Company held by Mr
SONG Weiping; and (iv) 560,000 Shares beneficially owned by Mr SONG Weiping. The aforesaid
represents an aggregate of 225,240,924 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company has not been
notified of any other interests or short positions notifiable to the Company held
by any other person in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company required
to be recorded under section 336 of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2021, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors was a
director or employee of a company which had an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

REGFHEEATREER
HHXBNATERE Rz R R

Name of Company which Had
Such Discloseable Interest or

Short Position in the Shares Position within Such Company

RRBEE
Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG

BAREEE(BRRREAEEEES)
Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW
(Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG's alternate)

NEEKEFRAA TRREBES

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited Chairman and Managing Director
SREERAT] BlEfE

Wheelock and Company Limited Deputy Chairman
NEREEFRAT FEBIETERATES

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited

Deputy Chairman and Executive Director
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Share Option Scheme

The 2006 share option scheme has been terminated upon adoption of the
2016 share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) by ordinary resolution of
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 17 June 2016 (the “Effective Date”). The Share Option Scheme was adopted
for the primary purpose of providing incentives and/or reward to Directors
and employees of the Group and will expire on 16 June 2026 unless otherwise
cancelled or amended. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
options to eligible employees to subscribe for Shares in the Company. The eligible
participants of the Share Option Scheme shall be any director or employee of
the Group and any other person (including a consultant or adviser) who in the
sole discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the Group. The
offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of
grant, upon receipt by the Company of the payment of a consideration of HK$1
and signed acceptance of offer by the eligible participant.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, the total
number of Shares in respect of which share options may be granted is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue on the adoption
date, without prior approval from the Company's shareholders. The number
of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of which share options is granted
and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed
1% of the Shares in issue at any point of time, without prior approval from the
Company'’s shareholders. Share options granted to independent non-executive
Directors and substantial shareholders of the Company in excess of 0.1% of the
Company'’s issued share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must
be approved in advance by the Company's shareholders.

Share options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting of the share
options to the expiry of the Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise specified in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined by the Board, and will
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares.
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The total number of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
was 30,003,219, representing approximately 1.2% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.

Details of the Company's share options granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021

(N were as follow:
EERTHER EREEN  FRETEN  EREEEN ERERN  EREATEN SRTEE
BRARS BREYE BREHE BREHE EREHA EREHA BREZR RiAH AT ERRENSR (B7)
No. of
Share Options No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Outstanding ~ Share Options  Share Options ~ Share Options ~ Share Options ~ Share Options
at the Granted Exercised Cancelled lapsed  Outstanding Period during Exercise Price
Beginning during during during during at the End which Share Options per Share
Name of Grantee of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year ofthe Year  Date of Grant are Exercisable (HKS)
EZ
Directors
RoRAE 2,280,000 - - - - 2280000 2018F8A28H 198 A2BEZNBESA27H 8.326
Mr ZHANG Yadong 28 August 2018 28 August 2019to 27 August 2028
2,280,000 - - - = 2280000 2018F8A28H 00E8A2BEZNBESA27H 8.326
28 August 2018 28 August 2020 to 27 August 2028
1,520,000 - - - = 1520000 2018F8A2%H 0218 ABEZNBESA27H 8.326
28 August 2018 28 August 2021 to 27 August 2028
760,000 - - - = 760000 2018F8A2%H 2022E8A28EZNBESA27H 8.326
28 August 2018 28 August 2022 to 27 August 2028
760,000 - - - = 760000 2018F8A28H 023E8A2BEZNBESA27H 8.326
28 August 2018 28 August 2023 to 27 August 2028
1,500,000 = = = = 1500000 2020128295 M1E12A9E2N0E12A28H 11152
29December2020 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030
1,500,000 = = = = 1500000 20208128295 022E12A9H 2 N0E 127288 11152
29December2020 29 December 2022 to 28 December 2030
1,000,000 = = = = 1000000 20206128295 23E12A9H 2 N0E12728H 11152
29December2020 29 December 2023 to 28 December 2030
500,000 = = = = 500000 20206128295 UE12A9EEN0E12A28H 11152
29December2020 29 December 2024 to 28 December 2030
500,000 = = = = 500000 2020128295 5812 A9H 2 030E 127288 11152
29December2020 29 December 2025 to 28 December 2030
12,600,000 - - - - 12,600,000

120z Hoday [enuuy

=3

S,
——&_

E>



paYWIT SSUIPIOH BUIUD UMOIUSSID

(27 ] 5 S48 b 1 kY

EHEGWRE

Report of the Directors

EEARTEN FRRMN  FREARN  FASEEN FRRME  FRERTEN SRTRE
REALSR BREHE BREHR JREHE A BRRHE BREZA RLEH AfTRERERER ()
No. of
Share Options No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Outstanding ~ Share Options ~ Share Options  Share Options ~ Share Options  Share Options
at the Granted Exercised Cancelled lapsed  Outstanding Period during Exercise Price
Beginning during during during during at the End which Share Options per Share
Name of Grantee of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year of the Year  Date of Grant are Exercisable (HKS)
bl 1,200,000 = = = = 1200000 2020F12A298 021512298 220305127285 1192
Mr GUO Jiafeng 29December2020 29 December 202110 28 December 2030
1,200,000 = = = = 1200000 2020F12A298 022512298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2022 to 28 December 2030
800,000 = = = = 800000 200F12A298 02312298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2023 to 28 December 2030
400,000 = = = = 400000 200F12A298 04F12A298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2024 to 28 December 2030
400,000 = = = = 400000 200F12A298 05512298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2025 to 28 December 2030
4,000,000 - - - - 4,000,000
Bpiats 750,000 = = = = 750000 200F12A298 0215128298 220305127288 11.182
Mr GENG Zhonggiang 29December2020 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030
750,000 = = = = 750000 200F12A298 022512298 220305127285 11.182
29 December 2020 29 December 2022 to 28 December 2030
500,000 = = = = 500000 2020F12A298 02312298 220305127285 11.182
29 December 2020 29 December 2023 to 28 December 2030
250,000 = = = = 20000 200F12A298 04512298 220305127285 11.182
29 December 2020 29 December 2024 to 28 December 2030
250,000 = = = = 20000 200F12R298 05512298 220305127288 11.182
29 December 2020 29 December 2025 to 28 December 2030
2,500,000 - - - - 2,500,000
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RN FRRHN  FREARN  FREEEN FRERMG  FREATEY SRiKE
REALS BREHE BREHE BREHA BREHE JREHE FREZE RiEH AfTRERENDR (m)
No. of
Share Options No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Outstanding ~ Share Options ~ Share Options ~ Share Options  Share Options  Share Options
at the Granted Exercised Cancelled lapsed  Outstanding Period during Exercise Price
Beginning during during during during at the End which Share Options per Share
Name of Grantee of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year ofthe Year  Date of Grant are Exercisable (HKS)
Xy 570,000 = = = = 50000  2017§12R278 W18E12A2THE 0275128267 9.10
MrLl Jun 27 December 2017 27 December 2018 to 26 December 2027
570,000 = = = = 50000  2017§12R278 W19F12R2THEA27512A26H 9.10
27 December 2017 27 December 2019 to 26 December 2027
380,000 = = = = 3000 017F12R278 NNE12R2THEN27512A26H 9.10
27 December 2017 27 December 2020to 26 December 2027
190,000 = = = = 190000 2017F12A27H N21E12R2THEN27512A26H 9.10
27 December 2017 27 December 2021 to 26 December 2027
190,000 = = = = 190000 2017F12A27H N2F12R2THEN27512A26H 9.10
27 December 2017 27 December 2022 to 26 December 2027
390,000 - - - - 390000 2018F8F28H 0198 A28 ZA28F8A27H 8326
28 August 2018 28 August 2019 to 27 August 2028
390,000 - - - - 390000 2018F8F28H 0F8F28EEA8FSA27H 8326
28 August 2018 28 August 20200 27 August 2028
260,000 - - - - 20000 2018F8F28H 202158 28820288 A27H 8326
28 August 2018 28 August 20210 27 August 2028
130,000 - - - - 130000 201887287 02282882 028F8A27H 8326
28 August 2018 28 August 2022 to 27 August 2028
130,000 - - - - 130000 201887287 0238 F28B 2202858 A27H 8326
28 August 2018 28 August 2023 to 27 August 2028
900,000 = = = = 900000 2020128295 021128298 220305127288 11152
29 December 2020 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030
900,000 = = = = 900000 2020128295 022512298 220305127288 11152
29 December 2020 29 December 2022 to 28 December 2030
600,000 = = = = 600000 202012A298 02312298 220305127288 11152
29 December 2020 29 December 2023 to 28 December 2030
300,000 = = = = 300000 202012A298 202412298 220305127288 11152
29 December 2020 29 December 2024 to 28 December 2030
300,000 = = = = 300000 2020F12A298 0512298 220305127288 1152
29 December 2020 29 December 2025 to 28 December 2030
6,200,000 - - - - 6,200,000
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EEARTEN FRRMN  FREARN  FASEEN FRRME  FRERTEN SRTRE
REALSR BREHE BREHR JREHE A BRRHE BREZA RLEH A EERENAR (#7m)
No. of
Share Options No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Outstanding ~ Share Options ~ Share Options  Share Options ~ Share Options  Share Options
at the Granted Exercised Cancelled lapsed  Outstanding Period during Exercise Price
Beginning during during during during at the End which Share Options per Share
Name of Grantee of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year of the Year  Date of Grant are Exercisable (HKS)
BT
Employees
RRAMBAF - 14,294,000 = 4,187,000 = 2,297,000 7810000 2017%12R278 18F12A278 220275127265 9.10
AEREARAELEN 27 Decernber 2017 27 December 2018 to 26 December 2027
ETEMES 14,550,000 = 1,367,000 = 2,995,000 10228000 2017%12R278 19F12R278 220275127267 9.10
Certain other employees of 27December 2017 27 December 2019 to 26 December 2027
the Company's subsidiaries, 9,700,000 - 713,500 - 1,970,000 7016500 01712277 N0E12R2782027512R268 9.0
associates and joint 27December 2017 27 December 2020 to 26 December 2027
ventures 4,850,000 = = 985,000 = 3865000 2017125278 121E12R278 220275127268 9.10
27 December 2017 27 December 2021 to 26 December 2027
4,850,000 = = 985,000 = 3865000 2017128278 022F12R218 220275127267 9.10
27 December 2017 27 December 2022 to 26 December 2027
18,854,880 = = 2,937,780 = 15917100 2020F12A298 0215128298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2021 to 28 December 2030
18,854,880 = = 2,937,780 = 15917100 2020F12A298 022512298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2022 to 28 December 2030
12569920 = = 1958520 = 10611400 2020F12A298 023512298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2023 to 28 December 2030
6,284,960 = = 979,260 = 5305700 2020128298 04512298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2024 to 28 December 2030
6,284,960 = = 979,260 = 5305700 2020%12F298 05512298 220305127285 1192
29 December 2020 29 December 2025 to 28 December 2030
111,093,600 - 6,267,500 11,762,600 7,222,000 85,841,500
3t Total 136,393,600 - 6,267,500 11,762,600 7,222,000 111,141,500




EHEGWRE

Report of the Directors

HitEREN BB AR XL ARARERR T1T
BRI -

RAREE » 6,267 S00RX BRI TRE » 11,762,600
RFEARE B 58K - 7,222,0000% FE AR HE B 2R R -

BRARRBRETENEMFE - F2HAR
EHR AR B RVER S BTSRRI 39 -

FRRE(E(E

AREERA ZEAGERN LA N5 &F BT
EEEX(REIER ) SARBREAE - B
PR E EL2HRIE20174 - 20184F K 20204 Pt
RBRENERE A HESN T A M REMES?

Bt B EDat &

ARBEFRABD BBETE - RIFRFAMES
ERTEMRBLAETERERERETER
At T - XFEARBREFEAFENRNER(REE
HARGEBABRN) NMEHBB TR EITRNE
1% - RATRE B - ZFEALER D BB
THAANEETHABRD - &8I TKRE
AEETRRO LR - BRTHBKNZET
VAR K BHAMENTEZXBAEREX
HMERD - BERIERREFRESERBERE -
RRMEXABRNESHNTANER - B
Bt 8IR2019F3 21 BERA - BRI/ +F (7]
REBEEEGHRERAAL) ©

The vesting period of the above share options is from the date of grant until the
commencement of the period during which they are exercisable.

During the Year, 6,267,500 share options were exercised, 11,762,600 share
options were cancelled and 7,222,000 share options were lapsed.

For other details regarding the Share Option Scheme of the Company, please
refer to note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company in this
report.

Valuation of Options

The Company has been using the Binomial Valuation Model and the Black-
Scholes Pricing Model (collectively, the “Models”) to value the share options
granted. Details of the key parameters used in the Models and the corresponding
fair values of the options granted in 2017, 2018 and 2020 are set out in note 39 to
the Consolidated Financial Statement.

Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted a share award scheme. Unless the trustee and
the Board otherwise agree in writing and subject to the requirements under
the applicable laws and regulations, the total number of Shares held by the
trustee under the trust (including the award shares which remain unvested)
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.
As of the date of this report, there is no award share held by the trustee under
the Share Award Scheme available for grant. There is no maximum entitlement
for participant under the scheme. An awardee must confirm acceptance of
the award shares within 5 business days after the date of the grant notice. The
vesting terms and conditions shall be at the discretion of the Board and there is
no payment necessary for the application or acceptance of an award share. The
Share Award Scheme, adopted on 21 March 2019, has a term of 10 years (subject
to any early termination as may be determined by the Board).
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Details of the movement of the award shares were as follows:

FHHETEALE BEFRARBRALE
BB EIT FRTEHDN FREREN R BEEET
AZALR FEFENBERGDEE HERGEAE HEBRAEE FFEENEBRAE
No. of Award
Shares Held No. of Award
by the Trustee Shares Held
under the Share by the Trustee
Award Scheme No. of Award No. of Award under the Share
at the Beginning Shares Granted Shares Vested Award Scheme at
Name of Awardee of the Year during the Year during the Year the End of the Year
5=
Directors
REIDE LA 377,885 231,438 609,323 0
Mr ZHANG Yadong
122 SPIEIE S E 0 153,140 153,140 0
Mr GUO Jiafeng
Bl st A& 0 120,900 120,900 0
Mr GENG Zhonggiang
EESAE 116,787 104,780 221,567 0
Mr LI Jun
BT
Employees
BREZHN 3,318,606 1,921,742 5,240,348 0

Other than Directors

2021512 A318 - RARINR2019F6 A7 BIERR
8B 5T 81 T % H7,414,0008% B B %17 (201938
BRMDELEEERB : MARRR2021F11A4
17 BIERR (7 B BT 81 T 3% I 2,532,000 % 2K B A% 15
([2021 B ) - TRERAFEANEEHE -

As at 31 December 2021, all of the 7,414,000 award shares granted on 7 June
2019 (the “2019 Award Shares”) under the Share Award Scheme were vested,
and all of the 2,532,000 award shares granted on 17 November 2021 (the “2021
Award Shares”) under the Share Award Scheme were vested during the Year.

KEENR R BEUE KB B G - There was no award share cancelled or lapsed during the Year.

paYWIT SSUIPIOH BUIUD UMOIUSSID

BRAR D BEET &2 B S EMEFS - F2HA
E SRR RS ©

For the purpose of the Share Award Scheme and other details, please refer to
note 39 to the financial statements in this report.
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WEERD ZEE NG R BN AR TR
5 o a2 B R BB 0 FHME R A

o

il

>>§1|_ \

RRUE IR BREN T 81 B A B AR E AR D
1ER IR - AR R BB EREBITRA
B EENBFHGNERSERRLAERNE

HREBEERAFE R R EA R

RAFE @ SNEECRIBEE RN ZEF 81
HOBRONESHBERTESHXABARY
22,128,0007T °

RAFE  ITEANSBEBRAMBETAENE
BRHMEAE R D RENFT S AR - #ZE2021
F12A318 @ WM EEDRIBEER(D EE) T2
]2 B8 % 1 A 35,740,000 % 22 @I B+ H b
14,935,000 8% #2 B iz 10 B 4 55 & - 3,870,000 1% 52
BRI B R - BE20215F12A318 @ I EE
BRD 22 ENET &I T B AT B RN ER WA K
TR 2 E13E /) 52 E AR 11 B2 A90,9618% °

Greentown Management 2020 Share Award Scheme

On 28 October 2020, Greentown Management adopted the share award scheme
(the “Greentown Management Share Award Scheme”), pursuant to which the
ordinary shares of Greentown Management (the “Greentown Management
Shares”) to be awarded will be purchased by the trustee from the open market
out of cash contributed by Greentown Management Group and held on trust for
the selected employees until such Greentown Management Shares are vested
to the relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Greentown Management Share Award Scheme. The scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten (10) years commencing on the adoption date.

The purpose of the Greentown Management Share Award Scheme is to recognise
and reward the contribution of the executives, employees and directors of
Greentown Management Group to the growth and development of Greentown
Management Group through an award of the shares of Greentown Management.

Greentown Management did not grant any award share during the Year.

During the Year, Greentown Management incurred a total expense of
RMB22,128,000 in its consolidated statement of profit or loss in relation to shares
granted under the Greentown Management Share Award Scheme.

During the Year, the trustee did not purchase any Greentown Management
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the purpose of the Greentown Management
Share Award Scheme. As of 31 December 2021, Greentown Management has
granted an aggregate number of 35,740,000 award shares to the participants
under the Greentown Management Share Award Scheme, of which 14,935,000
award shares have been vested and 3,870,000 award shares have lapsed. As of
31 December 2021, the number of award shares held by the trustee under the
Greentown Management Share Award Scheme but not granted by Greentown
Management to any participants thereunder was 90,961.
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The following table sets out the award shares granted to the directors and
connected persons under the Greentown Management Share Award Scheme.

EERMEZNEEBERERNTES FERTE
= o Hih AR ABERIAELE(R202144A138
BRERBESBERIERTES) RBEOEER
221 F6R13HBIESMEREFMKE BTHN
500,000 4% 4 B B AR D FE L BB 1B K30 - A R4
HERETHBARNES -

R202151581A #2021512A31H
HAGBNER FRARLHRE ERNBBNRE FREMMRR HAGRNER
RO A RH&E REE RO B RO E
Number of Number of
award shares Number of award Number of award Number of award award shares
ERA outstanding as at shares granted shares vested shares lapsed outstanding as at
Grantees 1 January 2021 during the year during the year during the year 31 December 2021
BEARA*
Connected Grantees*
EilfEd 2,000,000 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
Mr GUO Jiafeng
RER 2,000,000 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
Mr ZHANG Yadong
EX 3,900,000 - 1,950,000 - 1,950,000
Mr LI Jun
=y 2,880,000 - 1,440,000 - 1,440,000
Mr LIN Sanjiu
Hi 9,260,000 - 3,380,000 500,000 5,380,000
Others
FEREARA
Non-Connected Grantees
NEEBHERLBENERFEAT 15,700,000 - 6,165,000 3,370,000 6,165,000
TEBENET2EE
32 Selected Participants who are not
connected with Greentown Management
or connected persons of Greentown
Management
A&t Total 35,740,000 - 14,935,000 3,870,000 16,935,000
i REEABRAES @ PEERLE - RORLLE - FTE & Among the connected grantees, Mr GUO Jiafeng, Mr ZHANG Yadong, Mr LI Jun, and Mr LIN

Sanjiu, are the executive directors/non-executive directors of Greentown Management. Other
grantees include Mr LIU Wensheng (retired and resigned on 13 April 2021 as a non-executive
director of Greentown Management), Mr YU Cheeric James (resigned on 13 June 2021 as the
chief financial officer of Greentown Management and his 500,000 Greentown Management
shares lapsed upon his resignation), and seven directors of certain subsidiaries of Greentown
Management.
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Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

Other than as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” of
this annual report and in note 47 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no
director nor any entity connected with a director is or was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract, which is
of significance to the business of the Group and to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its parent company and the subsidiaries of its parent company
was a party, subsisting at any time during, or at the end of, the year ended 31
December 2021.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
incurred or sustained by him/her as a director of the Company in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or
in which he/she is acquitted. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’
and senior officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior
officers of the Group.

Connected Transactions

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in note 47 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Details of some of the said related party transactions, which also
constituted connected transactions of the Company required to be disclosed
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are listed as follows. Save
for the transactions mentioned below, none of such related party transactions
constituted a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction of
the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as and where applicable and relevant.
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Provision of financial assistance to a project in Harbin

On 24 September 2019, Harbin Greentown Real Estate Co., Ltd. ((REBARIL B
¥ B[R AR]) ("Harbin Greentown Real Estate”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement (the “2019 Harbin Agreement”) with
CCCC Northeast Investment Co., Ltd. (A RILIZEFRAF) ("CCCC Northeast
Investment”) and Harbin Metro Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (Y5 F8Y& i kb
BHEFEAFR AT ("Harbin Metro RED”) in relation to the formation of a project
company (the “Harbin Project Company”) in relation to a development project in
the above-depot area of the relevant rail yards of Harbin Metro Line 3 (W ER/EHE
i = SRALFRRAEEERER 2 T8 ) (the “Harbin Project”). Details of the above were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 September 2019.

On 5 February 2021, Harbin Greentown Real Estate, CCCC Northeast Investment,
Harbin Metro RED and the Harbin Project Company entered into a supplemental
agreement to the 2019 Harbin Agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”),
pursuant to which, Harbin Greentown Real Estate, CCCC Northeast Investment
and Harbin Metro RED agreed to provide financial assistance for funding the
project. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Supplemental Agreement, the
following shareholders’ loans at an interest of 7.5% per annum will be provided
to the Harbin Project Company for acquisition of lands and development under
the Harbin Project: (a) Harbin Metro RED will commit up to RMB1,127,410,000, of
which RMB643,460,000 (“Secured Loan”) will be advanced by Harbin Greentown
Real Estate and secured with a share pledge of all of Harbin Metro RED’s equity
interest in the Project Company; (b) CCCC Northeast Investment will provide
up to RMB256,230,000; and (c) Harbin Greentown Real Estate will provide up
to RMB1,316,180,000 (the abovementioned Secured Loan of RMB643,460,000
inclusive).
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CCCG is a substantial shareholder of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, CCCG and its associates (including CCCC Northeast Investment, a
subsidiary of CCCG) are connected persons of the Company. Harbin Metro RED
is a substantial shareholder of the Harbin Project Company and is therefore a
connected person of the Company. The transactions under the Supplemental
Agreement constitute a discloseable and connected transaction of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

Details of the above were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
5 February 2021.

Redemption of perpetual capital securities by a subsidiary of the
Company

On 27 December 2019, each of Greentown Real Estate (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, on behalf of its wholly owned subsidiary, Tianjin
Greentown Northern Real Estate Company Limited (KZ4xdL 7 B AR A
7)) ("Greentown Northern Real Estate”)), CFHCC City Investment Development
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (R XZX—MEM iR & &R (KE) BR2AF]) ("CFHCC City
Investment”) and CCCC Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Investment and Development
Co., Ltd. (PRFREKREERABRAF) ("CCCC Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei”) entered
into an investment contract (each an “Investment Contract”) with Tianjin CCCC
Greentown Urban Construction and Development Company Limited (KEAH L
ST IR R AR A ) (“Tianjin CCCC Greentown”), pursuant to which
Tianjin CCCC Greentown issued and each of Greentown Real Estate (on behalf
of Greentown Northern Real Estate), CFHCC City Investment and CCCC Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei subscribed for certain perpetual capital securities (the “Perpetual
Capital Securities”).

On 2 July 2021, Tianjin CCCC Greentown served a notice of redemption on each
of the subscribers for redeeming all of the Perpetual Capital Securities at the
redemption prices of (1) in respect of CFHCC City Investment, RMB670,486,362.00;
(2) in respect of CCCC Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, RMB343,839,160.00; and (3) in
respect of Greentown Real Estate, RMB704,870,278.00, which were equal to the
principal amounts of the Perpetual Capital Securities, plus payable distributions
of (1) in respect of CFHCC City Investment RMB55,315,124.87; (2) in respect of
CCCC Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, RMB28,366,730.70; and (3) in respect of Greentown
Real Estate, RMB58,151,797.94.
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CCCG is a substantial shareholder of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, CCCG and its associates (including CFHCC City Investment and
CCCC Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, each a subsidiary of CCCG) are connected persons
of the Company. The aforesaid redemption of the Perpetual Capital Securities

constituted connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Details of the above were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
5 July 2021.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

We set out below other Directors’ interest in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

EEMH HRERER GERERNEBMEE EENHRERNERME
Nature of Interest of
Nature of Business of the Director in the
Name of Director Name of Competing Entity the Competing Entity Competing Entity
KRR BEBLEE NERSEBRAF REMHEMERSEYEERERSE IRREHES

Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG

AZEEE

(RRRBELRIEES)

Mr Andrew On Kiu CHOW

(Mr Stephen Tin Hoi NG's

alternate)

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited Development and sales of properties and
holding properties for lease
EREXMEREARAR

Wharf Real Estate Investment
Company Limited

BEEERAT

Wheelock and Company Limited

BALERRAT

Harbour Centre Development Limited

Wharf Estates Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Wharf Estates Singapore Pte. Ltd.

HBENEENERFENXEEERZ

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited Development and sales of properties and

holding properties for lease

Chairman and Managing
Director

IRREBES

Chairman and Managing
Director

BER

Deputy Chairman

Ei3

Chairman

IE

Chairman

FRERERATES

Deputy Chairman and
Executive Director
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers were less
than 30% of the Group’s total sales and the sales attributable to the Group’s
largest customer were less than 10% of the Group's total sales for the Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers were
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to
the Group's largest supplier were less than 10% of the Group's total purchases
for the Year.

At no time during the Year, Directors, associates of the Directors or shareholders
of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had any interest in any of the Group'’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders of
the Company by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to RMB11,500,000.

Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming AGM is proposed to be held on 17 June 2022 (Friday). A notice
convening the AGM will be published and despatched to the shareholders in the
manner as required by the Listing Rules in due course.
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Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the following
periods:

0]

From 14 June 2022 (Tuesday) to 17 June 2022 (Friday), both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered,
for the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
Shareholders must lodge all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates with the Company’s branch share register in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Center, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2022 (Monday); and

From 24 June 2022 (Friday) to 28 June 2022 (Tuesday), both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered, for the
purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the 2021 Final
Dividend, if approved by the Shareholders at the AGM. In order to be
eligible to the 2021 Final Dividend, Shareholders must lodge all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates with the Company’s
branch share register in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Center, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on 23 June 2022 (Thursday).

Auditor

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2021 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

§ AEEEMH By order of the Board
FE Chairman

i EIEE ZHANG Yadong

ap

RS

i 20224F3 8228 22 March 2022
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

8 S =hyE S Tel B3%: +852 2846 9888
EBHIABREEITN Fax &H: +852 2868 4432
KEth—EE27# ey.com

To the shareholders of Greentown China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Greentown China
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 143 to 381, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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BREZEE
Key audit matter

Key Audit Matters (continued)

ERFNAEERRERSEE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PR ETER S EWMEMBRA

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties over time
g BEBTRTHEARBRIEEAHESEAEENRAR
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Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over time when
the Group's performance under a sales contract does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date; otherwise, the revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the completed property.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of the Group
from sales of properties was RMB89,754,930,000, of which
RMB27,849,718,000 was recognised over time.

The Group may not change or substitute the property unit or
redirect the property unit for another use due to the contractual
restrictions with the customer and thus the property unit does
not have an alternative use to the Group.

HMA R R EHEWANIEF B2
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Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue from sales of
properties over time included:

Q) Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing,
on a sample basis, the key internal controls in relation to
property sales with a particular focus on controls over the
approval of the sales contracts, the classification of sales
contracts with or without the right to payment and the
review on the percentage of completion calculation;

2) Checking whether the sales contracts were properly
classified, on a sample basis, and whether the Group
applied appropriate revenue recognition policy;

(3) Analysing significant projects, making horizontal and
vertical comparison and analysis of gross profit, and paying
special attention to abnormal fluctuations;

133

H——&— %= Lc0z Hoday [enuuy



134

paNWIT SSUIPIOH BUIYD UMOIUSBID

(27 o B TH T4 b8l e 2Ly

W 7 B W e

Independent Auditor’s Report

A ESERCE)

BREXEE
Key audit matter

Key Audit Matters (continued)

ERPNAEERREREE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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However, whether there is an enforceable right to payment
depends on the terms of sales contract and the interpretation
of the applicable laws that apply to the contract. Such
determination requires significant judgements. The Group has
obtained legal counsel opinion regarding the enforceability of
the right to payment for such sales contracts. Management uses
judgements, based on legal counsel opinion, to classify sales
contracts into those with right to payment and those without the
right.

@  HEEENE EXEEHERERIANZFHESRES
B AR HHITRES AR - BAIERITATERF -
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] ML EIR BB AERERNEET - KBREEEM

(4) In respect of the management'’s assessment of whether
the Group has the enforceable right to payment in those

sales contracts recognised over time, we have performed
the following procedures:

° Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the management'’s procedures in identifying and
classifying sales contracts with or without the right
to payment;

o Reviewing the key terms of a sample of sales
contracts to assess the presence of the right to
payment based on the contract terms;

. Obtaining and reviewing the opinion of the Group's
legal counsel, in particular, the legal counsel’s
interpretation of the applicable laws and their
implication on the assessment of the enforceability
of the right to payment; and

. Assessing the competence, experience and
objectivity of the legal counsel engaged by the
management;
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ERPNAEERREREE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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For the revenue from sales of properties recognised over time,
the Group recognises revenue by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
at the reporting date. The progress is measured based on the
Group's inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation,
by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each property unit in the contract. The Group calculates the cost
allocation based on phases of the projects and saleable floor
areas. Significant judgements and estimations are required in
determining the completeness of the estimated total costs and
the accuracy of progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation at the reporting date.
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(5) In respect of management's assessment of the estimated
total contract costs and the accuracy of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, we
have performed the following procedures:

. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and
testing the key controls over cost budgeting for
estimated costs to completion and key controls
over monitoring of the calculation of the percentage
of completion;

. Assessing the reasonableness of the basis of
percentage of completion calculation and checking
the accuracy of the percentage of completion
calculation;

. Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
costs to completion by comparing the latest
estimated costs to completion to the budget
approved by management and examining the
supporting documents such as construction
contracts, internal correspondence and approvals;
and

. Testing the development costs incurred by tracing
the supporting documents; and

(6) Reviewing the related disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

ERPNAEERREREE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREPURRERIFENRNTERFE

Net realisable value of properties under development and completed properties held for sale
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We identified the net realisable value for properties under
development and completed properties for sale as a key audit
matter as a significant management estimate is required in
assessing the net realisable value.

Properties under development and completed properties for sale
at the end of each reporting period are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value for properties under development is
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated costs to completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sales. Net
realisable value for completed properties for sale is determined
by reference to estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

As disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, as
at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties for sale were
RMB230,489,608,000 and RMB26,760,579,000 respectively (net of
accumulated provision of RMB394,045,000 and RMB353,068,000
respectively).
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Our procedures in relation to net realisable value of properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
included:

(1) Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing the
key controls over cost budgeting for estimated costs to
completion;

2) Assessing the reasonableness of estimated selling prices
by comparing the management'’s estimated selling price
to the recent average contracted selling price in the same
project or the prevailing market price of comparable
properties with similar type, size and location;

) Assessing the reasonableness of estimated costs
necessary to make the sales by comparing with the
average historical expense rate of the Group, and
reviewing the supporting documents of the adjustments
that management made according to historical data; and

(4) Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated costs to
completion by comparing the latest estimated costs to
completion to the budget approved by management and
examining the supporting documents such as construction
contracts, internal correspondence and approvals.
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Key audit matter

ERPNAEERREREE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

UAFEIRNRENESE

Valuation of investment properties stated at fair value
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We identified the valuation of investment properties stated
at fair value as a key audit matter due to the involvement of
management’s estimation in determining the fair value.

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements,
investment properties were carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2021 at their fair
value of approximately RMB6,936,152,000.

ZMBEBUARFEIRNREMEREENEF B
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties stated at fair value included:

M

Evaluating the appropriateness of the independent
qualified professional valuer ‘s scope and assessed
whether the independent qualified professional valuer had
sufficient expertise;

Obtaining an understanding of the valuation processes
and the significant assumptions used in the valuation,
namely the reversionary yield, market unit rent, estimated
selling price, estimated cost of completion and estimated
developer profit from the management of the Group and
the valuer;

Checking the source information provided by the
management to the third party valuer to check whether
the source information was consistent with the supporting
documentation such as signed contracts,
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R EZEIE(E) Key Audit Matters (continued)

HREXSEE
Key audit matter

ERPNMEERREREE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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The fair value was based on the valuation of these properties
conducted by the independent qualified professional valuer using
property valuation techniques which adopt the income approach
by capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due provision for the reversionary income
potential of the property interests, or where appropriate, by the
market approach and by the residual approach making reference
to comparable sales transactions available in the relevant
markets. Assumptions such as the rental yield, estimation of
future rentals, the estimated completion cost and the estimated
developer’s profit would affect the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.
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Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuer’'s key
assumptions by comparing yields on a sample of properties
to external benchmark indices, comparing the market unit
rent used in the valuation on a sample of properties to
comparable the market transactions that we independently
sourced from market data and comparing estimated
selling price, estimated cost of completion and estimated
developer profit on a sample of properties to comparable
information in the relevant areas and corresponding
project types; and

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of the
valuations of investment properties in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Other Information Included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the Management Discussion and Analysis of the
Annual Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.), which we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s Statement, the Report of the Directors and
the Corporate Governance Report, which are expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Report of the Directors and
the Corporate Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
committee.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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I AL A & B IS S R A ER Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
HEE) Financial Statements (continued)
ERBRIBEEAEZENETEZTEN—HH - As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
BPABREEZBETEREEHE - WFEFEE  judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 December 2021

202145 20204
2021 2020
bz ARET T ARBT T
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
WA REVENUE 5 100,240,064 65,782,531
SHE AR Cost of sales (82,071,584) (50,209,631
EF Gross profit 18,168,480 15,572,900
H b A Other income 6 3,121,287 3,017,194
HAbas Other gains 7 488,856 1,511,822
HEMY Selling expenses (2,874,489) (2,320,095)
ITERAS Administrative expenses (5,159,996) (4,323,472)
BI75E A Finance costs 8 (2,298,568) (2,228,464)
TERMEAEEERXT Impairment losses under expected credit loss
RREEEFE model, net (42,858) (561,517)
e BB EREBETE Impairment losses on non-financial assets, net (412,371) (772,837)
HEMENTHEEZHEE Loss from changes in fair value of investment
properties (117,775) (14,639)
HENB AR FE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net 41 166,600 174,902
W BEHT B A R e A Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries, net 40 33,383
DIhEELEES Share of results of joint ventures 22 (254,006) 2,129
DEEE AR EE Share of results of associates 21 1,736,759 695,605
RR%: A1 F S PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9 12,555,302 10,753,528
TIA Taxation 12 (4,868,272) (4,990,647)
FRFHE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 7,687,030 5,762,881
AT AT Attributable to:
VNN Owners of the Company 4,469,175 3,796,477
PR AR R A Non-controlling interests 3,217,855 1,966,404
7,687,030 5,762,881
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE2021F12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

20214 20204F
2021 2020
Ff=E ARET T AREBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB‘000
Hib 2w OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEHETEERHIER Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not
1B B R A2 be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
(E518) W - periods:
FRIRAFEFT ABERNEM Fair value (loss)/gain on equity instruments
ZENEHERTENATE designated at fair value through other
(B18), W« Btk comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (397,900) 42,727
MBS AR EMEEEE Share of associates’ other comprehensive losses 21 (8,427) -
FREM2E(EE), W OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR (406,327) 42,727
a4 FAP W AR TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 7,280,703 5,805,608
AT AL RS - Attributable to:
/NS 323 Owners of the Company 4,061,369 3,829,073
JEFE IR R Non-controlling interests 3,219,334 1,976,535
7,280,703 5,805,608
AR¥T AR
RMB RMB
AT EBRIERFFEA EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
JEAE AR & A ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
BN Basic 15 1.31 1.05
i Diluted 15 1.30 1.04
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

202112 831H
31 December 2021

202145 20204
2021 2020
bz ARET T ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M - BB && Property, plant and equipment 16 10,220,738 9,076,714
WEWHE Investment properties 17 6,936,152 4,364,620
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 945,247 827,067
[EES Goodwill 19 769,241 769,241
mILEE Intangible assets 20 139,269 -
RN RIS Interests in associates 21 25,405,142 18,629,388
REEDERER Interests in joint ventures 22 12,008,844 5,740,108
FEEEAFER AR Equity instruments designated at fair value
PHEBEAERTA through other comprehensive income 23 1,608,032 2,037,318
RIERIAE B Deferred tax assets 36 4,756,509 3,764,898
JEMBEEERR Total non-current assets 62,789,174 45,209,354
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
AIHERYE Properties for development 24 26,447,915 20,257,965
BERFPYIHE Properties under development 25 230,489,608 194,209,030
BERIFEWE Completed properties for sale 26,760,579 18,341,794
FE Inventories 1,359,373 326,614
B 5 R E A EWGRIA Trade and other receivables, deposits and
HEISSENENE prepayments 26 9,968,079 11,203,290
aRIEE Contract assets 27 3,120,853 3,124,518
A RIS Contract costs 860,553 532,155
FEU B A 5K Amounts due from related parties 47(ji) 64,354,526 45,450,618
TR PTISHE Prepaid income taxes 8,229,734 4,454,437
HABTATIA Prepaid other taxes 7,951,604 5,968,882
EATEFT ABZER Financial assets at fair value through
TRIEE profit or 10ss 28 76,031
EIRRITIF K Pledged bank deposits 29 3,120,135 5,655,839
RITHEBR MRS Bank balances and cash 29 68,375,618 59,547,352
451,114,608 369,072,494
SHERFBEHEN Assets of a disposal group classified as
HESENEE held for sale 13 7,139,843 -
BB ERR Total current assets 458,254,451 369,072,494
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

202112 A31H
31 December 2021

20214 20204
2021 2020
Ff=E ARET T AREBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
H 5 Rk EAMENFRIE Trade and other payables 30 60,574,462 46,610,097
aRAE Contract liabilities 31 148,887,691 112,798,675
JE < REESE A 7B Amounts due to related parties 47(ii) 38,633,659 23,432,261
FERTFRASHR Income taxes payable 10,189,205 10,463,643
HAbFETTIR Other taxes payable 16,324,092 12,360,269
HEBE Lease liabilities 18 53,897 33,741
RITREMER Bank and other borrowings 32 21,959,524 23,628,164
BEEE Senior notes 33 62,801 62,653
REEBLIA Corporate debt instruments 34 10,027,858 8,819,580
FHE LB IR Receipts under securitisation arrangements 35 2,417 4,819
306,715,606 238,213,902
HAHAREGTEEAE Liabilities directly associated with the assets
HEAEANaE classified as held for sale 13 5,674,120 -
MEEEERE Total current liabilities 312,389,726 238,213,902
FREEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 145,864,725 130,858,592
EERERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 208,653,899 176,067,946
FEREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
IR1T R H A IE K Bank and other borrowings 32 70,059,492 63,796,233
BAEEE Senior notes 33 4,768,282 3,897,129
NAIEBLIA Corporate debt instruments 34 16,951,725 17,100,739
BH L HERIUER Receipts under securitisation arrangements 35 3,626,679 1,892,822
HERE Lease liabilities 18 416,584 103,889
BEEHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 36 5,185,287 4,687,061
SEMEAEEE Total non-current liabilities 101,008,049 91,477,873
EEFE NET ASSETS 107,645,850 84,590,073
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

202112 /831H
31 December 2021

20214 20204
2021 2020
Bf5E AR®F T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
e EQUITY
AAREBRBRELER Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company
N Share capital 37 239,777 239,264
B Reserves 34,439,628 31,983,885
34,679,405 32,223,149
KAFE S Perpetual securities 38 10,758,446 20,618,316
SN Non-controlling interests 62,207,999 31,748,608
SR TOTAL EQUITY 107,645,850 84,590,073
RO )
ZHANG Yadong GENG Zhonggiang
EF EF
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE2021F12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

RAARREL
Attributable to owners of the Company
Rftxf  REER FER
ke EERfr  ROEE  BHEE  iERE e R REME &t kAE%  RRER  EREE
Share-
based Investments Non-
Share  Treasury Share  Special  Statutory payments revaluation  Retained Perpetual  controlling Total
capital shares* premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  resever profitst Total  securities interests equity
ARETR  ARETT ARETT AREfn ARETT ARETR AREfn ARETr  ARETR  ARETn  ARETRT  ARETR
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000
f (i
ROVEIAR A1 January 2021 239,264 (19.469) 11,358,303  (1,726,594) 2,381,956 416,228 965,506 18,607,955 32,223,149 20,618,316 31,748,608 84,590,073
ERHE Profitfor the year - - - - - - - 4469175 4,469,175 - 327,855 7,687,030
FREp2ENG: Other comprehensive income
for the year:
EREERATEA  Fairvalue gan on equity instruments
Hf2ANGER designated at far valug through other
TANLTEYE - comprehensive income for the year,
Btk net of tax - - - - - - (399,379 - (399379 - 1479 (397,900)
AEBELALY Share of associates' otfier
2EhE comprehensive income - - - - - = (8,427) = (8,427) = = (8.427)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (407,806) 4469175 4,061,369 - 329334 7,280,703
Dividends recognised as distributions
j (note 14) o = - - - - - (8713011)  (873,011) - - (830m)
R FHEARERR Dividends paid to nor-controling
RRARE Interests - - - - - - - - - - A74178)  174178)
(2 Transfer - - - - 588,637 - - (9588,637) - - - -
KAZARE Redemption of perpetual Securities - - - - - - - 26863 216863  (9,819,500) - (9,602,643)
TR AN RAKAERFIE  Interest on perpetual securiies recognised
as distribution - - - - - - - (1213805 (1,213,805 1,213,805 - -
M BEHE Tt Interest on perpetual securities paid - - - - - - - - - (1,254,169) - (1,254169)
ARAEEES Recognition of share award expenses - - - - - 27,169 - - 27,169 - - 27,169
uﬁwﬁﬁx 5 Recognition of share option expenses - - - - - 129965 - - 129965 - - 129965
ki %E Exercise of share award - 40,243 27,169 - - (67,412) - - - - - -
BERG(HEE9) Shares repurchased note 39) - (2074 - - - - - - (0778 - - (07
rEERE Exercise of share options 513 - 59,459 - - (13,285) - - 46,687 - - 46,687
VEMBAT(T3E40)  Acquisition of subsidiries (note 40) - - - - - - - - - - 3063 32063
BAKBATENES  Purchase of additional interests n
Subsidiaries - - - 60,252 = = - - 60,252 - (33111 (172,8%9)
HHEMBATES  Partaldisposal of interestsin
(TEEERE) Subsidiaries without loss of control - - - 21,54 - - - - 21,54 - 1759798 1,781,339
HERBAAML Disposal of subsicliaries note 41) - - - - - - - - - - (6,299) (6,299)
FENBAR Liquidation of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - - - (14985)  (14,985)
IBATSEERFETE()  Capita contrbution from non-contraling
shareholders of subsidiaries (i - - - - - - - - - - 21,588,198 27,588,198
R0NE12831H At 31 December 2021 29,711 - 1444931 (1,644,801) 2,970,593 492,665 557,700 20,618,540 34,679405 10,758,446 62,207,999 107,645,850
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2021F12 831 A L FE

Year

ended 31 December 2021

ARAIRRELL
Attributable to owners of the Company
Rzt REEH R
A ERRD*  RiEE  HRE  EERE hﬁ%ﬁ* Bl REAE & KAEF  REER ERSE
Share-
tased  Investments Non-
Share  Treasury Share Specil  Statutory  payments  revaluaion  Retained Peretual  controling Total
capital shares*  premium*  reServe*  reServe*  reServe* reserve* profits* Tot  securiies  interests equiy
ARETn  ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETr ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETT  ARETn
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
0 (i
RONE1A1H At January 2020 209,694 (37850 8578098 (1901320 2197467 398,043 Q9T 05564 21644598 2129002 0281812 69,195,472
ERE Profitfor the year - - - - - - - 3T 37947 - 196400 5762881
EmEH2ENE - Other comprehensive income for the year,
ERETRATESA  Falrvalue gan on equity instruments

E2ENRNES designated at fair value through other

TANATAYE - comprehensive income for the year,

Bitk net of tax - - - - - B 325% N 325% - 10,131 [vhyil
FREENGLE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - NN 3947 3809013 - 197653 5805608
BT ,U\MTEM‘; Dividends recognised s distributions (note 14) - - - - - - - e (118176) - - (a8176)
TR IEARRRERATE Diidends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 3078 QAL
i Transfer - - - - 184,489 - - (184489) - - - -
HrioEH 155U of perpetual securities - - - - - - - - - 28T - 9187
KA Redemption of perpetual securities - - - - - - - - - (3146089 - (3146089
BT Shares issued 29,58 - TR - - - - - 280180 - - 280180
IAERBOER Transfer on redemption of perpetual securities - - - - - - - (WI0se (105 141,05 - -
TR A Recognition of share-based incentive - - - - - 17364 - - 17364 - - 17,364
BEALEREENRATA  Recogniion of equity-settled share-based

payments - - - - - 19734 B N 19734 - - 19734
TR 2B Exercise of share award - 18,383 - - - (18.383) - - - - - -
i EXercise of share options 2 - 2413 - - (530) - - 1965 - - 1965
BIEDREAAEATIE  Interest on perpetual securities recognised

as distribution - - - - - B - (132949 (132949 132949 - -
XAEEHEZM Interest on perpetual Securties paid - - - - - - - - - (14088 - (1408
WENBLR Acquisiton of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - W8 M5B
BANBAREIES Purchase of additional nterests in subsidiaries - - - (86,660) - - - - (86,660) - (1535400 (240200
HoBEMBRAES  Partialdisposal of interests in Subsidiaries

(8% LinslE) without loss of control - - - 21393 - - - - 21,393 - 9910 1191103
HEHBAA Disposal of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - - - (6708 (65,708)
}aﬁﬁw EDE Liquidation of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (59417) (59417) - 74472 (133889)

EERATEFA  Disposal of equity instruments designated

Hﬁbz@“&ﬁﬁﬁ*} atfair value through other comprenensive

BaIE income - - - - - - (12,00 12,001 - - - -
WEATEERRETA()  Capital contribution from non-controling

sharenolders of subsidiaries (i) - - - - - - - - - - 156178 11561758
RN0E12A317 At 31 December 2020 239,264 (19469 11358303 (172659  23819% 16228 965506 1807955 23149 20618316 31743608 84,590,073

(i) BRFEBEETELEIPBEXLEMNBARMBAR (i) The special reserve mainly represents changes in equity attributable to owners of the Company
Tﬂx%fﬂﬁ’émﬁ’iﬁiﬂ o 2 #B) RIR R IEIE AR AR R AE arising from partial acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries. The changes are calculated based on
EATERBESIRMEIE S Bk L EREN A the difference between the amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
J?@ZF‘&E’J%% H5H - value of the consideration paid or received for the partial acquisition or disposal.

(ii) EERBBIAIDIK  ZFENBEOIEEQRNES (ii) The statutory reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to this reserve is determined by
GREBEPEARKME([PEHDEEEEERET the board of directors of the relevant companies in accordance with the relevant laws and
Mﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ*ﬁfﬁ%iﬁﬁ A1 - AT ARAEE RETE R regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). This reserve can be used to offset
i accumulated losses and increase capital upon approval from the relevant authorities.

(iii) i 8 ’/3 AIFEPEAR AR BT & A R #3,307,087,0007T (2020 (iii) Capital contribution from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amounted to RMB3,307,087,000

& ARM345,000,000) JhE5 5 E fE T IEIEARAS R NE o

WEEFBRRERT - ZERBRPEBRGARBAR *

*#?%54,439,628,0007*1(202% + AR #31,983,885,0007T) °

(2020: RMB345,000,000) were transfer from amounts due to non-controlling shareholders.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB34,439,628,000 (2020:
RMB31,983,885,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated

HE2021F12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

tatement of Cash Flows

20214 20204
B aE AR¥T T ARETIT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
KRETHELENEESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BRI AT Profit before taxation 12,555,302 10,753,528
RIAT A Adjustments for:
MEEMR Finance costs 2,298,568 2,228,464
DEEEPEREE AT Share of profits of joint ventures and associates 9 (1,482,753) (697,734)
FLEWA Interest income (821,202) (2,403,193)
BAFEETAEMEEWED Dividend income from equity instruments at fair
ST AR BEWA value through other comprehensive income (67,305) (65,436)
HEWE  BEMREBEE K (Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property,
FAEEEN (), Fia plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 7 (8,317) 1,126
PE H %8 5E Foreign exchange gains, net 7 (381,831) (1,118,084)
e R g Depreciation and amortisation 617,408 586,833
"EYERNTELEEGE Loss from changes in fair value of investment
properties 117,775 14,639
FE S A E RO BB AR RE N AR 1) 22D Equity-settled share option and share award
FZ 8 expense, net 157,134 37,098
HENB AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (166,600) (174,902)
EKERE TR Gain on acquisition of associates and joint
AEPENE ventures at a discount 7 (96,859) (324,434)
HEASEPEKE Gain on disposal of joint ventures 7 (118) (70,430)
EREEREERE Impairment losses on financial and contract
1R 5E assets, net 42,858 561,517
e MEEREHEFRE Impairment losses on non-financial assets, net 9 412,371 772,837
I BE KB A R e Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries 40 (33,383) -
BAFEGTABRETEN Gain from changes in fair value of financial
SREENATFEZSHWE assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss 7 (1,731) -
Al R Y (32 00) R (Increase)/decrease in properties for development (1,972,171) 10,634,896
BRAPYIZEIEM Increase in properties under development (44,031,491) (55,214,198)
BB TFEYEE Increase in completed properties for sale (8,838,427) (6,322,167)
FEEAN Increase in inventories (1,029,574) (108,124)
B NEMERZRIE - FT2 Kk (Increase)/decrease in trade and other
B FIEGE ), R receivables, deposits and prepayments (2,179,982) 1,617,453
SRIBENER AL Increase in contract assets and contract costs (370,086) (546,614)
HiFE N RBLIEE N Increase in prepaid other taxes (2,201,142) (1,588,234)
SRIAEEM Increase in contract liabilities 40,251,162 36,853,048
B 5 N E A FE R IEIE h0 Increase in trade and other payables 17,707,893 4,105,086
H b fE N BLIEIE hn Increase in other taxes payable 4,298,946 3,985,613
KEEERS Cash generated from operations 14,776,445 3,518,588
B FTEH Income tax paid (8,915,352) (6,622,320)
SEBESL (TR )IR4F5  Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 5,861,093 (3,103,732
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2021F12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

20214 20204
AREET T ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
RETHEENEESHRE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BAWE - B REE - Purchase of property, plant and equipment,
B EE intangible assets (504,478) (517,232)
HEWE  BELKEMSBHIE  Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 91,970 50,517
BAREE Purchase of investment properties (660,673) (124,615)
HERE SRR Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 7,324 225,844
EA%%%’& AR E Investments in associates (5,893,415) (6,746,402)
AEEDENTE Investments in joint ventures (3,774,391) (1,302,186)
kNI I Disinvestment in associates 39,678 17,278
REEPERBIEE Disinvestment in joint ventures - 906,101
MEE AR REEDHE Dividends received from associates and
I ER AR B, joint ventures 968,335 847,759 151
BERATEFT AR Purchase of equity instruments at fair value
EHERENEZTE through other comprehensive income (71,106) (734,591)
EEERATERABEN Purchase of equity instruments at fair value
Em T A through profit and loss (109,170) -
HERAFET ABER Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at
m T BFTS5RIA fair value through profit or loss 34,870 -
HERAFEFAEMET Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at
W mtE s T APTISFRIE fair value through other comprehensive income 80,788 130,953
UWEHR A BT AE M 2 m Dividends received from equity instruments at fair
WarER T EARE value through other comprehensive income 67,305 65,436
ENRBEFERER E’JH&ZE% Consideration paid for acquisition on subsidiaries
WEBAEMRERK recognised in prior years (324,852) (96,307)
WE A BT FEERERNEEMNE  Consideration received for disposal of subsidiaries
RNE R —RKEE N TRER and an associate recognised in prior years - 60,726 >
BB ETEHHTB A A Acquisition of subsidiaries which constitute é
(FRRE M RERIER & & business (net of cash and cash equivalents z
He=EY) acquired) 40,346 (552,692) E
HENB AR (FIRE HEDN Disposal of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash §
BHeRIBESEEY) equivalents disposed of) (167,491) (545,369) &
et R a e E Acquisition of associates and joint ventures (3,980,408) (1,459,577) o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2021%12A318ILFE
Year ended 31 December 2021

20214 20204
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
HEBE T NEEDRE Proceeds from disposal of interests in
E&mﬁﬂ:ﬁf?x associates and joint ventures 97,119 164,593
ME=HE8R Advance to third parties (1,302,980) (1,502,197)
) BB /\ifmm Advance to related parties (35,852,207) (25,221,455)
M= Repayment from third parties 3,061,102
B Nl E= Repayment from related parties 16,182,327 22,011,859
HEIRERITIF FRIE N Increase in pledged bank deposits - (329,078)
EUFE Interest received 1,249,110 2,764,676
B EHFENE S RE %5 Net cash flows used in investing activities (30,720,897) (11,885,959)
METHEENRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
fEﬁ&HW&?ﬁé% Bank and other borrowings raised 59,448,800 64,438,692
RITREMERE Repayment of bank and other borrowings (53,025,693) (32,947,007)
BEHEAaE Repayments of leases liabilities (165,210) (120,680)
B FLE Interest paid (7,890,090) (7,682,193)
B=FER Advance from third parties 84,464 -
BEF=HER Repayment to third parties (159,830) (2,521,788)
BalsE A LB B Advance from borrowings from related parties 19,238,116 13,422,226
ESEtE L YN =T Repayment to borrowings from related parties (2,036,355) (12,756,794)
MR R BT BT & Contribution by non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries 24,281,111 11,561,758
ERAR AT BRI Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders of
the Company (873,011) (748,176)
;‘)EH%;HE% A% AR B RE 2R IR B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (2,174,178) (2,374,0798)
EH B AR EERIEIEE Hxﬂx% Repayment of non-controlling shareholders
él'iﬂjé capital contribution upon liquidation of
subsidiaries (14,985) (133,889)
BEITKATE %ﬁﬁ%%’x Proceeds from issue of perpetual securities - 2,491,877
BIBKAE Repayment of perpetual securities (9,602,643) (3,146,085)
BRAXABHHDIK Distribution relating to perpetual securities (1,254,169) (1,420,483)
BITRERBEMBHIA Proceeds from issue of senior notes 955,500 4,097,173
BIEELERE Repayment of senior notes - (7,520,730)
BITAREB TAMSHKIE Proceeds from issue of corporate debt
instruments 9,013,903 7,205,656
S UNGI=p =t Repayment of corporate debt instruments (7,923,567) (7,927,086)
BEITHEF L HE RN Proceeds from issue of receipts under
Eﬁﬁﬁ?%?k securitisation arrangements 1,728,865 1,990,667
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2021F12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

20214 20204
AREET T ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BHE LR Repayment of receipts under securitisation
arrangements - (1,600,000)
1T1E AR AR P15 518 Proceeds from exercise of share options 46,687 1,965
BAMB R AR EEIMER Purchase of additional interests in subsidiaries (172,859) (240,200)
Loy HEMBAREHIE Proceeds from partial disposal of subsidiaries 1,781,339 1,191,103
BT TS A Proceeds from issue of shares - 2,807,280
BIRRITIF TR Decrease in pledged bank deposits 2,535,704 -
MEEYEANRSREFE Net cash flows from financing activities 33,821,899 28,069,208
R4 RIBSEBYrFEEmnm Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,962,095 13,079,517
FUReMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of year 59,547,352 46,567,729
FERESENEAINEIZFIR G Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance
R E of cash held in foreign currencies (133,829) (99,894)
FRESNRCEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 68,375,618 59,547,352
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2.1

Corporate and Group Information

Greentown China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 31 August 2005 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (2004 Revision) and its shares
have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 13 July 2006. The
registered office of the Company is located at Maples Corporate Services
Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104 Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity of
its subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to as the “Group”) is
the development for sale of residential properties in the PRC.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include all
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs") and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
derivative financial instruments, wealth management products and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups
held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee,

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicat